DISCRETE GEOMETRY AND CONVEXITY IN HONOUR OF IMRE BÁRÁNY

DISCRETE GEOMETRY AND CONVEXITY IN HONOUR OF IMRE BÁRÁNY

Edited by Gergely Ambrus, Károly J. Böröczky and Zoltán Füredi

Alfréd Rényi Institute of Mathematics, Hungarian Academy of Sciences Budapest 2017

© G. Ambrus, K. Böröczky, and Z. Füredi 2017

ISBN 978 963 279 963 6

Published by the attendance of Typotex Electronical Publishing Ltd.

Printed in Hungary

Contents

Preface	9
A few great results of Imre Bárány	11
A few snapshots of Imre Bárány	14
INVITED ARTICLES	
The beauty and the mystery of the symmetric moment curve Alexander Barvinok	19
Monotonicity of functionals of random polytopes Mareen Beermann and Matthias Reitzner	23
Thieves dividing birthday presents and birthday cakes Pavle Blagojević and Pablo Soberón	29
Polynomials in finite geometry and combinatorics Aart Blokhuis	35
Families of vectors without antipodal pairs Péter Frankl and Andrey Kupavskii	38
On a Helly-type question for central symmetry Alexey Garber and Edgardo Roldán-Pensado	44
An old method with two new geometrical applications Péter Hajnal and Endre Szemerédi	50
Helly theorems for connected sets in the plane Andreas F. Holmsen	53
Problems for Imre Bárány's Birthday Gil Kalai	59
Geometric representations and quantum physics László Lovász	66
How small orbits of periodic homeomorphisms of spheres can be? Luis Montejano and Evgeny V. Shchepin	69

Random normal vectors are normal Hoi H. Nguyen and Van H. Vu	74
Families of curves with many touchings János Pach and Géza Tóth	82
k-monotone interpolation Attila Pór	89
Polytopes and cones in random hyperplane tessellations Rolf Schneider	91
Tensors, colors, and convex hulls Pablo Soberón	97
On the number of non-intersecting hexagons in 3-space József Solymosi and Ching Wong	102
A vector-sum theorem and the Fermat–Torricelli problem in norm planes Konrad J. Swanepoel	ied 106
Holes in planar point sets Pavel Valtr	111
F-convexity: A short survey Liping Yuan and Tudor Zamfirescu	114
Contributed articles	
Algebraic vertices of non-convex polyhedra Arseniy Akopyan	123
Longest convex chains and subadditive ergodicity Gergely Ambrus	125
Random polytopes and the affine surface area Károly J. Böröczky	127
Random approximations of convex bodies by ball-polytopes Ferenc Fodor	133
Globalizing groups Augustin Fruchard	135

A note on a picture-hanging puzzle Radoslav Fulek	137
Coin-weighting and different directions of lines Zoltán Füredi	138
Proof of László Fejes Tóth's zone conjecture Zilin Jiang and Alexandr Polyanskii	142
Dense regular horoball packings in higher dimensional hyperbolic spaces Robert Thijs Kozma	e 143
Approximation of convex bodies by polytopes in the geometric dis- tance Márton Naszódi	- 145
On the gap between translative and lattice kissing numbers of a con-	_
vex body István Talata	148
A result in asymmetric Euclidean Ramsey theory Sergei Tsaturian	149
On the geometry of Alexandrov surfaces Costin Vîlcu	150

PREFACE

This special volume is contributed by the speakers of the Discrete Geometry and Convexity conference, held in Budapest, June 19–23, 2017. The aim of the conference is to celebrate the 70th birthday and the scientific achievements of professor Imre Bárány, a pioneering researcher of discrete and convex geometry, topological methods, and combinatorics. The extended abstracts presented here are written by prominent mathematicians whose work has special connections to that of professor Bárány. Topics that are covered include: discrete and combinatorial geometry, convex geometry and general convexity, topological and combinatorial methods.

The research papers are presented here in two sections. After this preface and a short overview of Imre Bárány's works, the main part consists of 20 short but very high level surveys and/or original results (at least an extended abstract of them) by the invited speakers. Then in the second part there are 13 short summaries of further contributed talks.

We would like to dedicate this volume to Imre, our great teacher, inspiring colleague, and warm-hearted friend.

Budapest, 11. June 2017.

Gergely Ambrus, Károly J. Böröczky and Zoltán Füredi

A FEW GREAT RESULTS OF IMRE BÁRÁNY

Imre Bárány is not only an outstanding mathematician of our age but also an inspiration and a friend for many of us. His smile constantly sends the message, 'don't worry, there is a solution'. Most of his work has geometric flavor but one of his strength is to combine ideas from various fields in mathematics like algebraic topology, number theory, game theory, theory of algorithms and combinatorics. His 160+ research papers opened up new directions in various branches related to convexity. Not only his research interest is versatile, he is an avid sportsman and traveler, having positions both at University College London and at the Rényi Institute, Budapest.

Imre's oeuvre was awarded by numerous prestigious prizes. He was an invited speaker at ICM 2002, he has been a holder of an ERC grant, recipient of the Széchenyi Prize, and he is a member of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences.

He started his carrier by providing a short and elegant proof [1] concerning the chromatic number of Kneser graphs by using Gale transform and the theory of neighborly polytopes about the same time as Lovász' solution. A little bit later Imre [3] proved the colorful version of the Charathéodory theorem. Together with Katchalski and Pach [4], they initiated the study of the quantitative versions of the Helly theorem. If one restricts attention to lattice points in the intersection of d-dimensional convex sets, Bell and Scarf showed earlier that the optimal Helly constant is 2^d , not d + 1. However, Imre and Matoušek [15] managed to verify a weighted (fractional) version of the Helly theorem for lattice points where only subfamilies of size d + 1 had to be considered. All these beautiful theorems are not only classical 'textbook' results of convexity by now but subjects of intensive current research.

Imre was one of the pioneers making algebraic topology an everyday tool in convexity and discrete geometry. The paper with Shlossmann and Szűcs [2] extended the Borsuk-Ulam theorem leading to a topological version of the Tverberg theorem. Their result and approach has been applied intensively ever since when Borsuk-Ulam type theorems can be used in combinatorics.

Concerning geometrically motivated algorithms, Imre with Füredi [7] showed that for given d and any polynomial algorithm calculating the volume of d-dimensional convex bodies there is a polytope whose volume is calculated only up to a factor essentially d^d . This result, improving on Elekes' earlier estimate, partially motivated Dyer, Frieze and Kannan to invent their famous randomized algorithm. Discrete programming is another area where Imre had fundamental contributions. Together with Howe and Scarf [11], they have proved that the so called Scarf complex is homeomorphic to the corresponding Euclidean space. Imre has even played around with game theory, as well [9], which paper was preceded by his work with Füredi [5]. A great achievements by Imre is to help to understand the family of lattice polytopes. Together with Vershik [10], he answered a long standing conjecture on the number of combinatorial types of lattice polytopes by Arnold motivated by work on singularities of complex manifolds. One of Imre's landmark results is to describe the typical lattice polygon contained in a given convex domain K. He showed [12] that among the lattice polygons with respect to rescaled integer lattice, the typical one is asymptotically close to the convex domain of maximal affine perimeter contained in K.

Speaking about approximating a d-dimensional convex body by random polytopes, it was Imre who first provided comprehensive estimates for all important aspects of approximation [8]. Solving a problem going back to Sylvester, Imre and Larman [13] showed that a random polytope in a ball is very close to the corresponding floating body. Imre even managed to answer the celebrated question of Sylvester on the probability that a certain number of points are in a convex position [14].

However, not all conjectures are true. Call a system \mathcal{C} of open disjoint planar discs a 6-neighboured circle packing if every member is tangent to at least 6 other elements of \mathcal{C} . Imre with coauthors [6] verified L. Fejes Tóth's conjecture that either \mathcal{C} is the regular hexagonal packing or $\inf_{C \in \mathcal{C}} r(C) = 0$. However the rate of convergence was very slow, so they conjectured that more was true, \mathcal{C} must have a limit point. The counterexample below was constructed by Kenneth Stephenson.



Figure 1: A 6-neighboured circle packing without a limit point

References

- [1] A short proof of Kneser's conjecture, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 25 (1978), 325–326.
- [2] (with S. B. Shlossmann and A. Szűcs) On a topological generalization of a theorem of Tverberg, J. London Math. Soc. 23 (1981), 158–164.
- [3] A generalization of Carathéodory's theorem, Discrete Math. 40 (1982), 141–152.
- [4] (with M. Katchalski and J. Pach) Quantitative Helly type theorems, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 86 (1982), 109–114.
- (with Z. Füredi) Mental poker with three or more players, Information and Control 59 (1983), 84–93.
- [6] (with Z. Füredi and J. Pach) Discrete convex functions and proof of the six circle conjecture of Fejes Toth, Canad. J. Math. 36 (1984), 569–576.
- [7] (with Z. Füredi) Computing the volume is difficult, Discrete Comput. Geom. 2 (1987), 319– 326.
- [8] Intrinsic volumes and f vectors of random polytopes, Math. Annalen 285 (1989), 671–699.
- [9] Fair distribution protocols or how the players replace fortune, Math. Op. Res. 17 (1992), 327–340.
- [10] (with A. M. Vershik) On the number of convex lattice polytopes, Geometric and Functional Analysis 2 (1992), 381–393.
- [11] (with R. Howe and H. E. Scarf) The complex of maximal lattice free simplices, Mathematical Programming, Ser. A 66 (1994), 273–281.
- [12] Affine perimeter and limit shape, J. reine und ang. Mathematik 484 (1997), 71–84.
- [13] (with D. Larman) The convex hull of the integer points in a large ball, Math. Annalen 312 (1998), 167–181.
- [14] Sylvester's question: The probability that n points are in convex position, Ann. Probab. 27 (1999), 2020–2034.
- [15] (with J. Matoušek) A fractional Helly theorem for convex lattice sets, Advances in Math. 174 (2003), 227–235.

A FEW SNAPSHOTS OF IMRE BÁRÁNY





1965 and 1988. No changes at all! Photos: KöMaL, K. Jacobs



1987, with Z. Füredi in the Institute. Photo: J. J. Seidel



2014, an evening in Oberwolfach. Photo: G. Ambrus



2014, becoming regular member of the Academy. Photo: MTA

INVITED ARTICLES

The beauty and the mystery of the symmetric moment curve

ALEXANDER BARVINOK¹ University of Michigan

1. The moment curves

The symmetric moment curve is a closed curve in \mathbb{R}^{2k} with parameterization

$$S_k(t) = (\cos t, \sin t, \cos 3t, \sin 3t, \dots, \cos(2k-1)t, \sin(2k-1)t)$$

for $0 \le t \le 2\pi$.

We view S_k as an embedding of the circle $\mathbb{S}^1 = \mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z}$ in \mathbb{R}^{2k} . The curve is called *symmetric* since

$$S_k(t+\pi) = -S_k(t),\tag{1}$$

so that a pair of antipodal points in \mathbb{S}^1 is mapped into a pair of antipodal points of \mathbb{R}^{2k} . The words moment curve relate to the trigonometric moment curve in \mathbb{R}^{2k} , the study of which goes back to Carathéodory [5],

$$T_k(t) = (\cos t, \sin t, \cos 2t, \sin 2t, \dots, \cos kt, \sin kt)$$

for $0 \le t \le 2\pi$,

which, in turn, is a closed version of the ordinary moment curve in \mathbb{R}^d ,

$$M_d(t) = \left(t, t^2, \dots, t^d\right) \quad \text{for} \quad 0 \le t \le 1.$$

The curve M_d has the remarkable property that every affine hyperplane in \mathbb{R}^d intersects the image of M_d in at most d points (an easy exercise). Such curves are called *convex*. If d = 2k is even, then T_k provides an example of a closed convex curve, while if d is odd no closed convex curve exists (a little harder exercise). It follows that the convex hull of any finite set of points on $M_d(t)$ or $T_k(t)$ is a *neighborly polytope*, that is, a polytope $P \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ such that every $\lfloor d/2 \rfloor$ vertices of P span a face of P [6]. It also follows that any k distinct points $T_k(t_1), \ldots, T_k(t_k)$ span a (k-1)-dimensional simplicial face of the convex hull of $T_k(t)$ and that the k-parameter family of those (k-1)-dimensional faces sweep the whole boundary of the convex hull, which topologically is the (2k-1)-dimensional sphere \mathbb{S}^{2k-1} .

It is not hard to see that any affine hyperplane in \mathbb{R}^{2k} intersects the image of $S_k(t)$ in at most 4k-2 points and that one cannot replace 4k-2 by a smaller number

¹E-mail address: barvinok@umich.edu

for any curve satisfying the symmetry condition (1). Curiously, the symmetric curve in \mathbb{R}^d parameterized by

$$t \longmapsto (t, t^3, \ldots, t^{2d-1}) \quad \text{for} \quad -1 \le t \le 1$$

is not optimal in that respect, since there are hyperplanes intersecting it in 2d-1 points. Hence it was suggested in [4] to use $S_k(t)$ to construct symmetric polytopes with the largest possible number of faces. Such polytopes are needed for efficient reconstruction of sparse signals, cf. [10].

2. Faces of the convex hull

The facial structure of the convex hull of $S_2(t)$ in \mathbb{R}^4 was completely described by Smilansky [12]. There are 0-dimensional faces $S_2(t)$ for $t \in \mathbb{S}^1 = \mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z}$, there are 1-dimensional faces spanned by the pairs of points $S_2(a)$ and $S_2(b)$ such that the length of the arc spanned by a and b in \mathbb{S}^1 is shorter than $2\pi/3$ and there are 3dimensional faces spanned by the triples of points $S_2(a)$, $S_2(b)$ and $S_2(c)$ such that a, b and c are the vertices of an equilateral triangle in \mathbb{S}^1 . Thus there is a 2-parameter family of 1-dimensional faces which therefore sweeps a 3-dimensional piece of the boundary of the convex hull, and there is a 1-parameter family of 2-dimensional faces which sweeps a complementary 3-dimensional piece of the boundary. Topologically, the boundary of the convex hull is the 3-dimensional sphere \mathbb{S}^3 and a moment's thought (no pun intended) convinces us that the two pieces provide the Hopf decomposition of \mathbb{S}^3 into the union of two solid tori.

But even the relatively simple case of $S_2(t)$ has its mysteries. The convex hull of $S_2(t_1), \ldots, S_2(t_N)$, where N is even and $t_1, \ldots, t_N \in \mathbb{S}^1$ are equally spaced points, is a 4-dimensional symmetric polytope with roughly $N^2/3$ edges. However, if we pick $N \equiv 0 \mod 4$ points $t_1, \ldots, t_N \in \mathbb{S}^1$ clustering around the vertices of a square, we get a 4-dimensional symmetric polytope with at least $3N^2/8$ edges, the current record (it is shown in [4] that a 4-dimensional symmetric polytope with N vertices cannot have more than $15N^2/32$ edges). It is not clear whether one can get any improvement by carefully positioning the points in the clusters around the vertices of the square. There is a vague feeling, reinforced somewhat by the iteration construction sketched below, that the optimal symmetric choice of $t_1, \ldots, t_N \in \mathbb{S}^1$ maximizing the number of edges of the convex hull should follow some "fractal pattern".

For larger k, we have only some fragmentary information regarding the facial structure of the convex hull of $S_k(t)$. First, we know that any two distinct points $S_k(a)$ and $S_k(b)$ such that the length of the arc spanned by $a, b \in \mathbb{S}^1$ is smaller than $\pi(2k-2)/(2k-1)$ span a 1-dimensional face (edge) of the convex hull of $S_k(t)$ [4] and that there are no other edges [13]. Second, we know that the convex hull of $S_k(t)$ is "at least quarter-neighborly": there is $\pi/2 < \alpha_k < \pi$ such that for any k distinct $t_1, \ldots, t_k \in \mathbb{S}^1$ that lie in an arc of length α_k , the points $S_k(t_1), \ldots, S_k(t_k)$

span a (k-1)-dimensional simplicial face of the convex hull of $S_k(t)$. Moreover, α_k converges to $\pi/2$ as k grows [1]. This k-parameter family of (k-1)-dimensional simplices sweeps a "solid" (2k-1)-dimensional part of the boundary of the convex hull (which is topologically a (2k-1)-dimensional sphere) but there are other big chunks. For example, it is easy to see that there is a 1-parameter family of (2k-2)dimensional simplicial faces, which also sweeps a solid piece of the boundary of the convex hull. In general, no other families of faces appear to be known.

3. The iterated moment curve

Let us consider the following *iterated symmetric moment curve*:

$$t \mapsto (\cos t, \sin t, \cos 3t, \sin 3t, \dots, \cos 3^m t, \sin 3^m t).$$

It is shown in [2] that if $A_m \subset \mathbb{S}^1 = \mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z}$ is the set of $2(3^m - 1)$ equally spaced points then the convex hull of the corresponding set of points on the curve is a 2-neighborly (that is, every two non-antipodal vertices span an edge) symmetric polytope P of dimension d = 2(m + 1) with $2(3^m - 1)$ vertices. In terms of the dimension d, the polytope P has roughly $3^{d/2}$ vertices (it is shown in [8] that a ddimensional symmetric 2-neighborly polytope cannot have more than 2^d vertices). The fact that P is 2-neighborly follows from the facial description of the convex hull of $S_2(t)$ and the fact that any two distinct non-antipodal points $t_1, t_2 \in A_m$ after at most m - 1 iterations of the map

$$t \mapsto 3t \mod 2\pi$$

of the circle $\mathbb{S}^1 = \mathbb{R}/2\pi\mathbb{Z}$ end up spanning an arc of length greater than 0 but less than $2\pi/3$.

Similarly, by carefully choosing points on the iterated curve

$$t \longmapsto (S_k(t), S_k(3t), \ldots, S_k(3^m t))$$

one can construct a centrally symmetric k-neighborly d-dimensional polytope with $2^{c_k d}$ vertices for some $c_k > 0$ (one can choose $c_k = 3/20k^22^k$) [2]. Also, for any k and arbitrarily large N and d, one can construct a d-dimensional symmetric polytope with N vertices and at least $(1 - \delta_k^d) \binom{N}{k+1}$ faces of dimension k, for some $0 < \delta_k < 1$ [3].

4. Moment curves and isoperimetric problems

The symmetric moment curve (up to a simple linear transformation) appears in the work of Nudel'man [9], who proved that among all convex curves of length L in

Alexander Barvinok

 \mathbb{R}^{2k} , the largest volume of the convex hull is achieved by the curve

$$t \mapsto \frac{L}{\pi\sqrt{k}} \left(\cos t, \ \sin t, \ \frac{\cos 3t}{3}, \ \frac{\sin 3t}{3}, \ \dots, \ \frac{\cos(2k-1)t}{2k-1}, \ \frac{\sin(2k-1)t}{2k-1} \right)$$

for $0 \le t \le \pi$.

This followed a result by Schoenberg [11] that the similarly scaled trigonometric moment curve T_k maximizes the volume of the convex hull in the class of all closed convex curves of a given length in \mathbb{R}^{2k} . In the odd dimensions, in the class of all convex curves of a given length, the maximizer was found by Krein and Nudel'man, see [7], in the form of a properly scaled trigonometric moment curve $T_k(t)$ appended by a linear function in the parameter t.

References

- A. Barvinok, S. J. Lee, and I. Novik, Neighborliness of the symmetric moment curve, Mathematika 59 (2013), no. 1, 223–249.
- [2] A. Barvinok, S. J. Lee, and I. Novik, Explicit constructions of centrally symmetric kneighborly polytopes and large strictly antipodal sets, Discrete Comput. Geom. 49 (2013), no. 3, 429–443.
- [3] A. Barvinok, S. J. Lee, and I. Novik, Centrally symmetric polytopes with many faces, Israel J. Math. 195 (2013), no. 1, 457–472.
- [4] A. Barvinok and I. Novik, A centrally symmetric version of the cyclic polytope, Discrete Comput. Geom. 39 (2008), no. 1–3, 76–99.
- [5] C. Carathéodory, Uber den Variabilitatsbereich det Fourierschen Konstanten von Positiven harmonischen Furktionen, Rendiconti del Circolo Matimatico di Palermo 32 (1911), 193–217.
- [6] D. Gale, Neighborly and cyclic polytopes, Convexity. Proceedings of Symposia in Pure Mathematics 7, 225–232. American Mathematics Society, Providence, RI, 1963.
- [7] M. G. Krein and A. A. Nudel'man, The Markov Moment Problem and Extremal problems. Ideas and Problems of P. L. Čebyšev and A. A. Markov and their Further Development, Translations of Mathematical Monographs, Vol. 50, American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1977.
- [8] N. Linial and I. Novik, How neighborly can a centrally symmetric polytope be?, Discrete Comput. Geom. 36 (2006), no. 2, 273–281.
- [9] A. A. Nudel'man, Isoperimetric problems for the convex hulls of polygonal lines and curves in higher-dimensional spaces (Russian), Matematicheskii Sbornik. Novaya Seriya 96 (1975), no. 138., 294–313, 344. Translated in Math. USSR Sbornik, vol. 25, no. 2, 276–294.
- [10] M. Rudelson and R. Vershynin, Geometric approach to error-correcting codes and reconstruction of signals, International Mathematics Research Notices 2005, no. 64, 4019–4041.
- [11] I. J. Schoenberg, An isoperimetric inequality for closed curves convex in evendimensional Euclidean spaces, Acta Math. 91 (1954), 143–164.
- [12] Z. Smilansky, Convex hulls of generalized moment curves, Israel J. Math. 52 (1985), 115– 128.
- [13] C. Vinzant, Edges of the Barvinok-Novik orbitope, Discrete Comput. Geom. 46 (2011), no. 3, 479–487.

Monotonicity of functionals of random polytopes

MAREEN BEERMANN¹, MATTHIAS REITZNER²

University of Osnabrück

Dedicated to Imre Bárány on the occasion of his 70th birthday.

1. INTRODUCTION

Let *n* random points $X_1, ..., X_n$ be chosen independently and according to a given density function ϕ in \mathbb{R}^d . We call the convex hull $P_n = [X_1, ..., X_n]$ of these points a random polytope. Various properties of these objects have been studied in the last decades, e.g. the number of *j*-dimensional faces and the intrinscic volumes. Classical papers dealt with the expected values of these functionals, see e.g. Bárány [2], Bárány and Buchta [3], Bárány and Larman [5], Reitzner [25]. More recently, distributional properties have been investigated intensively, e.g. variance estimates, central limit theorems and and large deviation inequalities, see e.g. Bárány, Fodor, and Vigh [4], Bárány and Reitzner [6, 7], Calka, Schreiber and Yukich [10], Calka and Yukich [11, 12, 13], Pardon [19, 20] Reitzner [23, 24, 25], Schreiber and Yukich [28], and Vu [29].

For all these questions the expectation is a central object. We denote by $\mathbb{E}V_d(P_n)$ the expected volume of the random polytope and by $\mathbb{E}f_j(P_n)$ the expectation of the number of *j*-dimensional faces.

In this short note we concentrate on monotonicity questions concerning the quantities $\mathbb{E}V_d(P_n)$ and $\mathbb{E}f_j(P_n)$ which have been investigated in the last years. For more information on random polytopes and related questions we refer to the survey articles [15] and [26].

2. Monotonicity of the volume with respect to set inclusion

Let $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be a convex set with nonempty interior and $\phi(\cdot) = V_d(K)^{-1} \mathbb{1}_K(\cdot)$, thus the points X_i are chosen according to the uniform distribution in K and P_n is a random polytope in the interior of K. It seems to be immediate that increasing the convex body K should also increase the random polytope and thus its volume.

More precisely, assume that K, L are two d-dimensional convex sets. Choose independent uniform random points X_1, \ldots, X_n in K and Y_1, \ldots, Y_n in L, and denote by P_n the convex hull $[X_1, \ldots, X_n]$, and by Q_n the convex hull $[Y_1, \ldots, Y_n]$. Is it true that $K \subset L$ implies

$$\mathbb{E}V_d(P_n) \le \mathbb{E}V_d(Q_n)? \tag{1}$$

¹E-mail address: mareen.beermann@uni-osnabrueck.de

²E-mail address: matthias.reitzner@uni-osnabrueck.de

The starting point for the investigation should be a check for the first nontrivial case n = d + 1 where a random simplex is chosen in K, resp. L. In this form, the question was first raised by Meckes [17] in the context of high-dimensional convex geometry.

In dimension one the monotonicity is immediate. In 2012 in a groundbreaking paper by Rademacher [21] proved that this is also true in dimension two, but that there are counterexamples for dimensions $d \ge 4$ and n = d + 1. Only recently the three-dimensional case could be settled by Kunis, Reichenwallner and Reitzner [16] where monotonicity of $\mathbb{E}V_3(P_4)$ also fails. The question of monotonicity of higher moments $\mathbb{E}V_d(P_n)^k$ was investigated in [22].

It remains an open problem whether there is a number N, maybe depending on K or only on the dimension d, such that monotonicity holds for $n \ge N$.

3. Monotonicity of the number of faces with respect to n

Choose $X_1, ..., X_n$ according to a given density function ϕ in \mathbb{R}^d . A natural guess is that the expected number $\mathbb{E}f_j(P_n)$ of *j*-dimensional faces behaves monotone if the number of generating points increases. The asymptotic results suggest that at least for random points chosen uniformly in a smooth convex set and or a polytope (see [2], [3], [5], [25]) the expectation $\mathbb{E}f_j(P_n)$ should be increasing in n,

$$\mathbb{E}f_j(P_n) \le \mathbb{E}f_j(P_{n+1}) \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

On the other hand Bárány [1] showed that the behaviour for generic convex sets is extremely complicated and thus monotonicity is not obvious.

The first results concerning this issue have been gained by Devillers et al. [14]. They considered convex hulls of uniformly distributed random points in a convex body K. It is proven that for planar convex sets the expected number of vertices $\mathbb{E}f_0(P_n)$ (and thus also edges) is increasing in n. Furthermore they showed that for $d \geq 3$ the number of facets $\mathbb{E}f_{d-1}(P_n)$ is increasing for n large enough if $\lim_{n\to\infty} \frac{\mathbb{E}f_{d-1}(P_n)}{An^c} = 1$ for some constants A and c > 0, e.g. for K being a smooth convex body. In the PhD thesis of Beermann [8] the cases of ϕ being the Gaussian distribution or the uniform distribution in a ball are settled. We sketch the proof in the Appendix. The method used for these results was extended by Bonnet et al. [9] who settled the cases of random points on the sphere, on a halfsphere, random points chosen according to a certain heavy-tailed distribution, and beta-type distributions.

It should be noted that these results carry over to monotonicity results for convex hulls of random points chosen from a Poisson point process with a suitable density.

All these results only deal with the number of facets. Only in the Gaussian case it seems to be possible to extend this monotonicity results to general j-dimensional

faces. This is the content of a recent preprint by Kabluchko. But even for other 'most simple cases' like uniform points in a ball the general question is widely open.

4. Appendix: Facet numbers of random polytopes

Let Φ be a probability measure in \mathbb{R}^d with density φ . Choose *n* random points X_1, \ldots, X_n independently according to Φ , and let P_n be the convex hull of these random points. We start by developing a well known formula for $\mathbb{E}f_{d-1}$. Each (d-1)-dimensional face of P_n is the convex hull of exactly *d* random points with probability one. Since X_1, \ldots, X_n are chosen independently and identically it holds

$$\mathbb{E}f_{d-1}(P_n) = \binom{n}{d} \mathbb{P}([X_1, \dots, X_d] \text{ is a facet }).$$

We denote by $H_{1,...,d}$ the affine hull of the (d-1)-dimensional simplex $P_d = [x_1, \ldots, x_d]$ which divides \mathbb{R}^d into the two halfspaces $H_{1,...,d}^+$ and $H_{1,...,d}^-$. If P_d is a facet then the other points X_{d+1}, \ldots, X_n are either all located in $H_{1,...,d}^+$, or in $H_{1,...,d}^-$. This happens with probability $\Phi(H_{1,...,d}^+)^{n-d}$, resp. $\Phi(H_{1,...,d}^-)^{n-d}$, hence

$$\mathbb{E}f_{d-1}(P_n) = \binom{n}{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \dots \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(\Phi(H_{1,\dots,d}^+)^{n-d} + \Phi(H_{1,\dots,d}^-)^{n-d} \right) \prod_{i=1}^d \phi(x_i) \mathrm{d}x_i.$$
(2)

We use the classical affine Blaschke-Petkantschin formula (see [27], Theorem 7.2.1.) to conclude

$$\mathbb{E}f_{d-1}(P_n) = (d-1)! \binom{n}{d} \int_{S^{d-1}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\Phi(H(p,\omega)^+)^{n-d} + \Phi(H(p,\omega)^-)^{n-d} \right)$$

$$\times \int_{H(p,\omega)} \dots \int_{H(p,\omega)} \Delta_{d-1}(x_1, \dots, x_d) \prod_{i=1}^d \phi(x_i) \mathrm{d}x_i \, \mathrm{d}p \mathrm{d}\omega$$

$$= (d-1)! \binom{n}{d} \int_{S^{d-1}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \Phi(H(p,\omega)^+)^{n-d}$$

$$\int_{H(p,\omega)} \dots \int_{H(p,\omega)} \Delta_{d-1}(x_1, \dots, x_d) \prod_{i=1}^d \phi(x_i) \mathrm{d}x_i \, \mathrm{d}p \mathrm{d}\omega$$

where we parametrize the hyperplane by $H(p, \omega) = \{x : \langle x, \omega \rangle = p\}$, and the halfspaces by $H(p, \omega)^- = \{x : \langle x, \omega \rangle \leq p\}$ and $H(p, \omega)^+ = \{x : \langle x, \omega \rangle \geq p\}$. In the inner integral $\Delta_{d-1}(x_1, ..., x_d)$ is the (d-1)-dimensional volume of the convex hull of $x_1, ..., x_d$. We fix the direction ω and want to prove the montonicity in n of

$$\mathcal{I}(n) = \binom{n}{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \Phi(H(p,\omega)^+)^{n-d} \int_{H(p,\omega)} \dots \int_{H(p,\omega)} \Delta_{d-1}(x_1,\dots,x_d) \prod_{i=1}^d \phi(x_i) \mathrm{d}x_i \mathrm{d}p$$

For a given direction ω we put $\psi(t) = \int_{H(t,\omega)} \phi(x) dx$ and $\Psi(p) = \int_{-\infty}^{p} \psi(t) dt$ which defines the push forward measure of Φ under the projection onto the line $\{t\omega : t \in \mathbb{R}\}$. Observe that on the support of ψ , the mass of halfspaces $\Psi(p) = \Phi(H(p,\omega)^{-})$ is an increasing function in p and thus there is an inverse function $\Psi^{-1}(s)$, also increasing, with

$$\frac{d}{ds}\Psi^{-1}(s) = \left(\frac{d}{dp}\Phi(H(p,\omega)^{-})|_{p=\Psi^{-1}(s)}\right)^{-1} = \left(\psi(p)|_{p=\Psi^{-1}(s)}\right)^{-1} = \left(\psi(\Psi^{-1}(s))\right)^{-1}$$

for $s \in (0,1)$, and thus $dp = (\psi(\Psi^{-1}(s)))^{-1}ds$. Substituting by $s = \Psi(p) = \Phi(H(p,\omega)^{-})$ we end up with

$$\mathcal{I}(n) = \binom{n}{d} \int_{0}^{1} (1-s)^{n-d} \psi(\Psi^{-1}(s))^{d-1} \mathbb{E}_{H(\Psi^{-1}(s),\omega)} \Delta_{d-1}(X_1, \dots, X_d) \, \mathrm{d}s$$

where $\mathbb{E}_{H(p,\omega)}\Delta_{d-1}(X_1,\ldots,X_d)$ is the volume of a random simplex where the points X_1,\ldots,X_d are chosen independently according to the normalized density φ in $H(p,\omega)$. Thus to prove monotonicity we have to show that $\Delta_n \mathcal{I} = \mathcal{I}(n) - \mathcal{I}(n-1)$ is positive,

$$\Delta_n \mathcal{I} = \frac{1}{n} {n \choose d} \int_0^1 (1-s)^{n-d-1} (d-ns) L(s)^{d-1} \, \mathrm{d}s$$

with

$$L(s) = \psi(\Psi^{-1}(s)) \Big(\mathbb{E}_{H(\Psi^{-1}(s),\omega)} \Delta_{d-1}(X_1, \dots, X_d) \Big)^{\frac{1}{d-1}}$$

In the next two sections we will show that in both cases we are interested in, the function L(s) is concave. This is sufficient, because then the graph of L(s) starts at the origin, is above the line $l(s) = L(\frac{d}{n})\frac{ns}{d}$ in $(0, \frac{d}{n})$, meets the line for $s = \frac{d}{n}$, and is below the line for $s > \frac{d}{n}$. This yields

$$\Delta_n \mathcal{I} \geq \frac{1}{n} {n \choose d} \int_0^1 (1-s)^{n-d-1} (d-ns) l(s)^{d-1} \, \mathrm{d}s$$

$$= \frac{n^{d-2}}{d^{d-1}} {n \choose d} L \left(\frac{d}{n}\right)^{d-1} \underbrace{\int_0^1 (1-s)^{n-d-1} (d-ns) s^{d-1} \, \mathrm{d}s}_{=d\mathbf{B}(n-d,d)-n\mathbf{B}(n-d,d+1)}$$

and hence $\mathbb{E}f_{d-1}(P_n)$ is increasing.

4.1. The Case of Gaussian Polytopes

In this case we have $\phi(x) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d/2}} \exp\{-\sum x_i^2/2\}$. By the rotation invariance it sufficies to consider the case $\omega = (1, 0, \dots, 0)$ where it is easy to see that $\psi(t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \exp\{-t^2/2\}$ and that $\mathbb{E}_{H(p,\omega)}\Delta_{d-1}(X_1, \dots, X_d)$ is independent of p. Thus $L(s) = c_d \psi(\Psi^{-1}(s)).$

The continously differentiable function L(s) is concave if and only if its derivative is decreasing. Since $\psi'(t) = -t\psi(t)$, it follows that

$$L'(s) = c_d \frac{d}{ds} \psi(\Psi^{-1}(s)) = -c_d \Psi^{-1}(s) \psi(\Psi^{-1}(s)) \big(\psi(\Psi^{-1}(s))\big)^{-1} = -c_d \Psi^{-1}(s).$$

Clearly, $\Psi(s)$ is increasing in s, and therefore $\Phi^{-1}(s)$ too. This implies that $-\Phi^{-1}(s)$ is decreasing and L(s) is concave on [0, 1].

4.2. The Case of Random Polytopes in a Ball

Assume that B^d is the unit ball of volume κ_d . In this case $\phi(x) = \kappa_d^{-1} \mathbb{1}(x \in B^d)$. By the rotation invariance it sufficies to consider the case $\omega = (1, 0, \dots, 0)$ where $\psi(t) = \kappa_d^{-1} \kappa_{d-1} (1 - t^2)^{(d-1)/2}$. The intersection of $H(t, \omega) \cap B^d$ is always a ball of radius $(1 - t^2)^{1/2}$ and the expected volume of a random simplex in $H(t, \omega) \cap B^d$ is a constant times $V_{d-1}(H(t, \omega) \cap B^d) = \psi(t)$. The constant is determined explicitly in a paper of Miles [18]. Thus $L(s) = c_d \psi(\Psi^{-1}(s))^{\frac{d}{d-1}}$. We have

$$L'(s) = c_d \frac{d}{ds} \psi(\Psi^{-1}(s))^{\frac{d}{d-1}} = c_d \frac{d}{d-1} \frac{\psi'(\Psi^{-1}(s))}{\psi(\Psi^{-1}(s))^{\frac{d-2}{d-1}}} = c_d d\left(\frac{d}{dp}\psi(p)^{\frac{1}{d-1}}\right)\Big|_{p=\Psi^{-1}(s)}$$

Because ψ is a concave function, its derivative is decreasing in p. Noting that Ψ^{-1} is increasing shows that L' is decreasing und thus the function L(s) is concave.

References

- I. Bárány, Intrinsic volumes and f-vectors of random polytopes, Math. Ann. 285 (1989), 671–699.
- [2] I. Bárány, Random polytopes in smooth convex bodies, Mathematika 39 (1992), 81–92.
- [3] I. Bárány and C. Buchta, Random polytopes in a convex polytope, independence of shape, and concentration of vertices, Math. Ann. 297 (1993), 467–497.
- [4] I. Bárány, F. Fodor, and V. Vígh, Intrinsic volumes of inscribed random polytopes in smooth convex bodies, Adv. in Appl. Probab. 42 (2010), 605–619.
- [5] I. Bárány and D. G. Larman, Convex bodies, economic cap coverings, random polytopes, Mathematika 35 (1988), 274–291.
- [6] I. Bárány and M. Reitzner, On the variance of random polytopes, Adv. Math. 225 (2010), 1986–2001.
- [7] I. Bárány and M. Reitzner, Poisson Polytopes, Ann. Probab. 38 (2010), 1507–1531.

- [8] M. Beermann, Random Polytopes, Dissertation (2015), Universität Osnabrück
- [9] G. Bonnet, J. Grote, D. Temesvari, C. Thäle, N. Turchi, and F. Wespi, Monotonicity of facet numbers of random convex hulls. Preprint (2017), arXiv:1703.02321
- [10] P. Calka, T. Schreiber, and J. E. Yukich, Brownian limits, local limits and variance asymptotics for convex hulls in the ball, Ann. Probab. 41 (2013), 50–108.
- [11] P. Calka and J. E. Yukich, Variance asymptotics for random polytopes in smooth convex bodies, Probab. Theory Relat. Fields 158 (2014), 435–463.
- [12] P. Calka and J. E. Yukich, Variance asymptotics and scaling limits for Gaussian polytopes, Probab. Theory Related Fields 163 (2015), 259–301.
- [13] P. Calka and J. E. Yukich, Variance asymptotics and scaling limits for random polytopes, Adv. Math. 304 (2017), 1–55.
- [14] O. Devillers, M. Glisse, X. Goaoc, G. Moroz, and M. Reitzner, The monotonicity of f-vectors of random polytopes Electron. Commun. Probab. 18 (2013), no. 23, 8
- [15] D. Hug, Random polytopes, in: Stochastic geometry, spatial statistics and random fields. Lecture Notes in Math. 2068 (2013), 205–238.
- [16] S. Kunis, M. Reitzner, and B. Reichenwallner, Monotonicity of the Sample Range of 3-D Data: Moments of Volumes of Random Tetrahedra, Preprint (2017), arXiv:1612.01893
- [17] M. Meckes, Monotonicity of volumes of random simplices, in: Recent Trends in Convex and Discrete Geometry. AMS Special Session 2006, San Antonio, Texas, http://math.gmu.edu/~vsoltan/SanAntonio_06.pdf
- [18] R. E. Miles, Isotropic random simplices. Adv. Appl. Prob. 3 (1971), 353–382.
- [19] J. Pardon, Central limit theorems for random polygons in an arbitrary convex set Ann. Probab. 39 (2011), 881–903.
- [20] J. Pardon, Central limit theorems for uniform model random polygons, J. Theoret. Probab. 25 (2012), 823–833.
- [21] L. Rademacher, On the monotonicity of the expected volume of a random simplex, Mathematika 58 (2012), 77–91.
- [22] B. Reichenwallner and M. Reitzner, On the monotonicity of the moments of volumes of random simplices, Mathematika 62 (2016), 949–958.
- [23] M. Reitzner, Random polytopes and the Efron-Stein jackknife inequality, Ann. Probab. 31 (2003), 2136–2166.
- [24] M. Reitzner, Central limit theorems for random polytopes, Probab. Theory Relat. Fields 133 (2005), 483–507.
- [25] M. Reitzner, The combinatorial structure of random polytopes, Adv. Math. 191 (2005), 178–208.
- [26] M. Reitzner, Random polytopes, in: Molchanov, I., and Kendall, W. (eds.): New perspectives in stochastic geometry (2009), 45–76.
- [27] R. Schneider and W. Weil, Stochastic and integral geometry. Probability and its Applications (New York). Springer-Verlag, Berlin (2008)
- [28] T. Schreiber and J. E. Yukich, Variance asymptotics and central limit theorems for generalized growth processes with applications to convex hulls and maximal points. Ann. Probab. 36 (2008), 363–396.
- [29] V. Vu, Sharp concentration of random polytopes. Geom. Funct. Anal. 15 (2005), 1284–1318.

Thieves dividing birthday presents and birthday cakes

PAVLE V. M. BLAGOJEVIĆ¹

FU Berlin and Math. Inst. SANU, Belgrade, Serbia

Pablo Soberón²

Northeastern University

Dedicated to Imre Bárány on the occasion of his 70th birthday

It was the Fall of 2003, my son was just born and I was adjusting to parenthood. At the same time the Mathematical Sciences Research Institute in Berkeley was hosting a semester program *Discrete and Computational Geometry.* Many of the stars of my postgraduate studies were listed as organizers, Jesús A. De Loera, Herbert Edelsbrunner, Jacob E. Goodman, János Pach, Micha Sharir, Emo Welzl, and Günter M. Ziegler. For an unknown PhD with no support and no relevant publications it was almost impossible to attend such an event. Nevertheless on 16 November of 2003 I arrived to attend the last workshop. In the following days I was mesmerized my the lectures of László Lovász, Louis Billera, Bernd Sturmfels, Jiří Matoušek, and Alexander Bobenko.

In a break between the lectures a miracle occurred, though not yet a mathematical one. Imre Bárány approached me and started a conversation. His gentle, familiar and direct way of communicating overwhelmed me, made me feel that I am at the right place, talking to the right person, having a conversation that will make a significant impact on my professional life. While we were talking, the Golden Gate casted an unreal light onto the blackboard filled with the problems that are going to run my life for decades to come. The beauty of Imre's mathematics with clear and right to the heart presentation was stunning. On that day Imre Bárány opened the door of the mathematical research for me and gently and firmly guided me over the first obstacles. Since then he shared with me his knowledge, ideas, insight and most importunely his support and friendship. I am honored to have Imre Bárány as my teacher, collaborator, and a family friend.

The following results are dedicated to a man who gain and has admiration of all of his colleagues, that inspired only the best in us and made our mathematics beautiful, fun and worth doing.

In Berlin on 30 May 2017,

Pavle V. M. Blagojević

¹P.V.M.B. received funding from DFG via the Collaborative Research Center TRR 109 "Discretization in Geometry and Dynamics", and the grant ON 174008 of the Serbian Ministry of Education and Science. E-mail address: blagojevic@math.fu-berlin.de

²E-mail address: pablo.soberon@ciencias.unam.mx

1. PARTITION PROBLEMS

Measure partition problems are classical, significant and challenging questions of Discrete Geometry secretly attracted to Algebraic Topology.

We are going to consider convex partitions of the Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^d . More precisely, an ordered collection of n closed subsets $\mathcal{K} = (K_1, \ldots, K_n)$ of \mathbb{R}^d is a partition of \mathbb{R}^d if it is a covering $\mathbb{R}^d = K_1 \cup \cdots \cup K_n$, all the interiors $\operatorname{int}(K_1), \ldots, \operatorname{int}(K_n)$ are non-empty, and $\operatorname{int}(K_i) \cap \operatorname{int}(K_j) = \emptyset$ for all $1 \leq i < j \leq n$. A partition $\mathcal{K} = (K_1, \ldots, K_n)$ is said to be a convex partition of \mathbb{R}^d if each element of the partition is convex. Furthermore, for an integer $r \geq 1$ an r-labeled (convex) partition of \mathbb{R}^d is an ordered pair (\mathcal{K}, ℓ) where $\mathcal{K} = (K_1, \ldots, K_n)$ is a (convex) partition of \mathbb{R}^d , and $\ell \colon [n] \longrightarrow [r]$ is an arbitrary function. We use the notation $[n] := \{1, \ldots, n\}$.

We assume that all measures in \mathbb{R}^d are probability measures that are absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure. In particular this means that the overlapping boundary $\bigcup_{1 \le i < j \le n} K_i \cap K_j$ of the elements of a partition always has measure zero.

One of the widely known measure partitioning results is the Ham Sandwich theorem, which was conjectured by Steinhaus and proved subsequently by Banach in 1938.

Theorem (Ham Sandwich theorem). Let $d \ge 1$ be an integer. For any collection of d measures μ_1, \ldots, μ_d in \mathbb{R}^d , there exists an affine hyperplane H that simultaneously splits them into halves. Namely, we have

$$\mu_i(H^+) = \mu_i(H^-)$$

for all $1 \leq i \leq d$, where H^+ and H^- denote closed half-spaces determined by H.

The reason for its name is an illustration where each of the measures is thought of as a different ingredient floating in \mathbb{R}^d (that is out birthday cake). The goal is to make two sandwiches (or pieces of the cake) with equal amount of each ingredient by cutting \mathbb{R}^d with a single hyperplane slice. On the other hand, if more people (are attending and) want their sandwich (cake pieces) and fancy convex shapes, it has been shown by different groups of authors [10] [8] [4] that for any collection of d measures μ_1, \ldots, μ_d in \mathbb{R}^d and any integer $r \geq 1$ there is a convex partition $\mathcal{K} = (K_1, \ldots, K_r)$ of \mathbb{R}^d into r parts that simultaneously split each measure into r parts of equal size. Namely,

$$\mu_i(K_1) = \dots = \mu_i(K_r)$$

for all $1 \leq i \leq d$.

The second classic and appealing measure partition result is the following "Necklace Splitting" theorem of Hobby and Rice [7]. **Theorem** (Necklace Splitting theorem). Let $m \ge 1$ be an integer. Then for any collection of m measures μ_1, \ldots, μ_m in \mathbb{R} , there exists a 2-labeled convex partition (\mathcal{K}, ℓ) of \mathbb{R} into a collection of m + 1 intervals $\mathcal{K} = (K_1, \ldots, K_{m+1})$ with $\ell \colon [m + 1] \longrightarrow [2]$ such that for every $1 \le j \le m$:

$$\mu_j \Big(\bigcup_{i \in \ell^{-1}(1)} K_i\Big) = \mu_j \Big(\bigcup_{i \in \ell^{-1}(2)} K_i\Big) = \frac{1}{2}.$$

The discrete version of this theorem, where the measures are the counting measures of finite sets of points, was first proved by Goldberg and West [6], and then by Alon and West [3]. The common illustration of this theorem is as follows. Two thieves steal an open necklace (that is a birthday gift) with m types of pearls, knowing that there is an even number of each kind of pearls. They will cut the necklace into pieces and distribute those among themselves, so that each receives half of each kind of pearls. The result above shows that this can always be achieved with mcuts, regardless of the order of the pearls. The function ℓ is simply telling us who gets each part. The version with arbitrary number r of thieves was given by Alon in [2], where (r-1)m cuts are shown to be sufficient. The number of cuts cannot be improved. Extensions of this result with additional combinatorial conditions on the distribution of the necklace appear in [1].

Our main goal is to present a common generalization of the Ham Sandwich theorem and the Necklace Splitting theorem. In other words, given more than dingredients in \mathbb{R}^d , we should be able to find a fair distribution among r hungry persons if we are willing to split \mathbb{R}^d into more than r parts. Alternatively, if r thieves steal a high-dimensional necklace, they should be able to distribute it among themselves by splitting it into very few convex parts.



Figure 1: An iterated partition of the plane by successive hyperplane cuts

High-dimensional versions of the necklace splitting problem were given by de Longueville and Živaljević [5], and by Karasev, Roldán-Pensado and Soberón [9]. In [5], the authors proved an analogous result for r thieves and m measures in \mathbb{R}^d , where the partitions are made using (r-1)m hyperplanes each of whose directions is fixed in advance and must be orthogonal to a vector of the canonical basis of \mathbb{R}^d . The downside of this type of partitions is that there may be an extremely large number of pieces to distribute.

One way to address this issue in the case when r = 2 is to consider iterated hyperplane partitions. A partition of \mathbb{R}^d into convex parts is an *iterated hyperplane partition* if it can be made out of \mathbb{R}^d by successively partitioning each convex part, from a previous partition, with a hyperplane (that means each new hyperplane only cuts one of the existing convex parts, see Figure 1). In [9] the authors showed that for r thieves and m measures in \mathbb{R}^d , there is a fair distribution of each measure among the thieves using an iterated hyperplane partition that has (r-1)m hyperplane cuts, whose directions are fixed in advance, as long as r is a prime power. This has the advantage that the total number of parts is (r-1)m + 1.

In both results, there is little to gain from the increasing dimension. This is a consequence of fixing the directions of the cutting hyperplanes. Thus, it is natural to wonder what can be gained if the fixed directions restriction is disregarded. In this situation we distinguish two different types of labeled partitions. The first type of partitions are labeled partitions of \mathbb{R}^d into n convex parts without any additional requirements. For the second type of partitions we consider iterated convex partitions of \mathbb{R}^d that in the case when r = 2 coincide with iterated hyperplane partitions.

Definition. Let $n \ge 1$, $r \ge 1$ and $d \ge 1$ be integers.

(1) Let M = M(n, r, d) be the largest integer such that for any collection of Mmeasures μ_1, \ldots, μ_M in \mathbb{R}^d there exists an r-labeled convex partition (\mathcal{K}, ℓ) of \mathbb{R}^d into n parts $\mathcal{K} = (K_1, \ldots, K_n)$ with $\ell \colon [n] \longrightarrow [r]$ with the property that for all $1 \leq j \leq M$ and all $1 \leq s \leq r$ we have

$$\mu_j \Big(\bigcup_{i \in \ell^{-1}(s)} K_i\Big) = \frac{1}{r}.$$

Every such labeled convex partition into n parts is called a fair distribution between the thieves.

(2) Let M' = M'(n, r, d) be the largest integer such that for any collection of M'measures $\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_{M'}$ in \mathbb{R}^d there exists an r-labeled iterated partition (\mathcal{K}, ℓ) of \mathbb{R}^d into n convex parts $\mathcal{K} = (K_1, \ldots, K_n)$ with $\ell \colon [n] \longrightarrow [r]$ so for all $1 \leq j \leq M'$ and all $1 \leq s \leq r$ we have

$$\mu_j \Big(\bigcup_{i \in \ell^{-1}(s)} K_i\Big) = \frac{1}{r}.$$

Every such r-labeled convex partition into n parts is called a fair iterated distribution between the thieves.



Figure 2: 2-labeled partition by iterated hyperplane cuts with $\ell = \begin{pmatrix} 12345678\\ 11212121 \end{pmatrix}$

Some of the convex parts K_i in the partition \mathcal{K} can be empty. For an example of a 2-labeled convex partition formed by iterated hyperplane cuts see Figure 2.

For all integers $n \ge 1$, $r \ge 1$ and $d \ge 1$ it is clear that $M'(n, r, d) \le M(n, r, d)$. The Ham Sandwich theorem is equivalent to the statement that M'(2, 2, d) = M(2, 2, d) = d, while the Necklace Splitting theorem for two thieves is equivalent to M'(n + 1, 2, 1) = M(n + 1, 2, 1) = n. Their respective extensions for distributions among more persons simply state that M(r, r, d) = d and $M(n, r, 1) = \lfloor \frac{n-1}{r-1} \rfloor$.

It is possible to prove the following bound on the function M'(n, r, d).

Theorem 1. Let $d \ge 1$ and $t \ge 1$ be integers, and let $r \ge 2$ be a prime. Then,

$$M'(rt, r, d) \ge \left\lceil \frac{td(r-1)+t}{r-1} - 1 \right\rceil.$$

Moreover, this result is optimal for M(r, r, d) and M(n, 2, 1).

The labeled partitions we use to prove this theorem have additional property: From the rt convex parts, every thief receives exactly t of them. The result above implies that M(r, r, d) = d for any r using a standard factorization argument. This factorization argument only works well if t = 1 or d = 1.

For the case r = 2, our results actually give iterated hyperplane partitions. Since those also include results for the case when we use an odd number of parts, we state them separately.

Theorem 2. Let $d \ge 1$ be an integer. Then,

$$\begin{array}{rcl} M'(2t,2,d) & \geq & t(d+1)-1, & for \ t \geq 1 \\ M'(2t+1,2,d) & \geq & t(d+1), & for \ t \geq 0. \end{array}$$

Moreover, this result is optimal for M'(n, 2, 1), M'(3, 2, d) and M'(2, 2, d).

For r = 2 the previous theorem says that $M'(n, 2, d) \sim \lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor (d+1)$, which can be seen as a common extension of the Ham Sandwich theorem and the Necklace Splitting theorem clearer. For larger values of r, the lower bounds we obtain for M(n, d, r) are roughly $\frac{nd}{r}$.

References

- M. Asada, F. Frick, V. Pisharody, M. Powell, D. Stoner, L. H. Tsang, and Z. Wellner, Fair division and generalizations of Sperner-and KKM-type results, arXiv:1701.04955, 2017.
- [2] N. Alon, Splitting necklaces, Adv. Math. 63 (1987), no. 3., 247–253.
- [3] N. Alon and D. B. West, The Borsuk-Ulam theorem and bisection of necklaces, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 98 (1986), no. 4., 623–628.
- [4] P. Blagojević and G. M. Ziegler, Convex equipartitions via Equivariant Obstruction Theory, Israel J. Math. 200 (2014), no. 1., 49–77.
- [5] M. De Longueville and R. T. Živaljević, Splitting multidimensional necklaces, Adv. Math. 218 (2008), no. 3., 926–939.
- [6] C. H. Goldberg and D. B. West, Bisection of Circle Colorings, SIAM. J. on Algebraic and Discrete Methods 6 (1985), no. 1., 93–106.
- [7] C. R. Hobby and J. R. Rice, A Moment Problem in L₁ Approximation, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 16 (1965), no. 4., 665.
- [8] R. N. Karasev, A. Hubard, and B. Aronov, Convex equipartitions: the spicy chicken theorem, Geom. Dedicata 170 (2013), no. 1., 263–279.
- R. N. Karasev, E. Roldán-Pensado, and P. Soberón, Measure Partitions Using Hyperplanes with Fixed Directions, Israel J. Math. 212 (2016), no. 2., 705–728.
- [10] P. Soberón, Balanced Convex Partitions of Measures in R^d, Mathematika 58 (2012), no. 1., 71–76.

Polynomials in finite geometry and combinatorics

AART BLOKHUIS¹

Eindhoven University of Technology

In 1993 I gave a talk at the 14th BCC in Keele: Polynomials in finite geometry and combinatorics [5]. My talk will be about (some of) my favourite results that happened after that. We start with introducing the main ingredients: $GF(q) = \mathbf{F}_q$ is the finite field of order $q = p^h$, p prime.

PG(n,q) and AG(n,q) denote the *n*-dimensional projective and affine space.

Affine space has coordinates $(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in \mathbf{F}_q^n$. Projective space has homogeneous coordinates $(x_0 : x_1 : \ldots : x_n)$.

In particular PG(2,q) has $q^2 + q + 1$ points and lines, q + 1 points on every line, and q + 1 lines through every point.

1. MAXIMAL ARCS, 1996 AND 1998

A (k, n)-arc in PG(2, q) is a set B of k points, at most n on a line. We see that $k \leq 1 + (q+1)(n-1)$ with equality if lines intersect the arc in 0 or n points, and then $n \mid q$.

In this case B is called a *maximal arc*.

In 1996 Simeon Ball, Franco Mazzocca and I proved [3, 4]:

Theorem 1 (Ball, B., Mazzocca 1997). Maximal arcs in planes of odd order do not exist.

A key ingredient in the proof is the maximal arcs polynomial

$$F(t,x) = \prod_{b \in B} (1 - (1 - bx)^{q-1}t)$$

or reversed

$$G(T, X) = \prod_{b \in B} (T - (X - b)^{q-1})$$

The proof can be completed along the following steps:

- 1. Look at $B \subset AG(2,q) \simeq \mathbf{F}_{q^2}$.
- 2. $(x-b)^{q-1}$ gives the direction of the line $\langle x, b \rangle$.
- 3. From $x \in B$ you see every direction n-1 times:

$$F(T, x \in B) = (T^{q+1} - 1)^{n-1}$$

¹E-mail address: a.blokhuis@tue.nl

4. From $x \notin B$ you see every direction 0 or n times:

$$F(T, x \notin B) = H(T^n)$$

2. The direction problem, 1999 and 2003

Theorem 2 (Ball, B., Brouwer, Storme, Szőnyi 1999 and Ball 2003). If the number m of directions determined by $f : \mathbf{F}_q \to \mathbf{F}_q$ is less than (q+3)/2, and f(0) = 0 then f is linear over a subfield (of \mathbf{F}_q). The possible values of m can be determined (in principle, not in practice) [1, 6].

Geometric view and the case q is prime. If $q = r^e$ then $AG(2,q) \simeq V(2, \mathbf{F}_q) \simeq V(2, \mathbf{F}_q) \simeq V(2e, \mathbf{F}_r)$ and the graph of f is an e-dimensional subspace.

Much more can be said if q is prime. In this case Rédei and Megyesi [14] in 1970 proved $m \ge (q+3)/2$, Lovász and Schrijver [13] in 1981 characterized the case of equality. For larger m we have

Theorem 3 (Gács 2003 [12]). If the number of directions determined by $f : \mathbf{F}_p \to \mathbf{F}_p$ is larger than (p+3)/2, then it is at least 2(p-1)/3.

3. Directions in space

The strong cylinder conjecture, due to Ball [2], reads as follows:

If C is a set of p^2 points in AG(3, p), such that every plane intersects C in a multiple of p points, then C must be a cylinder, the union of p parallel lines.

He proved the following.

Theorem 4 (Ball, 2008). Let $S \subset AG(3,q)$ of size q^2 with at least q not determined directions. Then every plane intersects S in 0 mod p points.

4. The finite field Kakeya problem, 2009

The finite field Kakeya problem asks for the (minimal) number of points covered by a set of lines in AG(n, q), one in every direction.

One of the mathematical gems of the past ten years is the beautiful result by Dvir [11], showing that the order of magnitude is q^n .

Theorem 5 (Z. Dvir, 2010). The number of points that is covered by such a Kakeyaset is at least $\binom{q+n-1}{n}$.

Almost 30 years ago Aiden Bruen and I proved the following result [8]:

Theorem 6 (A. B., A. A. Bruen, 1989). If $q \ge 7$ is odd, then a set of q + 2 lines in PG(2,q) covers at least $\frac{1}{2}(q+1)(q+2) + \frac{1}{3}(q+2)$ points.
Of course, if q is even, the q+2 lines of a dual hyperoval cover only $\frac{1}{2}(q+1)(q+2)$ points. The result is sharp for q = 7 (in two ways), but one would like to prove, for *all* odd q:

$$\frac{1}{2}(q+1)(q+2) + \frac{1}{2}(q-1).$$

This result comes close to solving the Kakeya problem in the plane. This we managed to do much later [9]:

So the problem is: How many points are covered by a set of q + 1 lines, one in every direction. If q is even, the lines can be taken 'in general position', as we have seen.

If q is odd, one takes q lines in general position, and adds a suitable line in the last direction.

Theorem 7 (A.B., F. Mazzocca, 2009). The number of points that is covered by a Kakeya-set is at least $\binom{q+1}{2}$ if q is even and $\binom{q+1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}(q-1)$ if q is odd.

References

- S. Ball, The number of directions determined by a function over a finite field, J. Combin. Theory (A) 104 (2003), 341–350.
- [2] S. Ball, On the graph of a function in many variables over a finite field, Des. Codes Cryptography. 47 (2008), 159–164.
- [3] S. Ball and A. Blokhuis, An easier proof of the maximal arc conjecture, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 126 (1998), 3377–3380.
- [4] S. Ball, A. Blokhuis, and F. Mazzocca, Maximal arcs in Desarguesian planes of odd order do not exist, Combinatorica 17 (1997), 31–41.
- [5] A. Blokhuis, Polynomials in finite geometries and combinatorics, in: Surveys in Combinatorics, 1993, ed. Keith Walker, Cambridge University Press (1993), 35–52.
- [6] A. Blokhuis, S. Ball, A. E. Brouwer, L. Storme, and T. Szőnyi, On the number of slopes of the graph of a function defined on a finite field, J. Combin. Theory A 86 (1999), 187–196.
- [7] A. Blokhuis, A. E. Brouwer, T. Szőnyi, and Zs. Weiner, On q-analogs and stability theorems, J. Geom. 101 (2011), no. 1-2., 31–50.
- [8] A. Blokhuis and A. A. Bruen, The Minimal Number of Lines Intersected by a Set of q + 2 Points, Blocking Sets, and Intersecting Circles, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 50 (1989), 308–315.
- [9] A. Blokhuis and F. Mazzocca, *The finite field Kakeya problem*, in: Building bridges, Bolyai Soc. Math. Stud. **19**, Springer (2008), 205–218.
- [10] A. E. Brouwer and A. Schrijver, The blocking number of an affine space, J. Combin. Th. (A) 24 (1978), 251–253.
- [11] Z. Dvir, On the Size of Kakeya Sets in Finite Fields, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 22 (2009), no. 4., 1093–1097.
- [12] A. Gács, On a generalization of Rédei's theorem, Combinatorica 23 (2003), no. 4., 585–598.
- [13] L. Lovász and A. Schrijver, Remarks on a theorem of Rédei, Studia Sci. Math. Hungar., 16 (1981), 449–454.
- [14] L. Rédei, Lacunary polynomials over finite fields, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1973.

Families of vectors without antipodal pairs

Péter Frankl¹

Alfréd Rényi Institute of Mathematics, Hungarian Academy of Sciences, and Tokyo

ANDREY KUPAVSKII²

Moscow Institute of Physics and Technology, Ecole Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne

Abstract

Some Erdős-Ko-Rado type extremal properties of families of vectors from $\{-1, 0, 1\}^n$ are considered.

1. INTRODUCTION

The standard *n*-cube is formed by all vectors $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$ with $v_i \in \{0, 1\}$. Setting $F(v) := \{i : v_i = 1\}$ is a natural way to associate a subset of $[n] := \{1, \ldots, n\}$ with a vertex of the *n*-cube. This association has proved very useful in tackling various problems in discrete geometry. In particular, intersection theorems concerning finite sets were the main tool in proving exponential lower bounds for the chromatic number of \mathbb{R}^n and disproving Borsuk's conjecture in high dimensions (cf. [6], [7]).

In this short note we consider $(0, \pm 1)$ -vectors, that is, vectors $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$, where each v_i is 0, 1, or -1. Probably the first non-trivial extremal result concerning these objects was a result of Deza and the first author [2] showing that in a certain situation one can prove the same best possible upper bound for $(0, \pm 1)$ -vectors as for the restricted case of (0, 1)-vectors.

Raigorodskii [15] and others (cf, e.g., [13], [11]) have used a similar approach to improve the bounds for the above-mentioned and related discrete geometry problems, obtained via (0, 1)-vectors, by considering $(0, \pm 1)$ -vectors.

Motivated by such results we propose to investigate the following problem. Let $k \ge l \ge 1$ be integers and let V(n, k, l) denote the set of all $(0, \pm 1)$ -vectors of length n and having exactly k coordinates equal to +1 and l coordinates equal to -1. Note that

$$|V(n,k,l)| = \binom{n}{k}\binom{n-k}{l} = \binom{n}{k+l}\binom{k+l}{l}.$$

For two vectors let $\langle v, w \rangle$ denote their scalar product: $\langle v, w \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{n} v_i w_i$.

¹E-mail address: peter.frankl@gmail.com

²Research supported by the grant RNF 16-11-10014. E-mail address: kupavskii@yandex.ru

If $v, w \in V(n, k, l)$, then they possess altogether 2l coordinates equal to -1. Thus

$$\langle v, w \rangle \ge -2l.$$

If $\langle v, w \rangle = -2l$, then we call these two vectors <u>antipodal</u>. Note that for a fixed $v \in V$ there are $\binom{k}{l}\binom{n-k-l}{k-2l}$ antipodal vectors $w \in V$. To avoid trivialities, we assume in what follows that $n \geq 2k$.

Example 1. Let $\mathcal{G} \subset V(n, k, l)$ consist of those vectors whose <u>last</u> non-zero coordinate is a -1. Then $|\mathcal{G}| = \binom{n}{k+l}\binom{k+l-1}{l-1}$, and it is easy to see that \mathcal{G} contains no two antipodal vectors.

The purpose of this note is to prove the following two theorems.

Theorem 1. Suppose that $\mathcal{F} \subset V(n,k,l)$ does not contain two antipodal vectors. Then

$$|\mathcal{F}| \le \binom{n}{k+l}\binom{k+l-1}{l-1} + \binom{n}{2k}\binom{2l}{l}\binom{n-2l-1}{k-l-1}.$$
(1)

Note that the last term of (1) is $O(n^{k+l-1})$. We also put $\binom{n-2l-1}{k-l-1} := 0$ for k = l. Thus (1) shows that Example 1 is asymptotically best possible.

Example 2. Let $\mathcal{E} \subset V(n, k, l)$ consist of those vectors whose <u>first</u> coordinate is a 1. Then $|\mathcal{E}| = \binom{n-1}{k+l-1}\binom{k+l-1}{k-1} = \frac{k}{n}|V(n, k, l)|$, and \mathcal{E} contains no two antipodal vectors.

Theorem 2. Suppose that $\mathcal{F} \subset V(n,k,l)$ does not contain two antipodal vectors. If $2k \leq n \leq 3k - l$, then

$$|\mathcal{F}| \le \frac{k}{n} |V(n,k,l)|. \tag{2}$$

Theorem 2 shows that Example 2 is best possible for $2k \le n \le 3k - l$. We note that the case $n \le 2k$ can be easily reduced to sets setting and the Erdős-Ko-Rado theorem (see below). Let us also mention that in [4] we gave the complete solution for the case l = 1:

Theorem (Frankl, Kupavskii [4]). Suppose that $\mathcal{F} \subset V(n, k, 1)$ does not contain two antipodal vectors. Then one has

$$|\mathcal{F}| \le k \binom{n-1}{k} \qquad \text{for } 2k \le n \le k^2,$$
$$|\mathcal{F}| \le k \binom{k^2-1}{k} + \binom{k^2}{k} + \binom{k^2+1}{k} + \dots + \binom{n-1}{k} \qquad \text{for } n > k^2.$$

Both inequalities are best possible.

The proof of Theorem 1 is rather short, but it relies on some classical results in extremal set theory.

Definition 1. Two families \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B} of finite sets are called <u>cross-intersecting</u>, if for all $A \in \mathcal{A}, B \in \mathcal{B}$ one has $A \cap B \neq \emptyset$. For the case $\overline{\mathcal{A}} = \mathcal{B}$ we use the term intersecting.

For $0 \le k \le n$ let $\binom{[n]}{k}$ denote the collection of all k-subsets of $\{1, \ldots, n\}$.

Theorem (Erdős-Ko-Rado [3]). Suppose that $n \ge 2k > 0$, and the family $\mathcal{A} \subset {\binom{[n]}{k}}$ is intersecting. Then

$$|\mathcal{A}| \le \binom{n-1}{k-1}.\tag{3}$$

As Daykin [1] observed, (3) can be deduced from the Kruskal-Katona Theorem ([10], [8]). the same approach yields the following version of (3) for cross-intersecting families.

Proposition 3. Let a, b, m be integers, $m \ge a + b$. Suppose that $\mathcal{A} \subset {\binom{[m]}{a}}$ and $\mathcal{B} \subset {\binom{[m]}{b}}$ are cross-intersecting. Then either $|\mathcal{A}| \le {\binom{m-1}{a-1}}$ or $|\mathcal{B}| \le {\binom{m-1}{b-1}}$ hold.

Note that stronger versions of this proposition were proved by Pyber [14], Matsumoto and Tokushige [12], and the authors of this note [5].

2. The proof of Theorem 1

Let \mathcal{F} be our family of vectors. For a $(0, \pm 1)$ -vector $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$ let S(v) denote its support, i.e.,

$$S(v) := \{ i \in [n] : v_i \neq 0 \}.$$

Define also

$$S_{+}(v) := \{i : v_{i} = +1\},\$$

$$S_{-}(v) := \{i : v_{i} = -1\}.$$

Obviously, $S(v) = S_+(v) \sqcup S_-(v)$.

Also, for $k \ge l$ two vectors v, w satisfy (v, w) = -2l if and only if $S_{-}(v) \subset S_{+}(w), S_{-}(w) \subset S_{+}(v)$ and $S_{+}(v) \cap S_{+}(w) = \emptyset$ hold simultaneously.

Our assumption is that no such pair v, w exist in \mathcal{F} . For a pair A, B of disjoint *l*-element sets we define $\mathcal{F}(A, B)$ to be the family of those (k - l)-element sets C that the vector u defined by $S_+(u) = A \sqcup C$, $S_-(u) = B$ is in \mathcal{F} .

Lemma 4. For disjoint *l*-subsets $A, B \subset [n]$ the two families $\mathcal{F}(A, B)$ and $\mathcal{F}(B, A)$ are cross-intersecting.

Proof. Suppose the contrary and let $C \in \mathcal{F}(A, B), D \in \mathcal{F}(B, A)$ be disjoint (k-l)-sets. Then the vectors v, w determined by $S_+(v) = A \sqcup C, S_-(v) = B, S_+(w) = B \sqcup D, S_-(w) = A$ are both in \mathcal{F} . However, $\langle v, w \rangle = -2l$, a contradiction. \Box

This lemma and Proposition 3 motivate the following procedure. For all $\binom{n}{2l}\binom{2l}{l}$ choices of a pair of disjoint *l*-sets *A* and *B*, if $|\mathcal{F}(A,B)| \leq \binom{n-2l-1}{k-l-1}$, then delete from \mathcal{F} all vectors v with $S_{-}(v) = B$, $A \subset S_{+}(v)$.

Let \mathcal{F}' be the collection of remaining vectors and note:

$$|\mathcal{F}'| \ge |\mathcal{F}| - \binom{n}{2l} \binom{2l}{l} \binom{n-2l-1}{k-l-1}.$$
(4)

Let us fix now a (k+l)-element set $T \subset [n]$ and consider the family $\mathcal{B} \subset {T \choose l}$ defined as follows:

$$\mathcal{B} := \left\{ B \in \binom{T}{l} : \exists v \in \mathcal{F}', S(v) = T, S_{-}(v) = B \right\}.$$

Lemma 5. The family \mathcal{B} is intersecting.

Proof. Suppose for contradiction that $A, B \in \mathcal{B}$ are disjoint. By the definition of \mathcal{B} there are $u, v \in \mathcal{F}'$ satisfying $S_{-}(u) = A$, $S_{-}(v) = B$, S(u) = S(v) = T. This implies $A \subset S_{+}(v), B \subset S_{+}(u)$.

Since both u and v survived the deletion process, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{F}(A,B)| &> \binom{n-2l-1}{k-l-1}, \\ |\mathcal{F}(B,A)| &> \binom{n-2l-1}{k-l-1}. \end{aligned}$$

However, Proposition 3 shows that $\mathcal{F}(A, B)$ and $\mathcal{F}(B, A)$ are *not* cross-intersecting. This contradicts Lemma 4.

Since $k \ge l$, the Erdős-Ko-Rado Theorem implies

$$|\mathcal{B}| \le \binom{k+l-1}{l-1}.$$

Consequently,

$$|\mathcal{F}'| \le \binom{n}{k+l}\binom{k+l-1}{l-1}$$

Combining with (4), the inequality (1) follows.

3. The proof of Theorem 2

The proof is based on the application of the general Katona's circle method [9] to $\mathcal{V}(n,k,l)$. Consider the following subfamily \mathcal{H} of $\mathcal{V}(n,k,l)$:

$$\mathcal{H} := \{ \mathbf{v} = (v_1, \dots, v_n) : \exists i \in [n] : v_i = \dots = v_{i+k-1} = 1, \\ v_{i-k} = \dots = v_{i-k+l-1} = -1 \}$$

We remark that all indices are written modulo n. Note that $|\mathcal{H}| = n$. For any permutation σ of [n] we define $\mathcal{H}(\sigma) := \{\sigma(H) : H \in \mathcal{H}\}.$

Take a family \mathcal{F} with no two antipodal vectors.

Lemma 6. For any permutation σ we have $|\mathcal{H}(\sigma) \cap \mathcal{F}| \leq k$.

Proof. Denote by $\mathcal{F}' \subset {[n] \choose k}$ the family $\{S_+(F) : F \in \mathcal{F}\}$, and, similarly, $\mathcal{H}' := \{S_+(H) : H \in \mathcal{H}(\sigma)\}.$

We claim that $\mathcal{H}' \cap \mathcal{F}'$ is an intersecting family. Assume that there are two sets $F'_1, F'_2 \in \mathcal{H}' \cap \mathcal{F}'$, that are disjoint. W.l.o.g., $F'_2 = [k+1, 2k]$. Then F'_1 is obliged to contain [1, l], since any cyclic interval of length k in $[n] \setminus [k+1, 2k]$ contains [1, l], provided that $n \leq 3k - l$.

We conclude that the corresponding vector $v_1 \in \mathcal{F} \cap \mathcal{H}$ satisfies $S_+(v) \supset [1, l]$. At the same time, by the definition of \mathcal{H} , the vector v_2 corresponding to F'_2 satisfies $S_-(v_2) = [1, l]$. That is, $S_-(v_2) \subset S_+(v_1)$. Interchanging the roles of F_1, F_2 , we get that $S_-(v_1) \subset S_+(v_2)$. Moreover, $S_+(v_1) \cap S_+(v_2) = \emptyset$. This means that v_1 and v_2 are antipodal, a contradiction.

Therefore, the family $\mathcal{H}' \cap \mathcal{F}'$ is intersecting. It is proven in [9] that in this case $|\mathcal{H}' \cap \mathcal{F}'| \leq k$, but we sketch the proof of this simple fact here for completeness. Take a set $H \in \mathcal{H}' \cap \mathcal{F}'$. Then the 2k-2 sets from \mathcal{H}' that intersect H can be split into pairs of disjoint sets. We can take only one set from each pair.

The rest of the argument is a standard averaging argument. Let us count in two ways the number of pairs (permutation σ , a vector from $\mathcal{H}(\sigma) \cap \mathcal{F}$). On the one hand, each vector from \mathcal{F} is counted nk!l!(n-k-l)! times. On the other hand, for each permutation, there are at most k pairs by Lemma 6. Therefore,

$$|\mathcal{F}| n k! l! (n-k-l)! \le kn! \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad |\mathcal{F}| \le \frac{k}{n} \frac{n!}{k! l! (n-k-l)!} = \frac{k}{n} |V(n,k,l)|.$$

References

- D. E. Daykin, Erdős-Ko-Rado from Kruskal-Katona, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A, 17 (1974), no. 2, 254–255.
- M. Deza and P. Frankl, Every large set of equidistant (0, +1, -1)-vectors forms a sunflower Combinatorica 1 (1981), 225–231.
- [3] P. Erdős, C. Ko, and R. Rado, Intersection theorems for systems of finite sets, Q. J. Math. 12 (1961) no. 1, 313–320.
- [4] P. Frankl and A. Kupavskii, Erdős-Ko-Rado theorem for {0,±1}-vectors, submitted. arXiv: 1510.03912
- [5] P. Frankl and A. Kupavskii, A size-sensitive inequality for cross-intersecting families, European J. Combin. 62 (2017), 263–271.
- [6] P. Frankl and R. Wilson, Intersection theorems with geometric consequences, Combinatorica 1 (1981), 357–368.

- [7] J. Kahn and G. Kalai, A counterexample to Borsuk's conjecture, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 29 (1993), 60-62.
- [8] G. Katona, A theorem of finite sets, "Theory of Graphs, Proc. Coll. Tihany, 1966", Akad. Kiadó, Budapest, 1968; Classic Papers in Combinatorics (1987), 381-401.
- G. O. H. Katona, A simple proof of th Erdős-Ko-Rado Theorem, J. Combin. Theory Ser. B 13 (1972), 183–184.
- [10] J. B. Kruskal, The Number of Simplices in a Complex, Mathematical optimization techniques 251 (1963), 251-278.
- [11] A. Kupavskii, Explicit and probabilistic constructions of distance graphs with small clique numbers and large chromatic numbers, Izvestiya: Mathematics 78 (2014), no. 1, 59–89.
- [12] M. Matsumoto and N. Tokushige, The exact bound in the Erdős-Ko-Rado theorem for cross-intersecting families, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 52 (1989), no. 1, 90–97.
- [13] E. I. Ponomarenko and A. M. Raigorodskii, New upper bounds for the independence numbers with vertices at {-1,0,1}ⁿ and their applications to the problems on the chromatic numbers of distance graphs, Mat. Zametki 96 (2014), N1, 138–147; English transl. in Math. Notes 96 (2014), N1, 140–148.
- [14] L. Pyber, A new generalization of the Erdős-Ko-Rado theorem, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 43 (1986), 85–90.
- [15] A. M. Raigorodskii, Borsuk's problem and the chromatic numbers of some metric spaces, Russian Math. Surveys 56 (2001), no. 1, 103–139.

On a Helly-type question for central symmetry

ALEXEY GARBER¹

Department of Mathematics, The University of Texas Rio Grande Valley

Edgardo Roldán-Pensado²

Centro de Ciencias Matemáticas, UNAM campus Morelia

Abstract

We study a certain Helly-type question by Konrad Swanepoel. Assume that X is a set of points such that every k-subset of X is in centrally symmetric convex position, is it true that X must also be in centrally symmetric convex position? It is easy to see that this is false if $k \leq 5$, but it may be true for sufficiently large k. We investigate this question and give some partial results.

Dedicated to Imre Bárány on his 70th birthday.

1. INTRODUCTION

The classical Carathéodory theorem in dimension 2 can be stated in the following equivalent way: Let X be a set of points in the plane, if any 4 points from X are in convex positions then X is in convex position. In 2010, Konrad Swanepoel [5] asked the following Helly-type question which was inspired by this formulation of Carathéodory's theorem.

For brevity, we say that a set of points is in *c.s.c. position* (short for centrally symmetric convex position) if it is contained in the boundary of a centrally symmetric convex body.

Question. Does there exist a number k such that for any planar set X the following holds: If any k points from X are in c.s.c position, then the whole set X is in c.s.c. position.

It is clear from Carathéodory's theorem that X should be in convex position. One can also see that $k \ge 6$ since any 5 points are in c.s.c. position. This follows from the fact that any 5 points pass through a quadric curve. Since the points must be in convex position, the points lie on an ellipse, parabola or a branch of a hyperbola, and in each of these cases there is a centrally symmetric convex body containing these points on its boundary.

It is not clear that such a k exists although we suspect that it does. In this short note, we prove the following two results in Sections 3 and 4, respectively.

¹E-mail address: alexeygarber@gmail.com

²E-mail address: e.roldan@im.unam.mx

Theorem 1. There is a set X consisting of 9 points that is not in c.s.c. position such that any 8 of its points are in c.s.c. position. This implies that, if k exists, then $k \ge 9$.

Theorem 2. Let Γ be a continuous closed curve such that any 7 points of Γ are in c.s.c. position, then Γ bounds a centrally symmetric convex region.

Before proving these theorems, we describe a way to decide whether a finite set X is in c.s.c. position or not. For more information on Carathéodory's theorem and Helly-type theorems we recommend [2] and [3].

2. Centrally symmetric convex position

We start with a useful definition.

Definition. Let X be a point set and O be a point. The set X_O denotes the reflexion of X with respect to O, i.e., $X_O = 2O - X$. If $X \cup X_O$ is in convex position then we say that O is an admissible center for X, the set of all admissible centers is denoted by \mathcal{M}_X .

Swanepoel's question can be reformulated in terms of admissible centers, since X is in c.s.c. position if and only if \mathcal{M}_X is non-empty. The main goal of this section is to give a simple way of constructing \mathcal{M}_X . We start with the simplest possible case. The description of the set of admissible center for a finite set X can be obtained from the following simple lemmas.

Lemma 3. Let $\triangle = \{a, b, c\}$ be three non-collinear points. The three lines passing through the midpoints of the sides of $conv(\triangle)$ divide the plane into 7 regions. The set \mathcal{M}_{\triangle} , shown in Figure 1, is the union of the closed components of this division that do not intersect \triangle .

The set \mathcal{M}_{\triangle} is naturally represented as the union of 4 convex subsets. We call these subsets the *center-part*, *a-part*, *b-part* and *c-part* as in Figure 1.

Lemma 4. For a given set X in convex position we have that

$$\mathcal{M}_X = \bigcap \left\{ \mathcal{M}_Y : Y \subset X, \#(Y) = 3 \right\}.$$

This last Lemma provides us with a way to construct the set of admissible centers of a set with n points in convex position as the intersection of $\binom{n}{3}$ sets. We see below how we can achieve the same thing using fewer sets.

Definition 5. Assume X is a finite set of points in convex position such that X is not contained in a line. Let ab be a side of conv(X) and let $c \in X$ be a farthest point from the line ab. We call the triangle abc a tallest triangle of X with respect to side ab.



Figure 1: Set of admissible centers for a triangle.

The tallest triangle has appeared before, at least as source of interesting questions for mathematical Olympiads (see e.g. [4] or [1]).

Theorem 6. If X is a finite set of points in convex position, then the set of admissible centers for X is the intersection of the sets of admissible centers of the tallest triangles of X, i.e.,

 $\mathcal{M}_X = \bigcap \left\{ \mathcal{M}_{\{a,b,c\}} : abc \text{ is a tallest triangle of } X \right\}.$

Proof. The set \mathcal{M}_X is included in the intersection on the right-hand side of the formula, so we only need to prove that any point from the intersection is in \mathcal{M}_X .

Let O be any point from the intersection and let a be any point from X. We will show that it is possible to find a supporting line of conv $(X \cup X_O)$ at a.

Let b be one of the neighbors of a on the boundary of conv (X), say in the clockwise direction. Let abc be a tallest triangle of X with respect to ab. If O lies in a-part or b-part of the admissible set for triangle abc, then ab is a supporting line for conv $(X \cup X_O)$. Therefore O lies in the c-part or in the central part of $\mathcal{M}_{\{a,b,c\}}$.

Similarly, if d is the other neighbor of a on the boundary of X (in the counterclockwise direction), and *ade* is a tallest triangle of X with respect to *ad*, then O lies in the central part or in the *e*-part of $\mathcal{M}_{\{a,d,e\}}$, otherwise we are done.

There are two possibilities for the positions of c and e. Either they coincide, or e is in counter-clockwise from c (that is, we meet e before a in this direction from c). In the case c = e, the only admissible point from $\mathcal{M}_{\{a,b,c\}}$ is the midpoint of ac, which also belongs to the b-part of $\mathcal{M}_{\{a,b,c\}}$. So, the line ab is a supporting line of conv $(X \cup X_O)$ as we have shown before.

In the latter case, the point $O \in abc \cap ade$, and c and e are connected by a sequence of sides of X. Then there is a side pq of X in the angle $\angle cae$ such that O is inside triangle apq. It is not difficult to see that apq is a tallest triangle of X. Since O is inside apq and in $\mathcal{M}_{\{a,p,q\}}$, it is in the central part of this set of admissible centers. It follows that the line parallel to pq through a is also a supporting line of $conv(X \cup X_O)$.



Figure 2: The 9-gon for Theorem 1.



Figure 3: The original and reflected 8-gons with their respective centers.

3. Example showing $k \ge 9$

In this section we prove Theorem 1 by giving an explicit example of a set X with 9 points such that $\mathcal{M}_X = \emptyset$, but $\mathcal{M}_Y \neq \emptyset$ for every $Y \subset X$ with 8 points.

Proof of Theorem 1. Start with a regular 9-gon with center O and label its vertices as $a_1, b_1, c_1, a_2, b_2, c_2, a_3, b_3, c_3$ in counter-clockwise order. Now, take the triangle $a_1a_2a_3$ and, with center O, scale it down by a factor of 0.93. Then we are left with an almost regular 9-gon such as the one shown in Figure 2. This will be the set X.

A subset Y of X with 8 points can be of two types, depending on whether or not it is missing a point a_i from X. For each of these, a point of \mathcal{M}_Y close to O will serve as an admissible center. If we choose coordinates so that O = (0,0) and $b_1 = (1,0)$, then points in \mathcal{M}_Y corresponding to $Y = X \setminus \{a_1\}$ and $Y = X \setminus \{b_2\}$ are (0.04, 0) and (0.02, 0), respectively (see Figure 3).

All that is left is to show that $\mathcal{M}_X = \emptyset$. By Lemma 4, we only need to consider



Figure 4: An inscribed parallelogram and auxiliary points.

the triangles determined by X. Let us consider first the triangle $a_1b_2c_2$, it is not hard to see that \mathcal{M}_X must be a subset of the center part of $\mathcal{M}_{\{a_1,b_2,c_2\}}$. By the threefold symmetry of X, the same is true for the triangles $a_2b_3c_3$ and $a_3b_1c_1$. However, the center parts of these sets are triangles that do not intersect, so \mathcal{M}_X must be empty. \Box

4. The case of convex curves

In this section we will show that for a convex curve Γ , Swanepoel's question has a positive answer. In fact, it is enough to take k = 7 in order to force Γ to be centrally symmetric. This result is based on the following simple fact, which can be proved easily using Lemma 4.

Lemma 7. The set of admissible centers for the vertex-set of a parallelogram P is the union the two lines passing through the center of P and each parallel to a side of P.

Proof of Theorem 2. The convexity of Γ is trivial. Take distinct points $a, b \in \Gamma$ such that ab is not an affine diameter of Γ , then there are $c, d \in \Gamma$ such that abcd is a non-degenerate parallelogram with its vertices labeled in cyclic order. Moreover, we may chose this parallelogram so that its boundary intersects Γ at precisely $\{a, b, c, d\}$ (see Figure 4).

Let O be the center of this parallelogram and choose $e \in \Gamma \setminus \{a, b, c, d\}$. Let e' be the other point of intersection of the line eO with Γ . We may assume without loss of generality that e is on the arc of Γ between a and b. Let $f \in \Gamma$ be a point between b and c. The set $Y = \{a, e, b, f, c, e', d\}$ has 7 points so, by hypothesis, $\mathcal{M}_Y \neq \emptyset$. Since Y contains the vertices of a parallelogram, Lemma 7 tells us that \mathcal{M}_Y is contained in the union of two lines passing through O. However, by considering the points e and f, the only possibility is $\mathcal{M}_Y = \{O\}$. This implies that O is the midpoint of ee'. Since e is arbitrary, we have shown that O is the center of symmetry of Γ .

5. Acknowledgments

The authors are thankful to Konrad Swanepoel for the interesting questions. We are also thankful to Imre Bárány and Jesús Jerónimo for many fruitful discussions while this work was in progress.

References

- [1] D. Djukić, Problem 6, International Mathematical Olympiad, 2006.
- J. Eckhoff, Helly, Radon, and Carathéodory type theorems, Handbook of convex geometry, P. M. Gruber, J. M. Wills, eds., North-Holland, 1993, pp. 389–448.
- [3] J. Matoušek, Lectures on discrete geometry, Graduate Texts in Mathematics 212, Springer-Verlag, New York, 2002.
- [4] M. V. Smurov, Problem 10.7, Russian Mathematical Olympiad, 1996.
- [5] K. Swanepoel, Private communication, 2010.

An old method with two new geometrical applications

Péter Hajnal¹

University of Szeged

ENDRE SZEMERÉDI²

Alfréd Rényi Institute of Mathematics, Hungarian Academy of Sciences, and Rutgers University

The semi-random method was introduced for graphs in [1]. Later it was extended to 3-uniform hypergraphs in [8]. The method was further extended in [2] and [4].

A hypergraph \mathcal{H} on the vertex set V is a subset of $\mathcal{P}(V)$, the power set of V. I.e. \mathcal{H} is a collection of certain subsets of V, called edges. If the edges have a common size, say k, then we say that \mathcal{H} is k-uniform. In a hypergraph \mathcal{H} a vertex set $I \subset V$ is called an independent set iff it doesn't contain any edge as a subset. The maximum size of the independent sets of \mathcal{H} is denoted by $\alpha(\mathcal{H})$. There are several results concerning independent sets in 3-uniform uncrowded hypergraphs. From hypergraph theory we recall that the degree of a vertex x (deg(x)) is the number of edges, containing x. Also a k-cycle ($k \geq 2$) in \mathcal{H} is a sequence of k different vertices: $x_1, \ldots, x_{k-1}, x_k = x_0$ and a sequence of k different edges: E_1, \ldots, E_k such that $x_{i-1}, x_i \in E_i$ for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, k$. The cycle above is called a simple cycle iff $E_i \cap (\cup_{j:j\neq i}E_j) = \{x_{i-1}, x_i\}$ for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, k$. We quote the earliest result on hypergraphs using the semi-random method.

Theorem 1 ([8], Lemma 1). Let \mathcal{H} be a 3-uniform hypergraph on v vertices. Let \overline{d} denote the average degree of \mathcal{H} . Assume that $\overline{d} \leq t^2$ and $1 \ll t \ll v^{1/10}$.

If \mathcal{H} doesn't contain simple cycles of length at most 4, then

$$\alpha(\mathcal{H}) = \Omega\left(\frac{v}{t}\sqrt{\log t}\right).$$

In our applications we might have many simple cycles of length 3 and 4. We need the following strengthening of the basic bound:

Theorem 2 ([4], Theorem 2). Let \mathcal{H} be a k-uniform hypergraph on v vertices. Let Δ be the maximum degree of \mathcal{H} . Assume that $\Delta \leq t^{k-1}$ and $1 \ll t$. If \mathcal{H} doesn't contain a 2-cycle (two edges with at least two common vertices), then

$$\alpha(\mathcal{H}) = \Omega\left(\frac{v}{t}(\log t)^{\frac{1}{k-1}}\right).$$

¹Supported by ERC-AdG. 321104. E-mail address: hajnal@math.u-szeged.hu

²Supported by ERC-AdG. 321104, and OTKA Grant NK104186. E-mail address: szemered@renyi.hu

In [6] we gave two new geometrical applications of the above bound.

In the first application we consider a question asked by Gowers [5]. Given a planar point set \mathcal{P} , what is the minimal size of \mathcal{P} that guarantees that one can find n points on a line or n independent points (no three on a line) in it? He noted that the grid shows that $\Omega(n^2)$ many points are necessary, and in the case of $2n^3$ many points without n points on a line a simple greedy algorithm finds n independent points. Payne and Wood [9] improved the upper bound to $\mathcal{O}(n^2 \log n)$. They also considered an arbitrary point set with much fewer points than n^3 and without npoints on a line. But instead of the greedy algorithm they used Spencer's lemma, which is based on a simple probabilistic sparsification.

We improved the previous upper bound methods. We also start with a random sparsification. After some additional preparation (we get rid of 2-cycles) we are able to use a semi-random method (see [4]) to find a large independent set.

Theorem 3. Let \mathcal{P} be an arbitrary planar point set of size $\Omega\left(\frac{n^2 \log n}{\log \log n}\right)$. Then we can find n points in \mathcal{P} , that are incident to a line or independent.

Our second application is closely related to Heilbronn's triangle problem [10], [15], [11], [12], [13], [14], [7]. Take a "nice" unit area domain D (usually a square, disc or a regular triangle). Place n points into D and find the smallest area among the triangles determined by the chosen points. Let $H_{\Delta}(n)$ denote the maximum of this parameter over all possible choices of n points.

Instead of triangles we can take k-tuples of our point set and consider the area of the convex hull of the k chosen points. We denote the corresponding parameter by $H_k(n)$ (so $H_3(n) = H_{\Delta}(n)$). The best lower bound on $H_{\Delta}(n)$ [8], and some trivial observations are summarized in the next line:

$$\Omega\left(\frac{\sqrt{\log n}}{n^2}\right) = H_{\Delta}(n) \le H_4(n) \le H_5(n) \le \ldots = \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{n}\right).$$

We mention two major open problems: Is it true that $H_{\triangle}(n) = O(1/n^{2-o(1)})$ and $H_4(n) = o(1/n)$?

Our interest is in the lower bound on $H_4(n)$. Schmidt [15] proved that $H_4(n) = \Omega(n^{-3/2})$. The proof is a construction of a point set by a simple greedy algorithm. In [3] the authors provide a new proof, and extensions of this result. They also proposed an open question, which they have not yet been able to resolve: that is whether Schmidt's bound can be improved by a logarithmic factor. With the help of the semi-random method we were able to improve Schmidt's bound and settle the problem of [3].

Theorem 4. There exists a point set of size n in the unit square that doesn't contain four points with convex hull of area $\mathcal{O}(n^{-3/2}(\log n)^{1/2})$.

References

- M. Ajtai, J. Komlós, and E. Szemerédi, A dense infinite Sidon sequence, European J. Combin 2 no.1 (1981), 1–11.
- M. Ajtai, J. Komlós, J. Pintz, J. Spencer, and E. Szemerédi, *Extremal uncrowded hypergraphs*, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A **32** no.3 (1982), 321–335.
- [3] C. Bertram-Kretzberg, T. Hofmeister, and H. Lefmann, An algorithm for Heilbronn's problem, SIAM J. Comput. 30(2000), no. 2, 383–390.
- [4] R. Duke, H. Lefmann, and V. Rödl, On uncrowded hypergraphs, Random Structures Algorithms 6(1995), no. 2-3, 209–212.
- [5] T. Gowers, A Geometric Ramsey Problem, http://mathoverflow.net/ questions/50928/ageometric-ramsey-problem, accessed May 2016.
- [6] P. Hajnal and E. Szemerédi, Two geometrical applications of the semi-random method, accepted, New Trends in Intuitive Geometry.
- [7] J. Komlós, J. Pintz, and E. Szemerédi, On Heilbronn's triangle problem, J. London Math. Soc. 24(2) no.2 (1981), 385–396.
- [8] J. Komlós, J. Pintz, and E. Szemerédi, A lower bound for Heilbronn's problem, J. London Math. Soc. 25(2) no.1 (1982), 13–24.
- M. S. Payne and D.R. Wood, On the general position subset selection problem, SIAM J. Discrete Math. 27, 2013, no. 4, 1727–1733.
- [10] K. F. Roth, On a problem of Heilbronn, J. London Math. Soc. 26 (1951), 198–204.
- [11] K. F. Roth, On a problem of Heilbronn II, Proc. London Math. Soc. 25 (1972), no. 3, 193–212;
- [12] K. F. Roth, On a problem of Heilbronn III, Proc. London Math. Soc. 25 (1972), no. 3, 543–549.
- [13] K. F. Roth, Estimation of the area of the smallest triangle obtained by selecting three out of n points in a disc of unit area, Analytic number theory (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Vol. XXIV, St. Louis Univ., St. Louis, Mo., 1972), 251–262, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1973.
- [14] K. F. Roth, Developments in Heilbronn's triangle problem, Advances in Math. 22, no.3 (1976), 364–385.
- [15] W. Schmidt, On a problem of Heilbronn, J. London Math. Soc. 4 (1971/72), no. 2, 545–550.

Helly theorems for connected sets in the plane

ANDREAS F. HOLMSEN¹

Department of Mathematical Sciences, KAIST

Dedicated to Imre Bárány on the occasion of his seventieth birthday.

1. Colorful interactions with Imre

The first time I heard of Imre was from my advisor, Helge Tverberg: "You know my generalization of Radon's theorem... Bárány showed that it holds for any continuous map!" Whether or not he left out that there should be a prime number of parts doesn't really matter. I was in awe.

At the time I was a fresh graduate student at the University of Bergen and Helge had suggested that I visit Imre at UCL. During our first meeting I told him the following problem (due to Katchalski):

Let B_1 , B_2 , and B_3 be pairwise disjoint unit balls in \mathbb{R}^3 . Show that the set of directions for which there exists a directed line which intersects them in the order B_1, B_2, B_3 is convex.

I was somewhat surprised to hear that Imre already knew of this problem, and even more surprised to hear that he had a counter-example! That is, he had a counter-example written in a notebook in Budapest, and he promised to send me a copy when he had a chance. Sure enough, a few months after returning to Bergen, I received a letter in the mail with xeroxed copies of Imre's hand-written notes.²

More importantly, it was during this visit to UCL that I first learned about "colorful" and "fractional" versions of various classical theorems in combinatorial convexity, such as "colorful Carathéodory", "fractional Helly", and "fractional Erdős–Szekeres". Imre took the time to explain several of these results to me, giving me problems and exercises related to them as well. For instance he explained an open problem concerning the fractional Helly number for convex lattice sets in \mathbb{R}^d . Their Helly number is 2^d , but what is their fractional Helly number? Is it d+1, just as for standard convex sets? This is indeed the case, which was shown by Imre together with Matoušek [5].

Although I found these generalizations fascinating, it took a long time before I was able to appreciate the depth of these results and their impact on problems in discrete geometry. The colorful Carathéodory theorem [4] and the fractional Helly theorem [13] are crucial tools in the construction of weak ε -nets for convex sets [1] and play important roles in the proof of the celebrated (p,q)-theorem due to Alon

¹E-mail address: andreash@kaist.edu

²I must admit that I never read the notes carefully, because shortly before receiving Imre's letter I succeeded in proving the convexity of the set of directions!

and Kleitman [3]. The fractional Erdős–Szekeres theorem [6, 15] plays a prominent part in the recent breakthrough on the Erdős–Szekeres convex polygon problem due to Suk [16].

Apart from their applications, the "colorful" and "fractional" theorems are often examples of the beautiful interaction between topology, combinatorics, and geometry. Imre's seminal results in this area have been a great inspiration to many of us, and in what follows we present some recent "colorful" and "fractional" topological Helly theorems obtained together with Minki Kim and Seunghun Lee.

2. Connected families in the plane

Let $\mathcal{F} = \{X_1, \ldots, X_n\}$ be a family of open sets in the plane. (We assume that all families are finite throughout.) We call \mathcal{F} a **connected family** provided that any non-empty intersection of members in \mathcal{F} is connected. (In particular, each member of \mathcal{F} is connected.) The following is a well-known Helly theorem for connected families in the plane.

Theorem 1. Let \mathcal{F} be a connected family of open sets in the plane. If every four members of \mathcal{F} have a point common, then there is a point that intersects every member of \mathcal{F} .

Here is a "folklore" proof of Theorem 1: Suppose $|\mathcal{F}| = n \ge 5$ and that every proper subfamily of \mathcal{F} has a point in common. For every member X in \mathcal{F} , choose a point $p_X \in \bigcap_{Y \in \mathcal{F} \setminus \{X\}} Y$, and for every pair of members $X \neq Y$ in \mathcal{F} draw a path $\pi_{X,Y}$ connecting p_X to p_Y in such a way that $\pi_{X,Y}$ is contained in $\bigcap_{Z \in \mathcal{F} \setminus \{X,Y\}} Z$. Notice that we have now made a drawing in the plane of the complete graph K_n , and since $n \ge 5$, there must be a pair of vertex disjoint edges that intersect in a point contained in every member of \mathcal{F} .



Figure 1: A connected family which shows that the Helly number *four* in Theorem 1 is best possible: Any three members intersect, but not all four intersect.

The proof above generalizes to higher dimensions by applying the van Kampen– Flores theorem, but requires a suitable adjustment of the notion of "connected family" which takes into account higher topological connectedness. Even further generalizations were obtained by Matoušek [14] which allow the sets to have several connected components, and more recently by Goaoc et al. [8] which allow for even more general sets. In both cases, the Helly numbers they obtain are bounded by repeated applications of Ramsey's theorem and are enormous! Unfortunately, the methods developed in [14] and [8] do not seem flexible enough to obtain more robust Helly type theorems such as "colorful" and "fractional" versions.

Our goal here is to present such generalizations of Theorem 1. In particular we have the following "colorful" version.

Theorem 2. Let \mathcal{F} be a connected family of open sets in the plane and let $\mathcal{F}_1, \mathcal{F}_2, \mathcal{F}_3$, \mathcal{F}_4 be subfamilies of \mathcal{F} . If $X_1 \cap X_2 \cap X_3 \cap X_4 \neq \emptyset$ for every choice $X_i \in \mathcal{F}_i$, then $\bigcap_{X \in \mathcal{F}_i} X \neq \emptyset$ for some $1 \leq i \leq 4$.

Although the (colorful) Helly number for connected families is four, it turns out that the "fractional" Helly number for such families is only three.

Theorem 3. For every $\alpha \in (0,1]$ there exists a $\beta > 0$ such that the following holds. Let \mathcal{F} be a connected family of open sets in the plane. If at least $\alpha \binom{|\mathcal{F}|}{3}$ of the triples in \mathcal{F} have non-empty intersection, then there is a point contained in at least $\beta |\mathcal{F}|$ members of \mathcal{F} .

Using the results of Alon et al. [2] we obtain, as a consequence of Theorem 3, a generalization of the planar (p,q) theorem.

Theorem 4. For any integers $p \ge q \ge 3$ there exists an integer C = C(p,q) such that the following holds. Let \mathcal{F} be a connected family of open sets in the plane. If among any p members of \mathcal{F} there are some q that have a point in common, then there exists a set of at most C points that intersects every member of \mathcal{F} .

Let $\mathcal{F} = \{S_1, \ldots, S_n\}$ be a family of sets. The intersection patterns of \mathcal{F} can be encoded by its nerve $N(\mathcal{F})$ which is an abstract simplicial complex defined as

$$N(\mathcal{F}) = \{ \sigma \in [n] : \bigcap_{i \in \sigma} S_i \neq \emptyset \}.$$

In the case when \mathcal{F} is a family of convex sets in \mathbb{R}^d , a basic consequence of the nerve theorem from algebraic topology is that the homology of $N(\mathcal{F})$ vanishes in all dimensions greater or equal to d. Roughly speaking, this means that the "complexity" of the nerve is bounded, and in many cases this bound on the complexity is sufficient to obtain "colorful" and "fractional" versions of Helly's theorem, as has been show in a series of works by Kalai and Meshulam [9, 10, 11, 12].

Our goal is therefore to obtain similar bounds on the "complexity" on $N(\mathcal{F})$ when \mathcal{F} is a connected family of open sets in the plane.

3. Towards a nerve theorem for graphs

Rather than working with connected families of open sets in the plane it turns out that it is more natural to deal with families of connected graphs. Let \mathcal{F} =

 $\{G_1, \ldots, G_n\}$ be a family of induced subgraphs of a fixed graph G. We say that \mathcal{F} is a **connected family** in G provided that $\bigcap_{i \in \sigma} G_i$ is connected for every $\sigma \in N(\mathcal{F})$. What we are looking for is a "nerve theorem" which relates the "complexity" of the nerve $N(\mathcal{F})$ to the "structure" of the underlying graph G.

A simple parameter which measures the "complexity" of the nerve $N(\mathcal{F})$ is the greatest dimension for which the homology of $N(\mathcal{F})$ is non-vanishing. (Throughout we use homology with rational coefficients.) By taking the maximum over all connected families \mathcal{F} in a fixed graph G, we get a measure of the complexity of G.

More precisely, for a graph G we define the **homological dimension** of G to be the greatest integer d such that $H_d(N(\mathcal{F})) \neq 0$ for some connected family \mathcal{F} in G. We denote this parameter by $\gamma(G)$, and for the single vertex graph K_1 we define $\gamma(K_1) = -1$.

As for the "structure" of the graph G it turns out that it is natural to use the well-known minor relation from graph theory. Recall that a graph H is a minor of G if there exists pairwise disjoint connected subgraphs in G, one for each vertex in H, such that for any pair of adjacent vertices in H there exists an edge between the corresponding subgraphs in G. We denote this by writing H < G.

It is not difficult to see that the homological dimension of a graph is minormonotone. By this we mean that if H < G, then $\gamma(H) \leq \gamma(G)$. It is also easy to see that for K_{d+2} , the complete graph on d+2 vertices, we have $\gamma(K_{d+2}) = d$. And so if $K_{d+2} < G$, then $\gamma(G) \geq d$. We conjecture that the converse also holds, and we can prove this for small values of d.

Theorem 5. For any graph G we have the following.

- 1. $\gamma(G) \ge 1 \iff K_3 \lt G$.
- 2. $\gamma(G) \ge 2 \iff K_4 \prec G$.
- 3. $\gamma(G) \ge 3 \iff K_5 \prec G$.

It is easy to see that if $\mathcal{F} = \{X_1, \ldots, X_n\}$ is a connected family of open sets in the plane (as discussed in section 2), then there exists a connected family of graphs $\mathcal{F}' = \{G_1, \ldots, G_n\}$ in a *planar* graph G such that the nerve complexes $N(\mathcal{F})$ and $N(\mathcal{F}')$ are isomorphic. As a consequence we get the following.

Corollary 6. For any connected family \mathcal{F} of open sets in the plane, $H_i(N(\mathcal{F})) = 0$ holds for all $i \geq 3$.

Now Theorem 2 follows from the colorful topological Helly theorem due to Kalai and Meshulam [11]. Applying Kalai's "upper bound theorem" for d-Leray complexes [9, 10] we get the following.

Corollary 7. Let \mathcal{F} be a connected family of open sets in the plane. If at least $\alpha\binom{|\mathcal{F}|}{4}$ of the 4-membered subfamilies of \mathcal{F} have non-empty intersection, then there is a point in common to at least $\beta|\mathcal{F}|$ members of \mathcal{F} , where $\beta = 1 - (1 - \alpha)^{1/4}$.

In order to establish Theorem 3 we need some additional combinatorial arguments. The first is the following "weak colorful Helly theorem".

Lemma 8. Let \mathcal{F} be a connected family of open sets in the plane with a partition $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{F}_1 \cup \mathcal{F}_2 \cup \mathcal{F}_3$ where $|\mathcal{F}_i| \ge 10$. If every colorful triple intersects, then there are some four members of \mathcal{F} that intersect.

By a standard application of a theorem of Erdős–Simonovits [7] together with Lemma 8, one can show that if a constant fraction of the triples in \mathcal{F} intersect, then also a constant fraction of the 4-membered subfamilies of \mathcal{F} intersect. And so Theorem 3 follows from Corollary 7.

References

- N. Alon, I. Bárány, Z. Füredi, D. J. Kleitman, Point selections and weak ε-nets for convex hulls, Combin. Probab. Comput. 1 (1992), 189–200.
- [2] N. Alon, G. Kalai, J. Matoušek, R. Meshulam, Transversal numbers for hypergraphs arising in geometry, Adv. in Appl. Math. 29 (2002), 79–101.
- [3] N. Alon and D. J. Kleitman, Piercing convex sets and the Hadwiger-Debrunner (p,q)problem, Adv. Math. 96 (1992), 103–112.
- [4] I. Bárány, A generalization of Carathéodory's theorem, Discrete Math. 40 (1982), 141–152.
- [5] I. Bárány and J. Matoušek, A fractional Helly theorem for convex lattice sets, Adv. Math. 174 (2003), 227–235.
- [6] I. Bárány and P. Valtr, A positive fraction Erdős-Szekeres theorem, Discrete Comput. Geom. 19 (1998), 335-342.
- [7] P. Erdős and M. Simonovits, Supersaturated graphs and hypergraphs, Combinatorica 3 (1983), 181–192.
- [8] X. Goaoc, P. Paták, Z. Patáková, M. Tancer, and U. Wagner, Bounding Helly numbers via Betti numbers, Proceedings of SoCG 2015, arXiv:1310.4613.
- [9] G. Kalai, Intersection patterns of convex sets, Israel J. Math. 48 (1984), 161–174.
- [10] G. Kalai, Algebraic shifting, in: Computational commutative algebra and combinatorics (Osaka, 1999), 121–163, Adv. Stud. Pure Math. 33, Math. Soc. Japan, Tokyo, 2002.
- [11] G. Kalai and R. Meshulam, A topological colorful Helly theorem, Adv. Math. 191 (2005), 305–311.
- [12] G. Kalai and R. Meshulam, Leray numbers of projections and a topological Helly-type theorem, J. Topol. 1 (2008), 551–556.
- [13] M. Katchalski and A. Liu, A problem of geometry in \mathbb{R}^n , Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. **75** (1979), 284–288.
- [14] J. Matoušek, A Helly-type theorem for unions of convex sets, Discrete Comput. Geom. 18 (1997), 1–12.

- [15] A. Pór and P. Valtr, The partitioned version of the Erdős-Szekeres theorem, Discrete Comput. Geom. 28 (2002), 625–637.
- [16] A. Suk, On the Erdős-Szekeres convex polygon problem, J. Amer. Math. Soc., to appear.

Problems for Imre Bárány's Birthday

GIL $KALAI^1$

Hebrew University of Jerusalem

I will give several problems in the interface between combinatorics and geometry and mainly around Helly's theorem and Tverberg's theorem. This is one of the areas on which Imre Bárány had immense impact. My lecture in the conference will focus on some of these problems.

1. Around Tverberg's Theorem

Tverberg's Theorem states the following: Let x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_m be points in \mathbb{R}^d with $m \ge (r-1)(d+1)+1$. Then there is a partition S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_r of $\{1, 2, \ldots, m\}$ such that $\cap_{j=1}^r conv(x_i : i \in S_j) \ne \emptyset$. This was a conjecture by Birch who also proved the planar case. The bound of (r-1)(d+1)+1 in the theorem is sharp as can easily be seen from configuration of points in sufficiently general position. The case r = 2 is Radon's theorem.

1.1. Prescribing the sizes of parts in Tverberg's theorem and the number of Tverberg's partitions

Problem 1. Suppose that a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_r is a partition of m = (r-1)(d+1) + 1 such that $1 \le a_i \le d+1$ for every *i*. Is there a configuration of *m* points in \mathbb{R}^d of which all of Tverberg's partitions are of type (a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_r) ?

This problem was raised by Micha A. Perles many years ago and a positive answer was recently given by Moshe White.

Conjecture 2 (Sierksma Conjecture). The number of Tverberg's r-partitions of a set of (r-1)(d+1) + 1 points in \mathbb{R}^d is at least $((r-1)!)^d$.

White's examples provide a rich family of examples for cases of equality in Sierksma's conjecture. An even more general family of constructions for equality cases, based on stairway convexity, was given by Boris Bukh and Gabriel Nivasch.

1.2. TOPOLOGICAL TVERBERG

Conjecture 3 (Topological Tverberg). Let f be a continuous function from the m-dimensional simplex σ^m to \mathbb{R}^d . If $m \ge (d+1)(r-1)$ then there are r pairwise disjoint faces of σ^m whose images have a point in common.

¹E-mail address: kalai@math.huji.ac.il

If f is a linear function this conjecture reduces to Tverberg's theorem. The case r = 2 was proved by Bajmoczy and Bárány using the Borsuk-Ulam theorem. In this case you can replace the simplex by any other polytope of the same dimension. The case where r is a prime number was proved in a seminal 1978 paper of Bárány, Shlosman and Szucs. The prime power case was proved by Özaydin. For the prime power case, the proofs are quite difficult and are based on computations of certain characteristic classes.

In 2015 the topological Tverberg conjecture was disproved. This involves some early result on vanishing of topological obstructions by Özaydin, a theory developed by Mabillard and Wagner extending Whitney's trick to k-fold intersections, and a fruitful reduction by Gromov and by Blagojević, Frick and Ziegler.

Conjecture 4. Let f be a linear function from an m-dimensional polytope P to \mathbb{R}^d . If $m \ge (d+1)(r-1)$ then there are r pairwise disjoint faces of P whose images have a point in common.

Problem 5. Does the conclusion of the topological Tverberg conjecture holds if the images of faces under f form a "good cover?" (Namely, all those images and all non empty intersections are contractible.)?

1.3. Colorful Tverberg

Let C_1, \dots, C_{d+1} be disjoint subsets of \mathbb{R}^d , called colors, each of cardinality at least t. A (d+1)-subset S of $\bigcup_{i=1}^{d+1} C_i$ is said to be multicolored if $S \cap C_i \neq \emptyset$ for $i = 1, \dots, d+1$. Let r be an integer, and let T(r, d) denote the smallest value t such that for every collection of colors C_1, \dots, C_{d+1} of size at least t there exist r disjoint multicolored sets S_1, \dots, S_r such that $\bigcap_{i=1}^r \operatorname{conv}(S_i) \neq \emptyset$.

A seminal theorem of Zivaljevic and Vrecica asserts that $T(r, d) \leq 4r - 1$ for all r, and $T(r, d) \leq 2r - 1$ if r is a prime. The only known proofs for this theorem rely on topological arguments.

Conjecture 6 (Bárány-Larman's colorful Tverberg conjecture).

$$T(r,d) = r.$$

The case where r+1 is a prime was proved by Blagojevic, Matschke, and Ziegler.

COLORFUL CARATHEODORY AND THE ROTA BASIS CONJECTURE

Consider d + 1 sets A_1, A_2, \dots, A_{d+1} of points in \mathbb{R}^d . Assume that each $|A_i| = d + 1$ and that the interior of $conv(A_i)$ contains the origin.

Problem 7 (D. H. J. Polymath). Can we find a partition of all points into d + 1 rainbow parts such that the interior of the convex hulls of the parts have a point in common. (A rainbow set is a set containing one element from each A_i .)

This question was raised in Chow's polymath12 dealing with Rota's basis conjecture. Note that Bárány's famous colorful Caratheodory asserts that there is a rainbow set whose convex hull contains the origin. (I don't know what is the maximum guaranteed number of disjoint rainbow sets with this property.) Without the words "the interiors of" this is a special case of the colorful Tverberg conjecture. A positive answer would be a strong variant of Reay's conjecture (below) on the dimension of Tverberg points, and also a strong form of (a somewhat special case) of Rota's basis conjecture.

1.4. Eckhoff's partition conjecture

Let X be a set endowed with an abstract closure operation $X \to cl(X)$. The only requirements of the closure operation are:

(1) cl(cl(X)) = cl(X) and

(2) $A \subset B$ implies $cl(A) \subset cl(B)$.

Define $t_r(X)$ to be the largest size of a (multi)set in X which cannot be partitioned into r parts whose closures have a point in common.

Conjecture 8 (Eckhoff's Partition Conjecture:). For every closure operation

$$t_r \le t_2 \cdot (r-1).$$

If X is the set of subsets of \mathbb{R}^d and cl(A) is the convex hull operation then Radon's theorem asserts that $t_2(X) = d + 1$ and Eckhoff's partition conjecture would imply Tverberg's theorem. In 2010 Eckhoff's partition conjecture was refuted by Boris Bukh. Bukh's beautiful paper contains several important ideas and further results. I will mention one ingredient: Let me take for granted the nerve construction for moving from a family of n convex sets to a simplicial complex with n vertices recording their empty and non empty intersections. Bukh studied simplicial complexes whose vertex sets correspond to the power set of a set of size n: Starting with n points in \mathbb{R}^d or some abstract convexity space consider the nerve of convex hulls of all subsets of these points!

1.5. DIMENSIONS OF TVERBERG'S POINT

A CONJECTURE OF REAY

For a set A, denote by $T_r(A)$ those points in \mathbb{R}^d which belong to the convex hull of r pairwise disjoint subsets of A. We call these points Tverberg points of order r.

Conjecture 9 (Reay). If A is a set of (d+1)(r-1)+1+k points in general position in \mathbb{R}^d then

$$dimT_t(A) \ge k$$

In particular, Reay conjecture asserts that a set of (d+1)r points in general position in \mathbb{R}^d can be partitioned into r sets of size d+1 so that the simplices described by these sets have an interior common point.

THE CASCADE CONJECTURE

Conjecture 10. For every $A \subset \mathbb{R}^d$,

$$\sum_{r=1}^{|A|} \dim T_r(A) \ge 0.$$

(Note that dim $\emptyset = -1$.) The conjecture was proved for $d \leq 2$ by Akiva Kadari (unpublished M. Sc thesis in Hebrew).

A Special case

A special case of the cascade Conjecture asserts that given 2d + 2 points in \mathbb{R}^d then you can either partition them into two simplices whose interior intersects, or you can find a Tverberg partition into 3 parts. A reformulation based on positive hulls is:

Given 2d non zero vectors in \mathbb{R}^d so that the origin is a vertex of the cone spanned by them then either:

- You can divide the points into two sets A and B so that the cones spanned by them have a d-dimensional intersection, or
- You can divide them into three sets A B and C so that the cones spanned by them have a non-trivial intersection.

Another interesting reformulation is obtained when we dualize using the Gale transform, and this have led to the problem we consider next.

A QUESTION ABOUT DIRECTED GRAPHS THAT CAN BE DESCRIBED AS THE UNION OF TWO TREES

A very special class of configurations arise from graphs. Start from a directed graph on n vertices and 2n-2 edges and associate to each directed edge $\{i, j\}$ the vector $e_j - e_i$. This has led to the problem we discuss next.

Problem 11. Let G be a directed graph with n vertices and 2n - 2 edges. When can you divide your set of edges into two trees T_1 and T_2 (so far we disregard the orientation of edges,) so that when you reverse the directions of all edges in T_2 you get a strongly connected digraph.

I conjectured that if G can be written as the union of two trees, the only additional obstruction is that there is a cut consisting only of two edges in reversed directions. Maria Chudnovsky and Paul Seymour found an additional necessary condition: There is no induced cycle $c_1 - \ldots - c_{2k} - c_1$ in G, s.t. each c_i is cubic, the edges of the cycle alternate in direction, and none of c_1, \ldots, c_{2k} are sources or sinks of G.

1.6. Another conjecture by Reay

Problem 12. What is the smallest integer R(d,r) such that If $x_1, x_2, ..., x_m$ be points in \mathbb{R}^d with $m \ge R(d,r)$, then there is a partition $S_1, S_2, ..., S_r$ of $\{1, 2, ..., m\}$ such that $conv(x_i : i \in S_i) \cap conv(x_i : i \in S_k) \neq \emptyset$, for every $1 \le j < k \le r$.

Reay conjectured that you cannot improve the value given by Tverberg's theorem, namely that

Conjecture 13 (Reay). R(d,r) = (r-1)(d+1) + 1.

Micha A. Perles conjectures that Reay's conjecture is false even for r = 3 for large dimensions, but with Moria Sigron he proved the strongest positive results in the direction of Reay's conjecture.

1.7. Another old problem

Problem 14. How many points T(d; s, t) in \mathbb{R}^d guarantee that they can be divided into two parts so that every union of s convex sets containing the first part has a non empty intersection with every union of t convex sets containing the second part.

I would like to explain why R(d; s, t) is finite. This is a fairly general Ramseytype argument and it gives us an opportunity to mention a few recent important results. The argument has two parts:

- 1) Prove that T(d; s, t) is finite (with good estimates) when the points are in cyclic position.
- 2) Use the fact that for every d and m there is f(d,m) so that among every n points in general position in \mathbb{R}^d , n > f(d,n) one can find m points in cyclic position.

The finiteness follows (with horrible bounds) from these two ingredients by standard Ramsey-type results.

Recently a fairly good understanding of f(d, n) was achieved in a series of beautiful papers,

Theorem 1.

$$f(d,n) = twr_d(\theta(n))$$

Here, twr_d is the *d*-fold tower function. The lower bound is by Suk (improving earlier bounds by Conlon, Fox, Pach, Sudakov and Suk) and the upper bounds are by Bárány, Matousek, and Por.

2. Helly and fractional Helly

2.1. A CONJECTURE BY JIE GAO, MICHAEL LANGBERG, AND LEONARD SCHUL-MAN

I will start with a Helly-type conjecture by Gao, Landberg and Schulman:

For a convex set K in \mathbb{R}^d an ϵ enlargement of K is $K + \epsilon(K - K)$. (Where $K - K = \{x - y : x, y \in K\}$.)

Conjecture 15. For every d, k and ϵ there is some $h = h(d, k, \epsilon)$ with the following property. Let \mathcal{F} be a family of unions of k convex sets. Let \mathcal{F}^{ϵ} be the family obtained by enlarging all the involved convex sets by ϵ .

If every h members of \mathcal{F} have a point in common then all members of \mathcal{F}^{ϵ} have a point in common.

2.2. A NEW EXCITING TOPOLOGICAL HELLY

Let me mention a recent exciting Helly-type theorem by Xavier Goaoc, Pavel Paták, Zuzana Safernová, Martin Tancer and Uli Wagner.

Theorem 2. For every $\gamma > 0$ there is $h(\gamma, d)$ with the following property: Let \mathcal{U} be a family of sets in \mathbb{R}^d . Suppose that for every intersection L of m members of \mathcal{U} and every $i \leq \lfloor d-1/2 \rfloor$, we have $b_i(L) \leq \gamma$. Then if every $h(\gamma, d)$ members of \mathcal{U} have a point in common there is a point in common to all sets in \mathcal{U} .

2.3. FRACTIONAL HELLY

We will mention here two conjectures regarding the fractional Helly property and two related theorems. A class of simplicial complexes is hereditary if it is closed under induced subcomplexes. For a simplicial complex K, $f_i(K)$ is the number of *i*-faces of K, b(K) is the sum of (reduced) Betti numbers of K.

Conjecture 16 (Kalai and Meshulam). Let C > 0 be a positive number. Let \mathcal{K} be the hereditary family of simplicial complexes defined by the property that for every simplicial complex $K \in \mathcal{K}$ with n vertices,

$$b(K) \leq Cn^d$$
.

Then for every $\alpha > 0$ there is $\beta = \beta(d, C) > 0$, with the following property. For $K \in \mathcal{K}$, Then if $f_d(K) \ge \alpha \binom{n}{d+1}$ then $\dim(K) \ge \beta \cdot n$.

The conclusion of the conjecture is referred to as the fractional Helly property of degree d.

Conjecture 17. Let \mathcal{U} be a family of sets in \mathbb{R}^d . Suppose that for every intersection L of m members of \mathcal{K} , $b(L) \leq \gamma M^{d+1}$. Then \mathcal{U} satisfies a fractional Helly property of order d.

Theorem 3 (Bárány and Matoušek). Families of integral points in convex sets in \mathbb{R}^d satisfies a fractional Helly property of order d.

Theorem 4 (Matoušek). Families of sets of bounded VC-dimension in \mathbb{R}^d satisfies a fractional Helly property of order d.

Problem 18. Does Radon theorem imply the fractional Helly property?

3. Two questions by Imre on convex polytopes

Problem 19. Let P be a d-polytope. Is $f_k(P) \ge \max f_0(P), f_{d-1}(P)$?

Problem 20. Is there, for every positive integer d, a constant c_d such that the number of maximal flags of faces for a d-polytope is at most by c_d times the total number of faces (of all dimensions) of P?

Bárány's first question must be correct (or, so I think, most of the times) but we cannot prove it. It falls into a much more general statement called *the generalized upper bound theorem*.

Conjecture 21 (Generalized upper bound conjecture). Let K be a polyhedral complex that can be embedded into \mathbb{R}^d , let C be the boundary complex of a cyclic d-polytope. Then if $f_i(K) \leq f_i(C)$ for some $i \geq 0$ it follows that $f_j(K) \leq f_j(C)$ for every $j \geq i$.

Bárány's second question is very mysterious and I don't know what the answer should be even for d = 5. I would guess that for polyhedral spheres the answer is negative but this remains open as well.

Happy birthday, dear Imre!

Geometric representations and quantum physics

László Lovász 1

Hungarian Academy of Sciences, and Loránd Eötvös University, Budapest

As the basic setup in quantum physics, the state of a physical system can be described by a vector of unit norm in a (complex) Hilbert space; seemingly discrete events like whether the spin of an electron points "up" or "down" are also represented by vectors. Labeling the nodes of a graph by vectors has turned out a natural and very useful tool in graph theory: interesting connections between the combinatorial and geometric structures of vector-labeled graphs have been revealed in the theory of rigidity of bar-and-joint structures, orthogonal representations, and other geometric representations.

The fact that quantum physics assigns vectors to discrete objects like "properties" suggests analogies with geometric representations of graphs. As it turns out, this is more than just an analogy; we describe three problems, where quantum physics makes strong use of the theory of geometric representations.

Entanglement. Consider two quantum systems A and B. Separately, their states can be described by unit vectors $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{C}^d$ and $\mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{C}^e$. The state of the union of the two systems can be described by a vector in the tensor product $\mathbb{C}^d \otimes \mathbb{C}^e$. If the two systems in states \mathbf{x} and \mathbf{y} are "independent" (unentangled), their joint state is $\mathbf{x} \circ \mathbf{y}$, which is then called a *product state*.

Entanglement leads to rather paradoxical behavior of particles; this was pointed out by Einstein, Podolsky and Rosen in 1935. Consider a pair particles with a 2-dimensional state space (say two electrons, whose spin can be either "up" or "down") in the maximally entangled state $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\mathbf{e}_1 \circ \mathbf{e}_1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\mathbf{e}_2 \circ \mathbf{e}_2$. Such a pair is often called an *EPR pair*.

Suppose that Alice and Bob split an EPR pair between themselves (while it remains in the same entangled state), and they travel to different faraway places. If Alice measures the state of her particle, she will find it in one of the states \mathbf{e}_1 and \mathbf{e}_2 with the same probability. Say it is in state \mathbf{e}_1 , then the entangled state collapses to $\mathbf{e}_1 \circ \mathbf{e}_1$ immediately. This seems to mean a long-range action faster than light, contradicting special relativity.

Hidden variables. One way out of this paradox is the theory of *hidden variables*. This interpretation, which arose from the objection to the nondeterministic–random interpretation of quantum events, suggests that if we knew the exact state of each particle (its "hidden parameters"), then we could predict quantum events with certainty.

¹E-mail address: lovasz@cs.elte.hu

Based on the work in [4], we describe a connection between orthogonal representations and the theory of hidden variables. Consider a quantum system, and let e_1, \ldots, e_n be observable events. Construct a graph G on V = [n] in which $ij \in E$ if and only if e_i and e_j are exclusive (cannot occur simultaneously). We call G the *exclusivity graph* of the events.

We start the system in a state \mathbf{u} , and observe an event e_i . As we know, this observation changes the state, so we cannot observe all of the other events. But if we choose the event *i* uniformly at random from the set $\{e_1, \ldots, e_n\}$, and repeat the experiment many times, then we can find the probability *p* that event e_i occurs, experimentally, with arbitrary good precision.

In the classical setting, when e_1, \ldots, e_n are observable events in a probability space (no quantum effects), the number pn would be the expected number of events that occur simultaneously. Hence

$$p \le \frac{\alpha(G)}{n}.\tag{1}$$

The same inequality can be derived in quantum physics, if we assume that it makes sense to talk about the number of events e_i that actually hold in the given experiment. In the "hidden variable" interpretation of quantum physics this is the case. From basic quantum physical principles (not using hidden variables) one can only derive the weaker inequality

$$p \le \frac{\vartheta(G)}{n},\tag{2}$$

using the theta function from graph theory.

Bell was the first to suggest that inequalities related to (1) could be experimentally verified (or rather falsified). In the special case called the Clauser-Horne-Shimony-Holt experiment, two observers do measurements on an EPR pair of particles, observing events whose exclusivity graph is the Wagner graph W_8 . Inequalities (1) and (2) give the bounds $p \leq 0.375$ and $p \leq 0.427...$, respectively.

After a long line of increasingly sophisticated experiments, recent reports claim to have eliminated all the implicit assumptions ("loopholes"), and show that the bound (1) does not hold in general. The experiment in [7] provides the value $p \approx 0.401$. This value is about half way between the bounds above, and it can be considered as a disproof of the "hidden variable" interpretation of quantum physics (at least in its basic form).

Capacity of quantum channels. The most successful area of applying quantum physics in computer science has been quantum information theory. While splitting an EPR pair cannot be used to transmit information faster than light, such a strange behavior can be utilized to create communication channels more efficient than classical communication channels [5].

One can generalize the Shannon capacity to quantum information theory. It turns out [2, 6] that the theta function provides an upper bound on the quantum physical version Shannon capacity just like it does for classical channels.

Unextendible product systems. This application of orthogonal representations leads to the construction of highly entangled states. Consider a system of mutually orthogonal product states in $\mathbb{H} = \mathbb{C}^{d_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{C}^{d_k}$. Such a system is *unextendible*, if there is no product state orthogonal to all of them. Unextendible product systems were introduced in [3] in order to construct highly entangled states.

The standard basis in \mathbb{H} is a trivial example. Our goal is to construct an unextendible product system as small as possible. It is not hard to see that the cardinality n of such a system must satisfy $n \ge 1 + \sum_{i=1}^{m} (d_i - 1)$. It was shown in [1] that in the case of equality, the existence (and construction) of an unextendible product system can be translated to a pure graph-theoretic condition:

There exists an unextendible product system with n elements if and only if there exists a decomposition $K_n = G_1 \cup \cdots \cup G_m$ into edge-disjoint graphs such that G_i does not contain a complete bipartite subgraph with $d_i + 1$ nodes $(i = 1, \ldots, m)$.

The proof is based on orthogonal representations of graphs. Condition $n = 1 + \sum_{i=1}^{m} (d_i - 1)$ is not always sufficient for the existence of such a decomposition of K_n : if n is odd and any d_i is even, or m = 2 and $d_1 = 2 \le d_2$, then there is no decomposition as above. It was shown in [1] that these are the only exceptional cases.

References

- N. Alon and L. Lovász, Unextendible product bases, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 95 (2001), 169–179.
- [2] S. Beigi, Entanglement-assisted zero-error capacity is upper bounded by the Lovasz theta function, Phys. Rev. A 82 (2010), 010303(R).
- [3] C. H. Bennett, D. P. DiVincenzo, T. Mor, P. W. Shor, J. A. Smolin and B. M. Terhal, Unextendible product bases and bound entanglement, Phys. Rev. Lett. 82 (1999), 5385.
- [4] A. Cabello, S. Severini, and A. Winter, Graph-Theoretic Approach to Quantum Correlations, Phys. Rev. Lett. 112 (2014), 040401.
- [5] T. S. Cubitt, D. Leung, W. Matthews, and A. Winter, Improving zero-error classical communication with entanglement, Phys. Rev. Lett. 104 (2010), 230503.
- [6] T. S. Cubitt, D. Leung, W. Matthews, and A. Winter, Zero-error channel capacity and simulation assisted by non-local correlations, IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory 57 (2011), 5509– 5523.
- B. Hensen et al., Loophole-free Bell inequality violation using electron spins separated by 1.3 kilometres, Nature 526 (2015), 682–686.

How small orbits of periodic homeomorphisms of spheres can be?

Luis Montejano¹

Instituto de Matemáticas, UNAM

EVGENY VITALEVICH SHCHEPIN

Steklov Mathematical Institute, Russian Academy of Sciences

Dedicated to Imre Bárány.

1. INTRODUCTION

A well known theorem of Newman [1] states that periodic homeomorphisms of manifolds cannot have all orbits small. The purpose of this talk is to make this result precise for the case of spheres by exploring how small orbits of periodic homeomorphisms of the sphere can be. Our methods uses techniques form topology and discrete geometry.

We will denote by \mathbb{S}^n the unit sphere of euclidean space \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . Let $h: \mathbb{S}^n \to \mathbb{S}^n$ be a homeomorphism, we will denote by $h^i: \mathbb{S}^n \to \mathbb{S}^n$ the *i*-th iteration of h and we will suppose that h^0 is the identity. A homeomorphism $h: \mathbb{S}^n \to \mathbb{S}^n$ is *periodic* if h^n is the identity for some integer n > 1. The minimal integer n > 1 for which h^n is the identity is called the *period* of h. For every $x \in \mathbb{S}^n$ the set

$${h^i(x)}_{i>0}$$

is called the *orbit* of x and it is denoted by $h^*(x)$.

The norm ||h||, of a homeomorphism $h: \mathbb{S}^n \to \mathbb{S}^n$ is defined as its distance from the origin, that is, $||h|| = \sup\{||h(x) - x|| \mid x \in \mathbb{S}^n\}$, and the *orbital diameter* $\Theta(h)$, of h is defined as the maximal diameter of its orbits. We will be mainly interested in lower estimations of these two metric characteristics of periodic homeomorphism.

Let us denote by ρ_n the length of the side of a planar regular *n*-gon inscribed in the unit circle \mathbb{S}^1 and by d_n its diameter. Finally, let us denote by τ_n the length of the edge of a regular (n + 1)-simplex inscribed in \mathbb{S}^n .

2. The topological result

Let $h: \mathbb{S}^n \to \mathbb{S}^n$ be a homeomorphism of period p. An orbit $h^*(x)$ is balanced if its barycentre coincide with the centre of the sphere, that is, if

$$\sum_{1}^{p} h^{i}(x) = 0.$$

¹E-mail address: luis@matem.unam.mx

For every periodic homeomorphism h without balanced orbits we define its *barycentric mapping* $\beta : \mathbb{S}^n \to \mathbb{S}^n$ as:

$$\beta(x) = \frac{\sum_{1}^{p} h^{i}(x)}{\|\sum_{1}^{p} h^{i}(x)\|},$$

for every $x \in \mathbb{S}^n$. Note that β is well defined and continuous.

Our main topological result is the following:

Theorem 1. Let $h : \mathbb{S}^n \to \mathbb{S}^n$ be a periodic homeomorphism of prime period p, without balanced orbits and let $\beta : \mathbb{S}^n \to \mathbb{S}^n$ be its barycentric mapping. Then, the degree of β is divisible by p.

Proof. Let us denote by \mathbb{S}^n/h the orbit space of h and by $\Pi : \mathbb{S}^n \to \mathbb{S}^n/h$ the natural projection. Because p is prime, all non fixed points of h have orbits consisting of p elements. Hence the complement of the set of fixed points, in the orbit space is a manifold.

Next, it is possible to approximate $\beta \Pi^{-1} : \mathbb{S}^n / h \to \mathbb{S}^n$ arbitrarily close by mappings $q: \mathbb{S}^n/h \to \mathbb{S}^n$ with the property that the restriction $q \mid q^{-1}(V) \to V$ is a finite covering map, where V is an open subset of \mathbb{S}^n in the complement of the set of fixed points. If g is sufficiently close to $\beta \Pi^{-1}$, then β is homotopic to $g \Pi$ and hence we can use $q\Pi$ and the fact that the restriction $q\Pi \models \Pi^{-1}(q^{-1}(V) \rightarrow V)$ is a finite covering map to calculate the degree of β . Note that the degree of $g\Pi$ is the sum of the signs of the preimages of a point in V, where the sign of a preimage is +1 if the orientation is locally preserved and -1 if the orientation is locally reversed. If h is an orientation preserving homeomorphism, the corresponding sum for the finite covering map $\Pi \models \Pi^{-1}(q^{-1}(V) \to V \text{ is } p$, because all elements of the same orbit have the same sign, therefore the whole sum for $q\Pi$ is a multiple of p. This implies that in this case the degree of h is divisible by p. If p > 2, then h is an orientation preserving homeomorphism and hence the degree of β is divisible by p. If p = 2 and h is a orientation reversing homeomorphism, then h has a balanced orbit, otherwise h is homotopic to the identity.

The first consequence of our main theorem is the following well known fact [3].

Corollary 2. Let $h : \mathbb{S}^n \to \mathbb{S}^n$ be a periodic homeomorphism of period 2. Then there exists an $x \in \mathbb{S}^n$ such that h(x) = -x.

For homeomorphism of prime period greater than 2, we have the analogous result

Corollary 3. Let $h : \mathbb{S}^n \to \mathbb{S}^n$ be a periodic homeomorphism of prime period p. Then, there is a point $x \in \mathbb{S}^n$ and $\lambda \ge 1$ such that

$$\lambda x + \sum_{1}^{p-1} h^i(x) = 0.$$

In particular, there exists an $x \in \mathbb{S}^n$ such that the origin lies in the convex hull of $h^*(x)$.

Proof. Suppose not. Hence $\sum_{1}^{p} h^{i}(x) \neq 0$, for every $x \in \mathbb{S}^{n}$ and therefore, by Theorem 2.1, the barycentric mapping β of h is well defined and hence has degree divisible by p. In particular, β is not homotopic to identify. Consequently there is $x \in \mathbb{S}^{n}$ with the property that $\beta(x) = -x$, that is $\sum_{1}^{p} h^{i}(x) = -\delta x$, for $\delta > 0$, but hence $(1 + \delta)x + \sum_{1}^{p-1} h^{i}(x) = 0$.

3. The discrete geometric results

Theorem 4. Let $\{x_1 \ldots x_p\} \subset \mathbb{S}^n$ be such that $\lambda x_1 + \sum_2^p x_i = 0$, for some $\lambda \ge 1$, and for $1 \le i \le p$ suppose that $||x_{i+1} - x_i||$ is smaller or equal that ρ_p , the length of the side of a planar regular p-gon inscribed in the unit circle \mathbb{S}^1 , where $x_{p+1} = x_p$. Then, $\{x_1 \ldots x_p\}$ are the vertices of a planar regular p-gon inscribed in a maximal circle of \mathbb{S}^n .

Proof. Intuitively the proof of the theorem consists of hanging the set $\{x_1 \ldots x_p\}$ from the north pole. Let $\{q_1 \ldots q_p\} \in \mathbb{S}^1 \in \mathbb{S}^n$ be the ordered vertices of a regular convex p-gon. Suppose first that p = 2k. Assume without loss of generality that $x_1 = p_1 = (1, 0, \ldots, 0)$. Let $\pi : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to \mathbb{R}^1$ be the orthogonal projection. Since $||x_{i+1} - x_i|| \leq \rho_p$, for every $i = 1, \ldots, p$ and $x_1 = p_1 = (1, 0, \ldots, 0)$, we have that $\pi(q_{p-1}) \leq \pi(x_{p-1})$ and $\pi(q_2) \leq \pi(x_2)$. By the same reason, $\pi(q_i) \leq \pi(x_i)$, for $i = 1, \ldots, p$. Since by hypothesis $\sum_{1}^{p} \pi(x_i) \leq 0 = \sum_{1}^{p} \pi(q_i)$, then $\pi(q_i) = \pi(x_i)$, $i = 1, \ldots, p$. Consequently $||x_{i+1} - x_i|| = \rho_p$, for $i = 1, \ldots, p$. Furthermore, we have that $\{x_1 \ldots x_{k+1}\}$ lies in a plane and similarly $\{x_{k+1} \ldots x_{2k}\}$ lies in a plane. Finally in order to show that the set $\{x_1 \ldots x_{2k}\}$ is planar note that its barycentre lies in \mathbb{R}^1 . The case p = 2k + 1 is similar.

Next, we have the following Jung's Theorem for spheres.

Theorem 5. Let $F \subset \mathbb{S}^n$ be a set with diameter smaller that τ_n , the length of the edge of a regular (n+1)-simplex inscribed in \mathbb{S}^n . Then F is contained in a spherical n-disk cap of radius δ_n , $\delta_n^2 + \tau_n^2 = 4$. In particular, the convex hull of F does not contain the origin.

4. Our results on periodic homeomorphism of sphere

Theorem 6. Let $h: \mathbb{S}^n \to \mathbb{S}^n$ be a periodic homeomorphism of prime period p. Then

 $\|h\| \ge \rho_p.$

Furthermore, if $||h|| = \rho_p$, then there is a point $x \in \mathbb{S}^n$ such that its orbit $h^*(x)$ consists of a planar regular p-gon inscribed in a maximal circle of \mathbb{S}^n .

The proof of Theorem 4.1 follows immediately from Corollary 2.2 and Theorem 3.1. The next theorem gives a bound for the orbital diameter in terms of the dimension n.

Theorem 7. Let $h: \mathbb{S}^n \to \mathbb{S}^n$ be a periodic homeomorphism and let τ_n be the length of the edge of a regular (n+1)-simplex inscribed in \mathbb{S}^n . Then

$$\Theta(h) \ge \tau_n$$

Furthermore, for $n \neq 1, 3, 7$,

$$\Theta(h) \geq \tau_{n-1}.$$

The proof of the first part of Theorem 4.2 follows from Corollary 2.2 and Theorem 3.2. The second part is more delicate. Assuming the oposite, Carathéodory's Theorem is used to give a trivialization of the tangent space of \mathbb{S}^n , which implies that \mathbb{S}^n is parallelizable. This is a contradiction because $n \neq 1, 3, 7$.

In the case in which the period is prime we conjecture that the orbital diameter of a homeomorphism $h : \mathbb{S}^n \to \mathbb{S}^n$ is at least d_p , the diameter of a planar regular *p*-gon inscribed in the unit circle \mathbb{S}^1 . In this direction we have:

Theorem 8. Let $h: \mathbb{S}^1 \to \mathbb{S}^1$ be a periodic homeomorphism of prime period p. Then

 $\Theta(h) \ge d_p.$

Theorem 9. Let $h: \mathbb{S}^n \to \mathbb{S}^n$ be a periodic homeomorphism of prime period 3. Then

$$\Theta(h) \ge d_3 = \sqrt{3}.$$

Theorem 10. Let $h : \mathbb{S}^1 \to \mathbb{S}^1$ be a periodic isometry of prime period p, different from the identity. Then

$$\Theta(h) = d_p.$$

For example, the isometries of of \mathbb{S}^3 of period 5 are basically the rotations around a plane, the product with the quaternionics and the homeomorphism produced by a cyclic permutation of a 4-simplex

Question. Does there exist a periodic homeomorphism of \mathbb{S}^3 of period 5 such that the convex hull of any orbit is a non degenerate 4-simplex containing the origin on its interior.
References

- M. H. A. Newman, A theorem on periodic transformations of spaces, Quart. J. Math. 2 (1931), 1–8.
- [2] L. Montejano and E.V. Shchepin, On periodic homeomorphisms of spheres, Algebraic and Geometric Topology 1 (2001), 435–444.
- [3] D. Montgomery and L. Zippin, *Topological Transformation groups*, Interscience, New York, 1955.

Random normal vectors are normal

HOI H. NGUYEN¹

The Ohio State University, and the Institute for Advanced Studies, Princeton

VAN H. VU^2

Yale University

To Imre Bárány for his 70th birthday.

Abstract

Let $\mathbf{v}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{v}_{n-1}$ be n-1 iid vectors in \mathbb{R}^n (or \mathbb{C}^n), chosen from a general distribution. We study \mathbf{x} , the unit normal vector of the hyperplane spanned by the \mathbf{v}_i . Our main result confirms the natural conjecture that this normal vector looks like a random vector chosen uniformly from the unit sphere. In other words, it looks like a random vector with iid normal coordinates.

Our result has applications in random matrix theory. Consider an $n \times n$ random matrix with iid entries. We first prove an exponential bound on the upper tail for the least singular value, improving the earlier linear bound by Rudelson and Vershynin. Next, we derive optimal delocalization for the eigenvectors corresponding to eigenvalues of small modulus.

1. INTRODUCTION

Let $\mathbf{v}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{v}_{n-1}$ be n-1 iid vectors in \mathbb{R}^n (or \mathbb{C}^n), chosen from a general distribution. Our object of study is the (random) hyperplane H spanned by these vectors.

As all information about a hyperplane is contained in its normal vector, the problem reduces to understanding \mathbf{x} , the unit normal vector of H. In this paper, we are going to assume that the coordinates of the \mathbf{v}_i are iid copies of a random variable ξ with mean zero and variance 1. In matrix term, we let $A = (a_{ij})_{1 \le i \le n-1, 1 \le j \le n}$ be a random matrix of size n-1 by n where the entries a_{ij} are iid copies of ξ ; the \mathbf{v}_i are the row vectors of A. Let $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in \mathbf{F}^n$ be a unit vector that is orthogonal to the \mathbf{v}_i (Here and later \mathbf{F} is either \mathbb{R} or \mathbf{C} , depending on the support of ξ .) Recent studies in the singularity probability of random non-Hermitian matrices (see for instance [6, 25]) show that under very general conditions on ξ , with extremely high probability A has rank n-1. In this case \mathbf{x} is uniquely determined up to the sign ± 1 when $\mathbf{F} = \mathbb{R}$ or by a uniformly chosen rotation $\exp(\mathbf{i}\theta)$ when $\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{C}$. Throughout the

¹Supported by NSF grants DMS-1358648, DMS-1128155 and CCF-1412958. E-mail address: nguyen.1261@math.osu.edu

²Supported by NSF grant DMS-1307797 and AFORS grant FA9550-12-1-0083. E-mail address: van.vu@yale.edu

paper, we use asymptotic notation under the assumption that n tends to infinity. In particular, X = O(Y), $X \ll Y$, or $Y \gg X$ means that $|X| \leq CY$ for some fixed C.

When the entries of A are iid standard Gaussian $\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{F}}$, it is not hard to see that \mathbf{x} is distributed as a random unit vector sampled according to the Haar measure in S^{n-1} of \mathbf{F}^n . One then deduces the following properties (see for instance [24][Section 2])

Theorem 1 (Random gaussian vector). Let \mathbf{x} be a random vector uniformly distributed on the unit sphere S^{n-1} . Then,

• (joint distribution of the coordinates) \mathbf{x} can be represented as

$$\mathbf{x} \coloneqq \left(\frac{\xi_1}{S}, \dots, \frac{\xi_n}{S}\right) \tag{1}$$

where ξ_i are iid standard Gaussian $\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{F}}$, and $S = \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^n |\xi_i|^2}$;

• (inner product with a fixed vector) for any fixed vector **u** on the unit sphere,

$$\sqrt{n}\mathbf{x}^*\mathbf{u} \stackrel{d}{\to} \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{F}};$$
 (2)

• (the largest coordinate) for any C > 0, with probability at least $1 - n^{-C}$

$$\|\mathbf{x}\|_{\infty} \le \sqrt{\frac{8(C+1)^3 \log n}{n}};\tag{3}$$

• (the smallest coordinate) for $n \ge 2$, any $0 \le c < 1$, and any a > 1,

$$\|\mathbf{x}\|_{\min} = \min\{|x_1|, \dots, |x_n|\} \ge \frac{c}{a} \frac{1}{n^{3/2}}$$
 (4)

with probability at least $\exp(-2c) - \exp\left(-\frac{a^2 - \sqrt{2a^2 - 1}}{2}n\right)$.

It is natural to expect that even when ξ is not Gaussian, **x** still looks like a random vector from the unit sphere. The goal of this notes is to quantitatively confirm this belief. We say that ξ is sub-gaussian if there exists a parameter $K_0 > 1$ such that for all t

$$\mathcal{P}(|\xi| \ge t) = O(\exp(-\frac{t^2}{K_0})).$$
(5)

Definition 1 (Frequent events). Let \mathcal{E} be an event depending on n (which is assumed to be sufficiently large).

- \mathcal{E} holds asymptotically almost surely if $\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{E}) = 1 o(1)$.
- \mathcal{E} holds with high probability if there exists a positive constant δ such that $\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{E}) \geq 1 n^{-\delta}$.
- \mathcal{E} holds with overwhelming probability, and write $\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{E}) = 1 n^{-\omega(1)}$, if for any K > 0, with sufficiently large n, $\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{E}) \ge 1 n^{-K}$.

We are now ready to state the main theorem.

Theorem 2 (Main result). Suppose that $A = (a_{ij})_{1 \le i \le n-1, 1 \le j \le n}$, where a_{ij} are iid copies of a normalized sub-gaussian random variable ξ . Let \mathbf{x} be the normal vector of the rows of A, then the followings hold.

• (the largest coordinate) There are constants $C, C_1 > 0$ such that for any $m \ge C_1 \log n$

$$\mathcal{P}(\|\mathbf{x}\|_{\infty} \ge \sqrt{m/n}) \le Cn^2 \exp(-m/C).$$
(6)

In particularly, for any $\alpha > 0$ there exists a constant C_{α} such that

$$\mathcal{P}(\|\mathbf{x}\|_{\infty} \ge C_{\alpha} \sqrt{\frac{\log n}{n}}) \le n^{-\alpha}.$$

• (the smallest coordinate) with high probability

$$\|\mathbf{x}\|_{\min} \ge \frac{1}{n^{3/2} \log^{O(1)} n}.$$
(7)

• (joint distribution of the coordinates) There exists a positive constant c such that the following holds: for any d-tuple (i_1, \ldots, i_m) , with $d = n^c$, the joint law of the tuple $(\sqrt{n}x_{i_1}, \ldots, \sqrt{n}x_{i_d})$ is asymptotically independent standard normal. More precisely, there exists a positive constant c' such that for any measurable set $\Omega \in \mathbf{F}^d$,

$$|\mathcal{P}((\sqrt{n}x_{i_1},\ldots,\sqrt{n}x_{i_d})\in\Omega) - \mathcal{P}((\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{F},1},\ldots,\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{F},d})\in\Omega)| \le d^{-c'}, \quad (8)$$

where $\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{F},1}, \ldots, \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{F},d}$ are iid standard Gaussian.

• (inner product with a fixed vector) Assume furthermore that ξ is symmetric, then for any fixed vector **u** on the unit sphere,

$$\sqrt{n}\mathbf{x}^*\mathbf{u} \stackrel{d}{\to} \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{F}}.$$
(9)

It also follows easily from (6) and (8) that with high probability $\|\mathbf{x}\|_{\infty} = \Theta(\sqrt{\frac{\log n}{n}})$. Indeed, it is clear that with high probability, with $m = n^c$ for some sufficiently small $c, \max\{|\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{F},1}|, \dots, |\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{F},m}|\} \gg \sqrt{\log m} = \sqrt{c \log n}$. Thus by (8), with high probability $\max\{|x_1|, \dots, |x_m|\} \gg \sqrt{\frac{\log n}{n}}$. Our approach can be extended to unit vectors orthogonal to the rows of an iid

Our approach can be extended to unit vectors orthogonal to the rows of an iid matrix A of size $(n - k) \times n$, for any fixed k or even k grows slowly with n; the details will appear in a later paper.

As random hyperplanes appear frequently in various areas, including random matrix theory, high dimensional geometry, statistics, and theoretical computer science, we expect that Theorem 2 will be useful.

For the rest of this section, we discuss two direct applications in random matrix theory; we also refer the reader to the works of Garnaev-Gluskin [18] and of Kashin [20] for a different version of delocalization, which has found fundamental applications in compressive sensing.

2. Tail bound for the least singular value of a random IID MATRIX

Given an $n \times n$ random matrix $M_n(\xi)$ with entries being iid copies of a normalized variable ξ . Let $\sigma_1 \geq \cdots \geq \sigma_n \geq 0$ be its singular values. The two extremal σ_1 and σ_n are of special interest, and was studied by Goldstein and von Neumann, as they tried to analyze the running time of solving a system of random equations $M_n x = b$.

In [17], Goldstein and von Neumann speculated that σ_n is of order $n^{-1/2}$, which turned out to be correct. In particular, $\sqrt{n\sigma_n}$ tends to a limiting distribution, which was computed explicitly by Edelman in [8] in the gaussian case.

Theorem 3. For any $t \ge 0$ we have

$$\mathcal{P}(\sigma_n(M_{\mathbf{g}_{\mathbb{R}}}) \le tn^{-1/2}) = \int_0^t \frac{1 + \sqrt{x}}{2\sqrt{x}} e^{-x/2 + \sqrt{x}} dx + o(1)$$

as well as

$$\mathcal{P}(\sigma_n(M_{\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{C}}}) \le tn^{-1/2}) = \int_0^t e^{-x} dx.$$

In other words, $\mathcal{P}(\sigma_n(M_{\mathbf{g}_{\mathbb{R}}}) \leq tn^{-1/2}) = 1 - e^{-t/2 + \sqrt{t}} + o(1)$ and $\mathcal{P}(\sigma_n(M_{\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{C}}}) \leq tn^{-1/2}) = 1 - e^{-t}$. These distributions have been confirmed to be universal (in the asymptotic sense) by Tao and the second author [34].

In applications, one usually needs large deviation results, which show that the probability that σ_n is far from its mean is very small. For the lower bound, Rudelson and Vershyin [25] proved that for any t > 0

$$\mathcal{P}(\sigma_n \le t n^{-1/2}) \le Ct + .999^n,\tag{10}$$

which is sharp up to the constant C. For the upper bound, in a different paper [27], the same authors showed

$$\mathcal{P}(\sigma_n \ge t n^{-1/2}) \le C \frac{\log t}{t}.$$
(11)

Using Theorem 2, we improve this result significantly by proving an exponential tail bound.

Theorem 4 (Exponential upper tail for the least singular values). Assume that the entries of $M_n = (m_{ij})_{1 \le i,j \le n}$ are iid copies of a normalized sub-gaussian random variable ξ in either \mathbb{R} or \mathbb{C} . Then there exist absolute constants C_1, C_2 depending on K_0 such that

$$\mathcal{P}(\sigma_n \ge t n^{-1/2}) \le C_1 \exp(-C_2 t).$$

Our proof of Theorem 4 is totally different from that of [27]. As showed in the gaussian case, the exponential bound is sharp, up to the value of C_2 .

3. Eigenvectors of random iid matrices

Our theorem is closely related to (and in fact was motivated by) recent results concerning delocalization and normality of eigenvectors of random matrices. For random Hermitian matrices, there have been many results achieving almost optimal delocalization of eigenvectors, starting with the work [16] by Erdős et al. and and continued by Tao et al. and by many others in [35, 39, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 38, 2, 3, 4]. Thanks to new universality techniques, one also proved normality of the eigenvectors; see for instance the work [21] by Knowles and Yin, [36] by Tao and Vu, and [5] by Bourgade and Yau.

For non-Hermitian random matrix $M_n(\xi) = (m_{ij})_{1 \le i,j \le n}$, much less is known. Let $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n$ be the eigenvalues with $|\lambda_1| \ge \cdots \ge |\lambda_n|$. Let $\mathbf{v}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{v}_n$ be the corresponding unit eigenvectors (where \mathbf{v}_i are chosen according to the Haar measure from the eigensphere if the corresponding roots are multiple). Recently, Rudelson and Vershynin [29] proved that with overwhelming probability all of the eigenvectors satisfy

$$\|\mathbf{v}_i\|_{\infty} = O(\frac{\log^{9/2} n}{\sqrt{n}}). \tag{12}$$

By modifying the proof of Theorem 2, we are able sharpen this bound for eigenvectors of eigenvalues with small modulus.

Theorem 5 (Optimal delocalization for small eigenvectors). Assume that the entries of $M_n = (m_{ij})_{1 \le i,j \le n}$ are iid copies of a normalized sub-gaussian random variable ξ in either \mathbb{R} or \mathbb{C} . Then for any fixed $\varepsilon > 0$, with overwhelming probability the following holds for any unit eigenvector \mathbf{x} corresponding to an eigenvalue λ of A with $|\lambda| = O(1)$

$$\|\mathbf{x}\|_{\infty} = O(\sqrt{\frac{\log n}{n}}).$$

We believe that the individual eigenvector in Theorem 5 satisfies the normality property (8), which would imply that the bound $O(\sqrt{\frac{\log n}{n}})$ is optimal up to a multiplicative constant. Figure 1 below shows that the first coordinate of the eigenvector corresponding to the smallest eigenvalue behaves like a gaussian random variable.



Figure 1: We sampled 1000 random complex iid Bernoulli matrices of size n = 500. The histograms represent the normalized real and imaginary parts $\sqrt{2n}\Re(\mathbf{v}(1))$ and $\sqrt{2n}\Im(\mathbf{v}(1))$ of the first coordinate of the unit eigenvector \mathbf{v} associated with the eigenvalue of smallest modulus.

Finally, let us mention that all of our results hold (with logarithmic correction) under a weaker assumption that the variable ξ is sub-exponential, namely there are positive constants C, C' and α such that for all t, we have $\mathcal{P}(|\xi| \ge t) \le C \exp(-C't^{\alpha})$. The detailed proofs and more discussion can be found in [23].

Acknowledgements. The authors are thankful to K. Wang for helpful discussion. They are also grateful to A. Knowles with help of references.

References

- R. Adamczak, D. Chafai, and P. Wolff, Circular law for random matrices with exchangeable entries, Random Structures & Algorithms, 48 (2016), 3, 454-479.
- [2] F. Benaych-Georges and S. Péché, Localization and delocalization for heavy tailed band matrices, Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincaré, 50 (2014), 4, 1385-1403.
- [3] A. Bloemendal, L Erdős, A. Knowles, H.T. Yau, and J. Yin, Isotropic local laws for sample covariance and generalized Wigner matrices, Electronic Journal of Probability, 19 (2014), 33-53.
- [4] C. Bordenave and A. Guionnet, Localization and delocalization of eigenvectors for heavytailed random matrices, Probability Theory and Related Fields, 157 (2013), 885-953.

- [5] P. Bourgade and H.-T. Yau, The eigenvector moment flow and local quantum unique ergodicity, to appear in Communications in Mathematical Physics, arxiv.org/abs/1312.05301.
- [6] J. Bourgain, P. Matchett, and V. Vu, On the singularity probability of discrete random matrices, Journal of Functional Analysis 258 (2010), no.2, 559-603.
- [7] C. Cacciapuoti, A. Maltsev, and B. Schlein, Local Marchenko-Pastur law at the hard edge of sample covariance matrices, Journal of Mathematical Physics, 54 (2013), 043302.
- [8] A. Edelman, Eigenvalues and condition numbers of random matrices, SIAM J. Matrix Anal. Appl. 9 (1988), no. 4, 543-560.
- [9] L. Erdős and A. Knowles, Quantum diffusion and eigenfunction delocalization in a random band matrix model, Communication in Mathematical Physics, 303 (2011), 509-554.
- [10] L. Erdős and A. Knowles, Quantum diffusion and delocalization for band matrices with general distribution, Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincaré, 12 (2011), 1227-1319.
- [11] L. Erdős, A. Knowles, H.-T. Yau, and J. Yin, Delocalization and diffusion profile for random band matrices, Communication in Mathematical Physics, 323 (2013), 1, 367-416.
- [12] L. Erdős, A. Knowles, H.-T. Yau, and J. Yin, Spectral statistics of Erdős-Rényi graphs I: local semicircle law, Annals of Probability, 41 (2013), no. 3B, 2279-2375.
- [13] L. Erdős, A. Knowles, H.-T. Yau, and J. Yin, Spectral statistics of Erdős-Rényi graphs II: eigenvalue spacing and the extreme eigenvalues, Communication in Mathematical Physics, 314 (2012), no. 3, 587-640.
- [14] L. Erdős, B. Schlein, and H.-T. Yau, Semicircle law on short scales and delocalization of eigenvectors for Wigner random matrices, Annals of Probability, 37 (2009), 815-852.
- [15] L. Erdős, B. Schlein, and H.-T. Yau, Local semicircle law and complete delocalization for Wigner random matrices, Communication in Mathematical Physics, 287 (2009), 641-655.
- [16] L. Erdős, B. Schlein, and H.-T. Yau, Wegner estimate and level repulsion for Wigner random matrices, International Mathematics Research Notices, 2010, 436-479.
- [17] H. Goldstine and J. von Neumann, Numerical inverting of matrices of high order, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 53 (1947), 1021-1099.
- [18] A. Garnaev and E. D. Gluskin, The widths of a Euclidean ball, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 277 (1984), 1048-1052.
- [19] D. L. Hanson and E. T. Wright, A bound on tail probabilities for quadratic forms in independent random variables, Ann. Math. Statist., 42 (1971), 1079-1083.
- [20] B. S. Kashin, Diameters of certain finite-dimensional sets in classes of smooth functions, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Mat., 41 (1977), 334-351.
- [21] A. Knowles and J. Yin, Eigenvector distribution of Wigner matrices, Probability Theory and Related Fields, 155 (2013), No. 3, 543-582.
- [22] H. Nguyen and V. Vu, Random matrices: law of the determinant, Annals of Probability, (2014), Vol. 42 (2014), No. 1, 146-167.
- [23] H. Nguyen and V. Vu, Normal vector of a random hyperplane, https://arxiv.org/abs/ 1604.04897; to appear in IMRN.
- [24] S. O'Rourke, V. Vu, and K. Wang, Eigenvectors of random matrices: a survey, http:// arxiv.org/abs/1601.03678.
- [25] M. Rudelson and R. Vershynin, The Littlewood-Offord problem and invertibility of random matrices, Advances in Mathematics, 218 (2008), no. 2, 600-633.

- [26] M. Rudelson and R. Vershynin, Smallest singular value of a random rectangular matrix, Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics, 62 (2009), 1707-1739.
- [27] M. Rudelson and R. Vershynin, The least singular value of a random square matrix is $O(n^{-1/2})$, Comptes rendus de l'Académie des sciences Mathématique **346** (2008), 893-896.
- [28] M. Rudelson and R. Vershynin, Hanson-Wright inequality and sub-gaussian concentration, Electronic Communications in Probability, 18 (2013), 1-9.
- [29] M. Rudelson and R. Vershynin, Delocalization of eigenvectors of random matrices with independent entries, Duke Mathematical Journal, to appear, arXiv:1306.2887.
- [30] M. Shub and S. Smale, Complexity of Bezout's theorem II: volumes and probabilities, Computational Algebraic Geometry, in: Progr. Math., vol. 109, Birkhouser, 1993, pp. 267-285.
- [31] T. Tao, Topics in random matrix theory, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, 132, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2012.
- [32] T. Tao and V. Vu, Smooth analysis of the condition number and the least singular value, Mathematics of Computation, 79 (2010), 2333-2352.
- [33] T. Tao and V. Vu, Random matrices: universality of ESDs and the circular law, Annals of Probability, 38 (2010), no. 5 2023-2065, with an appendix by M. Krishnapur.
- [34] T. Tao and V. Vu, Random matrices: the distribution of the smallest singular values, Geometric and Functional Analysis 20 (2010), no. 1, 260-297.
- [35] T. Tao and V. Vu, Random matrices: universality of local eigenvalue statistics, Acta Mathematica, 206 (2011), 127-204.
- [36] T. Tao and V. Vu, Random matrices: universal properties of eigenvectors, Random Matrices Theory Application, 1 (2012), no. 1.
- [37] T. Tao and V. Vu, Random matrices: The Universality phenomenon for Wigner ensembles, Modern Aspects of Random Matrix Theory, Proceedings of Symposia in Applied Mathematics, 2014: Vol. 72.
- [38] L. Tran, V. Vu, and K. Wang, Sparse random graphs: eigenvalues and eigenvectors, Random Structures & Algorithms, 42 (2013), 110-134.
- [39] V. Vu and K. Wang, Random weighted projections, random quadratic forms and random eigenvectors, Random Structures & Algorithms, 47 (2015), 792-821.

Families of curves with many touchings

János Pach $^{\rm 1}$

École Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne and Alfréd Rényi Institute of Mathematics, Hungarian Academy of Sciences

Géza Tóth 2

Alfréd Rényi Institute of Mathematics, Hungarian Academy of Sciences

Abstract

Consider a family of n continuous open curves in the plane, no three of which pass through the same point and no two of which intersect in infinitely many points. We say that a pair of curves is *touching* if they have only one interior point in common and at this point the first curve does not get from one side of the second curve to its other side. Otherwise, if the two curves intersect, they are said to form a *crossing* pair. Let t and c denote the number of touching pairs and crossing pairs, respectively. We prove that $c \geq \frac{1}{10^5} \frac{t^2}{n^2}$, provided that $t \geq 10n$.

Dedicated to Imre Bárány on his 70th birthday.

1. INTRODUCTION

In the context of the theory of topological graphs and graph drawing, many interesting questions have been raised concerning the adjacency structure of a family of curves in the plane or in another surface [5]. In particular, during the past four decades, various important properties of string graphs (i.e., intersection graphs of curves in the plane) have been discovered, and the study of different crossing numbers of graphs and their relations to one another has become a vast area of research. A useful tool in these investigations is the so-called crossing lemma of Ajtai, Chvátal, Newborn, Szemerédi and Leighton [1, 6]. It states the following: Given a graph of n vertices and e > 4n edges, no matter how we draw it in the plane by not necessarily straight-line edges, there are at least constant times e^3/n^2 crossing pairs of edges.

This lemma has inspired a number of results establishing the existence of many crossing subconfigurations of a given type in sufficiently rich geometric or topological structures. Another statement in similar spirit is the following extension of the

¹Supported by Swiss National Science Foundation Grants 200021-165977 and 200020-162884. E-mail address: pach@renyi.hu; pach@cims.nyu.edu

²Supported by National Research, Development and Innovation Office, NKFIH, K-111827. E-mail address: geza@renyi.hu

Boros–Füredi–Bárány theorem: For every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $\varepsilon' > 0$ such that given a family of εn^3 triangles spanned by n points in the plane, one can always find $\varepsilon' n^3$ of them that have a point in common; see [3, 2].

In this note, we will be concerned with families of curves in the plane. By a *curve*, we mean a non-selfintersecting continuous arc in the plane, that is, a homeomorphic image of the open interval (0,1). Two curves are said to *touch* each other if they have precisely one point in common and at this point the first curve does not pass from one side of the second curve to the other. Any other pair of curves with nonempty intersection is called *crossing*. A family of curves is in *general position* if any two of them intersect in a finite number of points and no three pass through the same point.

The aim of this note to prove the following theorem.

Theorem. Consider a family of n curves in general position in the plane which determines t touching pairs and c crossing pairs.

If $t \ge 10n$, then we have $c \ge \frac{1}{10^5} \frac{t^2}{n^2}$. This bound is best possible up to a constant factor.

We make no attempt to optimize the constants in the Theorem.

Pach, Rubin, and Tardos [7] established a similar relationship between t, the number of touching pairs, and C, the number of crossing *points* between the curves. They proved that $C \ge t(\log \log(t/n))^{\delta}$, for an absolute constant $\delta > 0$. Obviously, we have $C \ge c$. There is an arrangement of n red curves and n blue curves in the plane such that every red curve touches every blue curve, and the total number of crossing points is $C = \Theta(n^2 \log n)$; cf. [4]. Of course, the number of crossing pairs, c, can never exceed $\binom{n}{2}$.

2. Proof of the Theorem

We start with an easy observation.

Lemma. Given a family of $n \ge 3$ curves in general position in the plane, no two of which cross, the number of touchings, t, cannot exceed 3n - 6.

Proof. Pick a different point on each curve. Whenever two curves touch each other at a point p, connect them by an edge (arc) passing through p. In the resulting drawing, any two edges that do not share an endpoint are represented by disjoint arcs. According to the Hanani-Tutte theorem [9], this means that the underlying graph is planar, so that its number of edges, t, satisfies $t \leq 3n - 6$.

Proof of the Theorem. We proceed by induction on n. For $n \leq 20$, the statement is void. Suppose that n > 20 and that the statement has already been proved for all values smaller than n.

We distinguish two cases.

CASE A: $t \le 10n^{3/2}$.

In this case, we want to establish the stronger statement

$$c \ge \frac{1}{10^4} \frac{t^2}{n^2}.$$

By the assumption, we have

$$\frac{1}{10^4} \frac{t^2}{n^2} \le \frac{n}{100}.$$
 (1)

Let G_t (resp., G_c) denote the *touching graph* (resp., *crossing graph*) associated with the curves. That is, the vertices of both graphs correspond to the curves, and two vertices are connected by an edge if and only if the corresponding curves are touching (resp., crossing).

Let T be a minimal vertex cover in G_c , that is, a smallest set of vertices of G_c such that every edge of G_c has at least one endpoint in T. Let $\tau = |T|$. Let U denote the complement of T. Obviously, U is an *independent set* in G_c . According to the Lemma, the number of edges in $G_t[U]$, the touching graph induced by U, satisfies

$$|\mathbb{E}(G_t[U])| < 3|U| \le 3n. \tag{2}$$

By the minimality of T, G_c has at least $|T| = \tau$ edges. That is, we have $c \ge \tau$, so we are done if $\tau \ge \frac{1}{10^4} \frac{t^2}{r^2}$.

From now on, we can and shall assume that $\tau < \frac{1}{10^4} \frac{t^2}{n^2}$. By (1), we have $\frac{1}{10^4} \frac{t^2}{n^2} \leq \frac{n}{100}$. Hence, $|T| \leq \frac{n}{100}$ and

$$|U| = n - |T| \ge \frac{99n}{100}.$$
(3)

Let $U' \subseteq U$ denote the set of all vertices in U that are not isolated in the graph G_c . By the definition of T, all neighbors of a vertex $v \in U$ in G_c belong to T. If $|U'| \ge \frac{1}{10^4} \frac{t^2}{n^2}$, then we are done, because $c \ge |U'|$.

Therefore, we can assume that

$$|U'| < \frac{1}{10^4} \frac{t^2}{n^2} \le \frac{n}{100},\tag{4}$$

where the second inequality follows again by (1).

Letting $U_0 = U \setminus U'$, by (3) and (4) we obtain $|U_0| = |U| - |U'| \ge \frac{98n}{100}$. Clearly, all vertices in U_0 are isolated in G_c .

Suppose that $G_t[T \cup U']$ has at least $\frac{t}{10}$ edges. Consider the set of curves $T \cup U'$. We have $n_0 = |T \cup U'| \leq \frac{2n}{100}$ and, the number of touchings, $t_0 = |\mathbb{E}(G_t[T \cup U'])| \geq \frac{t}{10}$. Therefore, by the induction hypothesis, for the number of crossings we have $c_0 = |\mathbb{E}(G_c[T \cup U'])| \geq \frac{1}{10^5} \frac{t_0^2}{n_0^2} \geq \frac{1}{10^4} \frac{t^2}{n^2}$ and we are done. Hence, we assume in the sequel that $G_t[T \cup U']$ has fewer than $\frac{t}{10}$ edges. Consequently, for the number of edges in G_t running between T and U_0 , we have

$$|\mathbb{E}(G_t[T, U_0])| \ge t - |\mathbb{E}(G_t[T \cup U'])| - |\mathbb{E}(G_t[U_0 \cup U'])| \ge t - \frac{t}{10} - 3n > \frac{t}{2}.$$
 (5)

Here we used the assumption that $t \ge 10n$.

Let $\chi = \chi(G_c[T])$ denote the chromatic number of $G_c[T]$. In any coloring of a graph with the smallest possible number of colors, there is at least one edge between any two color classes. Hence, $G_c[T]$ has at least $\binom{\chi}{2} \ge \frac{1}{10^4} \frac{t^2}{n^2}$ edges, and we are done, provided that $\chi > \frac{1}{70} \cdot \frac{t}{n}$.

Thus, we can suppose that

$$\chi = \chi(G_c[T]) \le \frac{1}{70} \cdot \frac{t}{n}.$$
(6)

Consider a coloring of $G_c[T]$ with χ colors, and denote the color classes by $I_1, I_2, \ldots, I_{\chi}$. Obviously, for every $j, I_j \cup U_0$ is an independent set in G_c . Therefore, by the Lemma, $G_t[I_j \cup U_0]$ has at most 3n edges. Summing up for all j and taking (6) into account, we obtain

$$|\mathbb{E}(G_t[T, U_0])| \le \sum_{j=1}^{\chi} |\mathbb{E}(G_t[I_j \cup U_0])| \le \frac{1}{70} \cdot \frac{t}{n} 3n \le \frac{t}{20},$$

contradicting (5). This completes the proof in CASE A.

CASE B: $t \ge 10n^{3/2}$.

Set $p = \frac{10n^3}{t^2} \leq \frac{1}{10}$. Select each curve independently with probability p. Let $\mathbf{n'}$, $\mathbf{t'}$, and $\mathbf{c'}$ denote the number of selected curves, the number of touching pairs, and the number of crossing pairs between them, respectively. Clearly,

$$\mathbb{E}[\mathbf{n}'] = pn, \quad \mathbb{E}[\mathbf{t}'] = p^2 t, \quad \mathbb{E}[\mathbf{c}'] = p^2 c.$$
(7)

The number of selected curves, \mathbf{n}' , has binomial distribution, therefore,

$$\operatorname{Prob}[|\mathbf{n}' - pn| > \frac{1}{4}pn] < \frac{1}{3}.$$
(8)

By Markov's inequality,

$$\operatorname{Prob}[\mathbf{c}' > 3p^2 c] < \frac{1}{3}.$$
(9)

Consider the touching graph G_t . Let d_1, \ldots, d_n denote the degrees of the vertices of G_t , and let e_1, \ldots, e_t denote its edges, listed in any order. We say that an edge e_i is *selected* (or belongs to the random sample) if both of its endpoints were selected. Let X_i be the *indicator variable* for e_i , that is,

$$X_i = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } e_i \text{ was selected,} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

We have $\mathbb{E}[X_i] = p^2$. Let $\mathbf{t}' = \sum_{i=1}^t X_i$. It follows by straightforward computation that for every i,

$$\operatorname{var}[X_i] = \mathbb{E}[(X_i - \mathbb{E}[X_i])^2] = p^2 - p^4,$$

If e_i and e_j have a common endpoint for some $i \neq j$, then

$$\operatorname{cov}[X_i, X_j] = \mathbb{E}[X_i X_j] - \mathbb{E}[X_i] \mathbb{E}[X_j] = p^3 - p^4.$$

If e_i and e_j do not have a common vertex, then X_i and X_j are independent random variables and $cov[X_i, X_j] = 0$. Therefore, we obtain

$$\sigma^{2} = \operatorname{var}[\mathbf{t}'] = \sum_{i=1}^{t} \operatorname{var}[X_{i}] + \sum_{1 \le i \ne j \le t} \operatorname{cov}[X_{i}, X_{j}]$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{t} \operatorname{var}[X_{i}] + \sum_{1 \le i \ne j \le t} \operatorname{cov}[X_{i}, X_{j}]$$
$$= (p^{2} - p^{4})t + (p^{3} - p^{4}) \sum_{i=1}^{n} d_{i}(d_{i} - 1) < p^{2}t + 2p^{3}nt.$$

From here, we get $\sigma < \sqrt{p^2 t} + \sqrt{2p^3 nt} < p^2 t = \mathbb{E}[\mathbf{t}']$. By Chebyshev's inequality,

$$\operatorname{Prob}[|\mathbf{t}' - p^2 t| \ge \lambda \sigma] \le \frac{1}{\lambda^2}.$$

Setting $\lambda = \frac{1}{4}$,

$$\operatorname{Prob}[|\mathbf{t}' - p^2 t| \ge \frac{p^2 t}{4}] \le \frac{1}{4^2} < \frac{1}{3}.$$
(10)

It follows from (8), (9), and (10) that, with positive probability, we have

$$|\mathbf{n}' - pn| \le \frac{1}{4}pn, \quad \mathbf{c}' \le 3p^2c, \quad |\mathbf{t}' - p^2t| \le \frac{1}{4}p^2t.$$
 (11)

Consider a fixed selection of n' curves with t' touching pairs and c' crossing pairs for which the above three inequalities are satisfied. Then we have

$$t' \ge \frac{3}{4}p^{2}t = \frac{300}{4} \cdot \frac{n^{6}}{t^{3}},$$

$$n' \le \frac{5}{4}pn = \frac{50}{4} \cdot \frac{n^{4}}{t^{2}},$$

$$t' \ge 10n'.$$
 (12)

and, hence,

On the other hand,

$$t' \le \frac{5}{4}p^2 t = \frac{500}{4} \cdot \frac{n^6}{t^3},$$

$$n' \ge \frac{3}{4}pn = \frac{30}{4} \cdot \frac{n^4}{t^2},$$

$$10(n')^{3/2} \ge 10 \cdot \frac{30^{3/2}}{4^{3/2}} \cdot \frac{n^6}{t^3} > t'.$$
 (13)

According to (12) and (13), the selected family meets the requirements of the Theorem in CASE A. Thus, we can apply the Theorem in this case to obtain that $c' \geq \frac{1}{10^4} \frac{t'^2}{n'^2}$. In view of (11), we have

$$3p^2c \ge c', \quad t' \ge \frac{3}{4}p^2t, \quad n' \le \frac{5}{4}pn.$$

Thus,

so that

$$3p^{2}c \ge c' \ge \frac{1}{10^{4}} \frac{t'^{2}}{n'^{2}} \ge \frac{1}{10^{4}} \frac{(3p^{2}t/4)^{2}}{(5pn/4)^{2}} = \frac{1}{10^{4}} \left(\frac{3}{5}\right)^{2} \frac{p^{2}t^{2}}{n^{2}}.$$

Comparing the left-hand side and the right-hand side, we conclude that

$$c \ge \frac{1}{10^5} \frac{t^2}{n^2},$$

as required. This completes the proof of the Theorem.

The following construction shows that the order of magnitude of the bound in the Theorem is best possible. Suppose that $t < \frac{n^2}{4}$. Take a collection A of $n - \frac{2t}{n} > \frac{n}{2}$ pairwise disjoint curves, and another collection B of $\frac{2t}{n}$ curves such that every element of B touches precisely $\frac{n}{2}$ elements of A, but does not cross any of them. The family $A \cup B$ consists of n curves, and the number of touching pairs is t. The only pairs of curves that may cross each other belong to B. Thus, the number of crossing pairs is at most $\binom{2t/n}{2} \leq \frac{2t^2}{n^2}$.

References

- M. Ajtai, V. Chvátal, M. Newborn, and E. Szemerédi, *Crossing-free subgraphs*, in: Theory and Practice of Combinatorics, North-Holland Mathematics Studies 60, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1982, 9–12.
- [2] I. Bárány, A generalization of Carathéodory's theorem, Discrete Math. 40 (1982), no. 2–3, 141–152.
- [3] E. Boros and Z. Füredi, The number of triangles covering the center of an n-set, Geom. Dedicata 17 (1984), no. 1, 69–77.
- [4] J. Fox, F. Frati, J. Pach, and R. Pinchasi, Crossings between curves with many tangencies, in: WALCOM: Algorithms and Computation, Lecture Notes in Comput. Sci. 5942, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2010, 1–8. Also in: An Irregular Mind, Bolyai Soc. Math. Stud. 21, János Bolyai Math. Soc., Budapest, 2010, 251–260.
- [5] J. Fox and J. Pach, A separator theorem for string graphs and its applications, Combin. Probab. Comput. 19 (2010), 371–390.

- [6] T. Leighton, Complexity Issues in VLSI, Foundations of Computing Series, MIT Press, Cambridge, 1983.
- [7] J. Pach, N. Rubin, and G. Tardos, Beyond the Richter-Thomassen Conjecture, in: Proc. 27th Annual ACM-SIAM Symposium on Discrete Algorithms (SODA 2016, Arlington), SIAM, 2016, 957–968.
- [8] L. A. Székely, Crossing numbers and hard Erdős problems in discrete geometry, Combin. Probab. Comput. 6 (1997), no. 3, 353–358.
- [9] W. T. Tutte, Toward a theory of crossing numbers, J. Combinatorial Theory 8 (1970), 45–53.

k-monotone interpolation

Attila Pór 1

Western Kentucky University

Abstract

A real function f is called k-monotone if its (k-2)nd derivative is convex. A set of points P in the plane is k-monotone interpolable if it lies on the graph of a k-monotone function. These notions have been studied in analysis and approximation theory since the 1940s.

We show a Ramsey-type result: for every n, k there exists N such that every set P of N points in the plane with distinct x coordinates has a subset Q of size n such that Q or its vertical mirror reflection is k-monotone interpolable. The cases k = 1 and k = 2 are classical results of Erdős and Szekeres, while the case k = 3 was show by Cibulka, Matousek and Patak in [1] (2014). They claim this to be an interesting result because of the very non-local property of k-monoton interpolability. In the case of k = 1 and k = 2 a set P is k-monotone interpolable if and only if every (k + 1) element subset of P is k-monotone interpolable. In fact it is enough to consider (k+1)-element sets with consecutive x coordinates. But for k = 3 they show that for every n there exists a set Pof size n that is not 3-monotone interpolable, but every proper subset of P is 3-monotone interpolable. They claim that this example works for every odd k as well.

Joint work with Martin Balko, Géza Tóth and Pavel Valtr.

We describe the characterization of k-monotone interpolability. We use most of the definitions and notations from [1] and [2].

Divided differences. The kth divided difference of a real function f at points x_0, \ldots, x_k is denoted by $[x_0, \ldots, x_k]f$ and is defined recursively by

$$[x_0]f = f(x_0), \ [x_0, \ldots, x_k]f = \frac{[x_1, \ldots, x_k]f - [x_0, \ldots, x_{k-1}]f}{x_k - x_0},$$

It is known that a function $f: I \to \mathbb{R}$ is k-monotone on the open interval I if and only if for every $x_0 < \cdots < x_k \in I$ the divided difference is non-negative, $[x_0, \ldots, x_k] f \ge 0$.

B-splines. Let $X = \{x_1, \ldots, x_{n+k}\} \subset \mathbb{R}, x_1 < \cdots < x_{n+k}$, be a set of n+k real numbers. The *B-Splines* of degree k-1 corresponding to X are the functions $M_1(t), \ldots, M_n(t)$ defined as follows:

$$M_i(t) = k[x_i, \dots, x_{i+k}] \max(0, x-t)^{k-1}$$

¹E-mail address: attila.por@wku.edu

The $M_i(t)$ are functions which are zero outside the interval $[x_i, x_{i+k}]$ and are strictly positive in the interior of the interval.

Characterization of k-monotone interpolability. The following lemma is Corollary 6.5 in [2] and gives a characterization of k-monotone interpolability.

Lemma 1. Let $X = (x_1, \ldots, x_{n+k}) \in \mathbb{R}$, $x_1 < \ldots, x_{n+k}$, be a node sequence, let $f : X \to \mathbb{R}$ be a function, and let the vector $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$ be given by $v_i = [x_i, \ldots, x_{i+k}]f$. Then $P = (X, f) = \{(x, f(x)) \mid x \in X\}$ is k-monotone interpolable if and only if the following holds for every $a = (a_1, \ldots, a_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$: If $\sum_{i=1}^n a_i M_i(t) \ge 0$ for every $t \in [x_1, x_{n+k}]$, then $\sum_{i=1}^n a_i v_i \ge 0$.

The following alternative characterization of k-monotone interpolability, derived from the previous lemma, was described in [1]:

Lemma 2. Let $X = (x_1, \ldots, x_{n+k}) \subset \mathbb{R}$, $x_1 < \cdots < x_{n+k}$, be a node sequence, let $f : X \to \mathbb{R}$ be a function, and let the vector $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$ be given by $v_i = [x_i, \ldots, x_{i+k}]f$. Then (X, f) is k-monotone interpolable if and only if there exist $c_1, \ldots, c_n \ge 0 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $t_1, \ldots, t_n \in [x_1, x_{k+n}]$ satisfying $v_i = \sum_{j=1}^n c_j M_i(t_j)$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$.

In [1] Ramsey-type result for three-interpolability is proven by only considering B-splines of the form $t \in X$. If $t_j = x_j$ for $j \in [1, n]$ then $M_j = (M_1(t_j), \ldots, M_n(t_j)) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is a vector with all zero components except for at most two (k-1) in general: $M_{j-2}(t_j)$ and $M_{j-1}(t_j)$. If there exists a positive solution of Mc = v, where $M = (M_1, \ldots, M_n)$ and $c = (c_1, \ldots, c_n)$ then (X, f) is k-monotone interpolable. For the classical cases k = 1 and k = 2 it is enough that all the v_i are positive, but for $k \ge 3$ this not sufficient. The authors realize that this linear system does have a positive solution if after it is transformed such that all the $v_i = 1$ either always the first non zero element in each column of M is larger then the second non zero element or the other way around. For $k \ge 4$ simply comparing these elements is not enough.

We show that

Theorem 3. For every $k, n \ge 4$ there exists $N = N_k(n)$ such that for every Nelement set X and function f there exists an n-element set $X' \subset X$ such that either (X', f) or (X', -f) is k-monotone interpolable.

The proof is based on the result that there exists a positive solution of Mc = v for the *middle* (by removing the first and last k rows) if for any two columns the ratios of the k-1 non zero elements are *almost* the same.

References

- J. Cibulka, J. Matoušek, P. Paták: *Three-monotone interpolation*, Discrete Comput. Geom. (2015) 54 (2015), no. 1., 3–21.
- [2] K. Koptun, A. Shadrin: On k-monotone approximation by free knot splines, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 34 (2003), no. 4, 901–924.

Polytopes and cones in random hyperplane tessellations

ROLF SCHNEIDER¹

Albert-Ludwigs University, Freiburg

Under suitable assumptions, a system of countably many hyperplanes in Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^d divides the space into countably many convex polytopes. Similarly, finitely many linear hyperplanes (i.e., hyperplanes through the origin) divide the space into finitely many polyhedral cones (or, equivalently, the unit sphere into finitely many spherically convex polytopes). When the hyperplanes are random, this leads to various types of random polyhedra cones. We present some recent results on the shapes of such random polyhedra and on some geometric functions related to them. Before being more concrete, it is necessary to specify the stochastic models that we shall consider.

Let \mathcal{H}^d be the space of hyperplanes in \mathbb{R}^d , with its usual topology. We write hyperplanes in the form $u^{\perp} + tu$, with $u \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$ (the unit sphere). A hyperplane process X is a measurable mapping from some probability space into the measurable space of locally finite subsets of \mathcal{H}^d (with a suitable σ -algebra). Its intensity measure is defined by $\Theta(A) = \mathbb{E} \operatorname{card}(X \cap A)$ for $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^d)$ (\mathcal{B} = Borel sets). We assume in the following that X is a *stationary Poisson hyperplane process*, that is, the intensity measure $\Theta \neq 0$ is translation invariant, locally finite, satisfies

$$\mathbb{P}\{\operatorname{card}(X \cap A) = n\} = e^{-\Theta(A)} \frac{\Theta(A)^n}{n!} \quad \text{for } n \in \mathbb{N}_0 \text{ and } A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^d),$$

and the restrictions of X to pairwise disjoint sets $A_1, \ldots, A_k \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^d)$ are stochastically independent.

The properties of the process X and the polytopes it defines will essentially depend on the directions of the hyperplanes appearing in the process. Therefore, we have to take the *directional distribution* of X into account. This is the even probability measure φ on \mathbb{S}^{d-1} that is defined by the decomposition

$$\Theta(\cdot) = 2\gamma \int_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} \int_0^\infty \mathbf{1}_{(\cdot)} \{ u^{\perp} + tu \} \, \mathrm{d}t \, \varphi(\mathrm{d}u),$$

where the constant $\gamma > 0$ is the intensity of X. The intuitive meaning of the directional distribution is revealed by

$$\varphi(A) = \frac{\mathbb{E}\operatorname{card}\{u^{\perp} + tu \in X : u \in A, t \in [0, 1]\}}{\mathbb{E}\operatorname{card}\{u^{\perp} + tu \in X : t \in [0, 1]\}}$$

for $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{S}^{d-1})$. It is assumed that φ is not concentrated on a great subsphere. Under this assumption, a realization of X induces, with probability one, a tessellation

¹E-mail address: rolf.schneider@math.uni-freiburg.de

of \mathbb{R}^d into compact convex polytopes. The tessellation is called the *mosaic* induced by X and denoted by M_X . Its d-dimensional polytopes are called the *cells* of the mosaic. We shall be interested in their shape and in some geometric functionals associated with them.

The second model we study is much simpler. We consider n independent, identically distributed random linear hyperplanes. They divide \mathbb{R}^d into finitely many polyhedral cones. Picking one of these at random, we define a random polyhedral cone; this will be studied in Section 3.

1. The cells in a stationary hyperplane mosaic

The possible shapes of the cells in a stationary Poisson hyperplane mosaic M_X depend, of course, on the directional distribution of the underlying hyperplane process X. For example, if X is a *parallel process* (its directional distribution is concentrated in n antipodal pairs of points), then all cells are parallelepipeds. On the other hand, if the process is *isotropic* (its directional distribution is rotation invariant), then in a realization one will see many different shapes (and sizes) of cells. In recent joint work [5] with Matthias Reitzner, this impression was confirmed in a strong sense. The directional distribution φ need only satisfy the following assumption (which is satisfied in the isotropic case).

Assumption (*). The support of the directional distribution φ is the whole unit sphere \mathbb{S}^{d-1} , and φ assigns measure zero to each great subsphere of \mathbb{S}^{d-1} .

With probability one, the hyperplanes of X are in general position. This implies that all cells of the mosaic M_X are simple polytopes. In a precise sense, this is the only restriction, as manifested in the subsequent two theorems. To express that the cells can approximate all possible shapes, we use the space \mathcal{K}^d of convex bodies in \mathbb{R}^d with the Hausdorff metric.

Theorem. If assumption (*) is satisfied, then with probability one the set of all translates of the cells of M_X is dense in \mathcal{K}^d .

Theorem. If assumption (*) is satisfied, then with probability one, for every simple d-polytope P there are infinitely many cells of M_X that are combinatorially isomorphic to P.

Crucial for the proof are the independence properties of the Poisson process. Besides geometric constructions, the proof uses a generalization of the Borel–Cantelli lemma (to not necessarily independent events), due to Erdös and Rényi (1959).

2. Typical faces, especially their vertex number

In contrast to the previous section, we now consider typical cells of the mosaic M_X or, more generally, typical k-faces. Typical cells of stationary random hyperplane mosaics belong to the most studied models of random polytopes. By k-faces we

mean all k-dimensional faces of all cells of the mosaic M_X , k = 0, ..., d. Let $\mathcal{F}_k(X)$ be the set of these k-faces. To every translation-invariant positive measurable function w on k-polytopes, one can define a random polytope $Z_w^{(k)}$, the w-weighted typical k-face of M_X . The heuristic idea is to pick out, within a 'large' bounded region of space, at random one of the k-faces, with chances proportional to the weight function w. A correct definition can be given by using either grain distributions of stationary particle processes, or Palm distributions. We mention here only a consequence, which mirrors the intuitive idea of selecting, with weights, from large bounded regions. If s denotes the Steiner point (say) and B(o, r) is the ball with center o and radius r, then the distribution of $Z_w^{(k)}$ is given by

$$\mathbb{P}\{Z_w^{(k)} \in A\} = \lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{\mathbb{E} \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_k(X), F \subset B(o,r)} \mathbf{1}_A \{F - s(F)\} w(F)}{\mathbb{E} \sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_k(X), F \subset B(o,r)} w(F)}$$

for Borel sets A in the space of polytopes.

For the weight $w \equiv 1$, the *w*-weighted typical *k*-face is just called the *typical k*-face and denote by $Z^{(k)}$. Besides this, we consider the volume-weighted typical *k*-face, $Z_{\text{vol}}^{(k)}$, where the weight is the *k*-dimensional volume.

Expectations of several geometric functionals of the typical cell $Z^{(d)}$ were already determined by Miles [4]. Perhaps the simplest of these functionals is the vertex number, commonly denoted by f_0 . It was noted by Joseph Mecke (1981) that the expectation

$$\mathbb{E}f_0(Z^{(k)}) = 2^k$$

does not depend on the directional distribution of X. This changes drastically if the typical k-face is replaced by the volume-weighted typical k-face. It was proved in [6] that

$$2^{k} \le \mathbb{E} f_{0}(Z_{\text{vol}}^{(k)}) \le 2^{-k} k! \kappa_{k}^{2}$$
(1)

for $k \in \{2, \ldots, d\}$, where κ_k is the volume of the k-dimensional unit ball. Equality on the left side of (1) holds if and only if X is a parallel process. On the right side, equality holds if X is isotropic. In [7], these inequalities were extended to the weights L_j defined below.

Here we want to point out the recent result that a similar phenomenon occurs for the typical k-face if not the expectation, but the variance is considered. It is proved in [8] that

$$0 \le \operatorname{Var} f_0(Z^{(k)}) \le 2^k k! \left(\sum_{j=0}^k \frac{\kappa_j^2}{4^j (k-j)!} \right) - 2^{2k}$$
(2)

for $k \in \{2, ..., d\}$. Equality on the left side of (2) holds if and only if X is a parallel process. Equality on the right holds if X is isotropic with respect to a suitable scalar product on \mathbb{R}^d , and for k = d it holds only in this case.

More generally than $\mathbb{E} f_0(Z^{(k)})^2$, the following second moments were determined in [8]. For a convex polytope P in \mathbb{R}^d and for $r \in \{0, \ldots, d\}$, let $L_r(P)$ be the sum of the r-dimensional volumes of the r faces of P. Thus, L_0 is the vertex number f_0 , L_1 is the total edge length, L_{d-1} is the surface area, and L_d is the volume. In [8], explicit formulas are given for the mixed second moments $\mathbb{E}(L_rL_s)(Z^{(k)})$. They involve the associated zonoid of the hyperplane process X. In the isotropic case for k = d, they reduce to formulas of Miles [4]. Together with the known expectations, our formulas explicitly provide the covariance matrix of the random vector $(L_0(Z^{(k)}), \ldots, L_k(Z^{(k)})$.

3. RANDOM CONES

For considering the second model, n independent, identically distributed random linear hyperplanes and the cones of the induced tessellation, there are (at least) two motivations. First, it yields the natural analogue, in spherical space, of random hyperplane tessellations, and, second, questions on random cones have recently found particular interest in certain applications of convex optimization. For example, the question "When does a randomly oriented cone strike a fixed cone?", verbally quoted from [3], means the following. Let $C, D \in \mathbb{R}^d$ be polyhedral convex cones, not both subspaces. Let $\theta \in SO_d$ be a random rotation, with distribution given by the normalized Haar measure. The question asks for the probability $\mathbb{P}\{C \cap \theta D \neq \{o\}\}$. The answer involves the conic intrinsic volumes. For a polyhedral cone C, a simple approach to these is as follows. Let Π_C denote the nearest-point map (metric projection) of C, and let **g** be a standard Gaussian random vector in \mathbb{R}^d . Then

$$V_k(C) := \mathbb{P}\{\Pi_C(\mathbf{g}) \in F \text{ for some } k \text{-face } F \text{ of } C\}$$

defines the kth conic intrinsic volume V_k , $k \in \{0, \ldots, d\}$. Now the spherical kinematic formula and the spherical Gauss-Bonnet formula can be combined to yield the following (well-known) answer to the question above:

$$\mathbb{P}\{C \cap \boldsymbol{\theta} D \neq \{o\}\} = 2 \sum_{k=0}^{\lfloor \frac{d-1}{2} \rfloor} \sum_{i=2k+1}^{d} V_i(C) V_{d+2k+1-i}(D).$$

This formula gives the probability of non-trivial intersection of a random cone with a fixed cone. The random cone is of a special type: the randomness comes only from the random rotation, which is applied to a fixed cone. It is certainly of interest to have similar results for more flexible types of random cones, where also the shape can be random and not only the position. On the other hand, it is to be expected that only very special models can lead to explicit results. We provide here one such class of random cones which are suitable for this purpose.

Let $\mathcal{H}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{H}_n$ be stochastically independent random linear hyperplanes, each with rotationally invariant distribution. They induce a tessellation of \mathbb{R}^d into *d*-dimensional polyhedral cones. We pick one of these at random (with equal chances)

and call it the (isotropic) random Schläfli cone S_n , with parameter n. The name has been chosen since Schläfli has shown that n linear hyperplanes in general position in \mathbb{R}^d divide the space into

$$C(n,d) \coloneqq 2\sum_{r=0}^{d-1} \binom{n-1}{r}$$

d-dimensional cones. Since the Schläfli cone S_n has an isotropic distribution and since the expectations of its conic intrinsic volumes are explicitly known (see below), one can prove the following formula of 'kinematic type':

$$\mathbb{P}\{C \cap S_n \neq \{o\}\} = \frac{2}{C(n,d)} \sum_{j=1}^n \sum_{k=0}^{\lfloor \frac{j-1}{2} \rfloor} {n \choose j-2k-1} V_j(C).$$
(3)

One can also compute the probability that two stochastically independent random Schläfli cones, with parameters n and m, have a non-trivial intersection.

To obtain (3), one needs to know the expectations $\mathbb{E}V_k(S_n)$. They were obtained as special cases in joint work [2] with Daniel Hug, investigating random central hyperplane arrangements and their induced cones. Let ϕ^* be a probability measure on the Grassmannian G(d, d-1) that assigns measure zero to the set of hyperplanes in G(d, d-1) containing some given line through the origin. Let $\mathcal{H}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{H}_n$ be independent random hyperplanes in G(d, d-1) with distribution ϕ^* . Let S_n denote the induced random Schläfli cone. In [2], the expectations are determined for a series of geometric functionals of S_n . These functionals comprise the numbers f_k of k-faces (for which the expectations were already found by Cover and Efron [1]), the conic intrinsic volumes V_k , and the total face contents Λ_k , defined as follows. For a polyhedral cone C, $\Lambda_k(C)$ is the sum of the internal angles of the k-faces of C ($k = 1, \ldots, d$). Equivalently, $\Lambda_k(C)$ is the total (k - 1)-dimensional spherical volume of the (k - 1)-faces of the spherical polytope $C \cap \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$. Thus, these are the spherical analogues of the functionals L_0, \ldots, L_d considered for Euclidean space in Section 2. The expectation

$$\mathbb{E}\Lambda_k(S_n) = \frac{2^{d-k}\binom{n}{d-k}}{C(n,d)}$$

is, as the more general ones determined in [2], independent of the distribution. This reveals the combinatorial core of these results.

In contrast, if second moments are considered, we have to assume that the distribution ϕ^* is rotation invariant. Under this assumption, the main result of [2] is the determination of the mixed second moments

$$\mathbb{E}(\Lambda_r\Lambda_s)(S_n) = \frac{1}{C(n,d)} \sum_{p \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{d-p} \binom{n}{d-p} \binom{n-d+p}{p-r,p-s,n-d-p+r+s} \times \theta(n-d-p+r+s,p),$$

where

$$\theta(n,d) \coloneqq \frac{(d-1)\kappa_{d-1}}{d\kappa_d} \int_0^\pi \left(1 - \frac{x}{\pi}\right)^n \sin^{d-2} x \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

This can be considered as the spherical counterpart to the results in Section 2 for $\mathbb{E}(L_r L_s)(Z^{(d)})$, which in the isotropic case go back to Roger Miles.

References

- T. M. Cover and B. Efron, Geometrical probability and random points on a hypersphere, Ann. of Math. Statist. 38 (1967), 213–220.
- [2] D. Hug and R. Schneider, Random conical tessellations, Discrete Comput. Geom. 56, 395– 426 (2016).
- M. B. McCoy and J. A. Tropp, Sharp recovery bounds for convex demixing, with applications, Found. Comput. Math. 14 (2014), 503–567.
- [4] R. E. Miles, Random polytopes: the generalisation to n dimensions of the intervals of a Poisson process, Ph.D. Thesis, Cambridge University (1961).
- M. Reitzner and R. Schneider, On the cells in a stationary Poisson hyperplane mosaic, Adv. Geom. (to appear), arXiv:1609.04230 (2016).
- [6] R. Schneider, Weighted faces of Poisson hyperplane tessellations, Adv. Appl. Prob. (SGSA) 41 (2009), 682–694.
- [7] R. Schneider, Vertex numbers of weighted faces in Poisson hyperplane mosaics, Discrete Comput. Geom. 44 (2010), 599–607.
- [8] R. Schneider, Second moments related to Poisson hyperplane tessellations, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 434 (2016), 1365–1375.

Tensors, colors, and convex hulls

Pablo Soberón¹

Northeastern University

Abstract

We describe some recent affine variations of Tverberg's theorem, the colorful Carathéodory theorem, and the link between them via Sarkaria's tensor product technique.

To Imre Bárány, who was a splendid advisor, in honor of this 70th birthday.

1. INTRODUCTION

An important part of discrete geometry deals with the intersection of the convex hulls of finite sets of points. This gave birth to the classic theorems of Helly, Tverberg, and Carathéodory. As our understanding of these results improved, it became clear that stronger combinatorial conditions could be imposed on these theorems, in the form of colors for the sets and conditions regarding the colors (consult [12] for a general introduction).

Moreover, a clear connection between colorful Carathéodory results and (monochromatic) Tverberg results was established by Sarkaria's seminal proof of Tverberg's theorem [13], giving rise to a strong linear-algebraic way to approach Tverbergtype results, surveyed in [4]. The aim of this note is to present some of the recent advances surrounding this technique and the related theorems.

2. The colorful Carathéodory theorem

Given a finite set $X \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, and a point $c \in \mathbb{R}^d$, Carathéodory's theorem bounds the complexity of checking whether $c \in \operatorname{conv} X$. We say that X captures c if $c \in \operatorname{conv} (X)$. The colorful Carathéodory theorem is a very neat extension of this result.

Theorem 1 (Colorful Carathéodory, Bárány 1982 [3]). Given $c \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and n + 1sets $F_1, F_2, \ldots, F_{n+1}$ in \mathbb{R}^n such that each F_i captures c, we can find n + 1 points $x_1 \in F_1, x_2 \in F_2, \ldots, x_{n+1} \in F_{n+1}$ such that the set $\{x_1, \ldots, x_{n+1}\}$ captures c.

The classic Carathédory theorem is the case $F_1 = \ldots = F_{n+1}$. The reason it is called a colorful version is because we can consider each set F_i to be a color class, we are simply finding a colorful set that captures the origin. This result has far-reaching generalizations [11]. Recently, it was shown that if each F_i satisfies

¹E-mail address: pablo.soberon@ciencias.unam.mx

 $|F_i| = n + 1$, we can always find at least $n^2 + 1$ different sets satisfying the theorem's conclusion [14].

The case when $|F_i| = 2$ for all *i* and *c* is the origin is particularly interesting. Let us show a short proof. Without loss of generality, we assume that for every *i* there is a vector v_i such that $F_i = \{v_i, -v_i\}$. Then, there is a nontrivial linear dependence of the set $v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_{n+1}, \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \alpha_i v_i = 0$. If any $\alpha_i < 0$, we can swap v_i and $-v_i$ and change the sign of α_i . Once every $\alpha_i \ge 0$, as they are not all zero, we may assume that their sum of 1.

Thus, the cases when there is an r > 2 such that $|F_i| = r$ for every *i* can be interpreted as an extension of the statement that every n + 1 vectors in \mathbb{R}^n have a non-trivial linear dependence. Indeed, that is how we are going to use it.

3. TVERBERG'S THEOREM

Tverberg's theorem is a compelling result in discrete geometry.

Theorem 2 (Tverberg 1966 [17]). Let r, d be positive integers. For any (r-1)(d+1) + 1 points in \mathbb{R}^d , there is a partition of them into r sets whose convex hulls intersect.

The number of points in the result above is optimal. Before jumping into the linear-algebraic proof methods for this theorem, let us show how we can use Carathéodory's theorem to get a similar result.

Claim 3 (weak Tverberg). Given (r-1)d(d+1)+1 points in \mathbb{R}^d , there is a partition of them into r sets whose convex hulls intersect.

Proof. Let S be a set of (r-1)d(d+1)+1 points and let p be a centerpoint of S. In other words, every closed half-space that contains p has at least $\left\lceil \frac{|S|}{d+1} \right\rceil = (r-1)d+1$ points of S. By Carathéodory's theorem, we can find a set of at most d+1 points whose convex hull contains p. Let A_1 be an inclusion-minimal set satisfying this property. Then, if we remove A_1 , every closed half-space that contains p in its boundary must contain at least (r-2)d+1 of the remaining points. We can construct A_2 in a similar manner and continue until we get the r desired sets.

The technique above shows a link between the existence of centerpoints (which follows from Helly's theorem) and Tverberg-type problems. Moreover, since the dependence in r is linear, this version is strong enough to prove classic consequences of Tverberg's theorem, such as the existence of weak epsilon-nets for convex sets [2]. The method also works for other convexity spaces, such as the integer lattice, where other proof methods for Tverberg's theorem fail [10].

Among the many proofs from Tverberg's theorem, a linear-algebraic technique by Sarkaria stands out by its simplicity. The version we present is a sketch of a further simplification by Bárány and Onn [6]. Proof of Tverberg's theorem. Let n = (r-1)(d+1) and u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_r be the vertices of a regular simplex in \mathbb{R}^{r-1} centered at the origin. For any $a \in \mathbb{R}^d$, consider the points of the form $(a, 1) \otimes u_i \in \mathbb{R}^{(r-1)(d+1)} = \mathbb{R}^n$ for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, r$, where \otimes is the tensor product.

Then, a set S of n + 1 points in \mathbb{R}^d yields n + 1 sets in \mathbb{R}^n , each capturing the origin. The set found by applying the colorful Carathéodory theorem in this family induces a partition of S into r sets, which turns out to be a Tverberg partition. \Box

This is a very malleable proof. Indeed, many variations of the colorful Carathéodory theorem translate to a variation of Tverberg's theorem. For example, if we are given a set S of N points in \mathbb{R}^d , then for each $a \in S$, and any closed half-space $H \subset \mathbb{R}^{(r-1)(d+1)} = \mathbb{R}^n$ containing the origin, we can pick randomly one of the points $(a, 1) \otimes u_i \in \mathbb{R}^n$ for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, r$. By doing this we have, in expectation, at least $\frac{N}{r}$ of those points in H. A more careful analysis shows that there should be a choice of this type that every hyperplane H that contains the origin has at least $\frac{N}{r} - \sqrt{\frac{nN\ln(Nr)}{2}}$ points of the selection. If we apply Sarkaria's technique with this claim instead of colorful Carathéodory, we obtain the following.

Theorem 4 (Tverberg with tolerance [16]). Let r, t, d be positive integers. Then, there is an $N = rt + \tilde{O}(r^2\sqrt{td} + r^3d)$ such that for any N points in \mathbb{R}^d , there is a partition of them into r parts such that even if we remove any t points, the convex hulls of what's left in each set still intersect. Here the \tilde{O} notation only hides polylogarithmic factors in terms of t, d, r.

4. The colorful Tverberg theorem

Just as it is the case with the theorems by Carathéodory and Helly, there are "colorful" versions of Tverberg's theorem. In each case, there are color classes introduced; and when the color classes are equal, they yield the original theorem. For Tverberg's theorem, such a version is given in [1] (where the proof, again, uses Sarkaria's transformation). However, the most well-known colorful version for Tverberg's theorem does not follow this recipe, and remains open.

Conjecture 5 (Colorful Tverberg theorem, Bárány, Larman 1992 [5]). Let r, d be positive integers. Given d + 1 sets F_1, \ldots, F_{d+1} , each of r points of \mathbb{R}^d , there is a partition of them into r sets, each with exactly one point of each F_i , whose convex hulls intersect.

This conjecture has been proven for d = 2 and any r [5], and when r + 1 is a prime number for any d [8, 9]. Recently, a new approach to variations of Tverberg's theorem was devised in [7]. The idea is to apply Tverberg's theorem or its topological version in a higher dimension. The excess dimensions can be used to impose properties in the partition in the original space. This implies the colorful Tverberg theorem if each F_i has 2r - 1 elements instead of r. The case r = 2 of the colorful Tverberg theorem was originally proven by Lovász using the Borsuk-Ulam theorem, with the proof appearing in [5]. However, we can also prove this result with linear-algebraic arguments as in previous sections.

Proof of colored Tverberg for r = 2. Denote by x_i and y_i the elements of F_i . Then, consider the d + 1 vectors $x_i - y_i$. There must be a non-trivial linear dependence $\sum_{i=1}^{d+1} \alpha_i (x_i - y_i) = 0$. If any $\alpha_i < 0$, we can swap the names of x_i and y_i and the sign of α_i . Once all $\alpha_i \ge 0$, as they are not all are zero, we assume without loss of generality that their sum is 1. Thus, we have $\sum_{i=1}^{d+1} \alpha_i x_i = \sum_{i=1}^{d+1} \alpha_i y_i$, which gives the desired partition and the intersection of the convex hulls.

This argument can be extended using Sarkaria's technique, but now we modify the tensoring trick instead of the colorful Carathéodory theorem. Consider $[r] = \{1, 2, ..., r\}$, and $u_1, ..., u_r$ as before. Given a set $F = \{z_1, ..., z_r\}$, and a permutation $\sigma : [r] \rightarrow [r]$, we construct $F(\sigma) = \sum_{i=1}^r z_i \otimes u_{\sigma(i)} \in \mathbb{R}^{d(r-1)}$. This new transformation implies a version of Conjecture 5 where we are given (r-1)d+1colored sets of r points each, instead of just d+1, but with the added benefit that the convex hulls of the colorful sets intersect using the same coefficients [15].

References

- J. L. Arocha, I. Bárány, J. Bracho, R. Fabila, and L. Montejano, Very Colorful Theorems, Discrete Comput. Geom. 42 (2009), no. 2, 142–154.
- [2] N. Alon, I. Bárány, Z. Füredi, and D. J. Kleitman, Point se- lections and weak ε-nets for convex hulls, Combin. Probab. Comput. 1 (1992), no. 3, 189–200.
- [3] I. Bárány, A generalization of Carathéodory's theorem, Discrete Math. 40 (1982), no. 2-3, 141–152.
- [4] I. Bárány, Tensors, colours, octahedra, Geometry, structure and randomness in combinatorics, CRM Series, vol. 18, Ed. Norm., Pisa, 2015, pp. 1–17.
- [5] I. Bárány and D. G. Larman, A Colored Version of Tverberg's Theorem, J. London Math. Soc. Series 2 45 (1992), no. 2, 314–320.
- [6] I. Bárány and S. Onn, Carathéodory's theorem, colourful and applicable, Intuitive Geometry 6 (1995), 11–21.
- [7] P. V. M. Blagojević, F. Frick, and G. M. Ziegler, *Tverberg plus constraints*, Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. 46 (2014), no. 5, 953–967.
- [8] P. V. M. Blagojević, B. Matschke, and G. M. Ziegler, Optimal bounds for a colorful Tverberg-Vrećica type problem, Adv. Math. 226 (2011), no. 6, 5198–5215.
- [9] P. V. M. Blagojević, B. Matschke, and G. M. Ziegler, Optimal bounds for the colored Tverberg problem, J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS) 17 (2015), no. 4, 739–754.
- [10] J. A. De Loera, R. N. La Haye, D. Rolnick, and P. Soberón, Quantitative Tverberg theorems over lattices and other discrete sets, Discrete Comput. Geom. (2017), doi:10.1007/s00454-016-9858-3.
- [11] A. F. Holmsen, The intersection of a matroid and an oriented matroid, Adv. Math. 290 (2016), 1–14.

- [12] J. Matoušek, Lectures on discrete geometry, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 212, Springer-Verlag, New York, 2002.
- [13] K. S. Sarkaria, Tverberg's theorem via number fields, Israel J. Math. 79 (1992), no. 2, 317– 320.
- P. Sarrabezolles, The colourful simplicial depth conjecture, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 130 (2015), 119–128. MR 3280686
- [15] P. Soberón, Equal coefficients and tolerance in coloured Tverberg partitions, Combinatorica 35 (2015), no. 2, 235–252.
- [16] P. Soberón, Robust Tverberg and colorful Carathéodory results via random choice, arXiv: 1606.08790 [math.MG] (2016), to appear in Comb. Probab. Comput.
- [17] H. Tverberg, A generalization of Radon's theorem, J. London Math. Soc. 41 (1966), no. 1, 123–128.

On the number of non-intersecting hexagons in 3-space

József Solymosi¹, Ching Wong² University of British Columbia

Abstract

Two hexagons in the space are said to intersect *badly* if the intersection of their convex hulls consists of at least one common vertex as well as an interior point. We are going to show that the number of hexagons on n points in 3-space without bad intersections is $o(n^2)$, under the assumption that the hexagons are "fat".

Dedicated to Imre Bárány on the occasion of his 70th birthday

1. INTRODUCTION

The general problem of finding the maximum number of hyperedges in a geometric hypergraph in d-dimensional space with certain forbidden configurations (intersections) was considered by Dey and Pach in [1]. In this note we are interested in finding the maximum number of (convex planar) polygons on some vertex set of n points in 3-space, where no two of them are allowed to intersect in certain ways.

It was asked by Gil Kalai and independently by Günter Ziegler what is the maximum number of triangles spanned by n points such that any two are almost disjoint:

Definition 1 (Almost disjoint polygons). Two planar polygons in 3-space are said to be almost disjoint if they are either disjoint or their intersection consists of one common vertex.

The maximum number of pairwise almost disjoint triangles on n points is bounded above by $O(n^2)$. Indeed, in a set of such triangles, any given point can be a vertex of at most (n-1)/2 triangles. It is not known whether the maximum number of such triangles is $o(n^2)$ or not. Károlyi and Solymosi constructed configurations with $\Omega(n^{3/2})$ almost disjoint triangles on n points [2]. Finding sharper bounds seems like a very hard problem. In fact, it is not even known if the genus of a polytope on n-vertices can have order n^2 . If so, there would be a configuration of order n^2 almost disjoint triangles on n points. The best lower bound of the largest genus is $n \log n$, due to a construction of McMullen, Schulz and Wills [3]. For more details, we refer the interested readers to [5] where Ziegler gives a simplified construction providing the same bound. In this note, we study the maximum number of polygons without bad intersections, defined below.

¹The first author was supported by NSERC, ERC-AdG. 321104, and OTKA NK 104183 grants. E-mail address: solymosi@math.ubc.ca

²E-mail address: ching@math.ubc.ca

Definition 2 (Badly intersecting polygons). Two planar polygons in 3-space are said to intersect badly if the intersection of their convex hulls consists of at least one common vertex as well as an interior point.

In what follows by polygons in space we mean planar polygons, i.e. the vertices are co-planar. We say that a collection of polygons has no bad intersections if no two of these polygons intersect badly. In such arrangements if two hexagons share a vertex then this is the only common point they have, but hexagons not sharing a vertex might intersect. In particular, they cannot share a diagonal and so the maximum number of k-gons $(k \ge 4)$ without bad intersection is, again, $O(n^2)$. This trivial upper bound is actually sharp for quadrilaterals (k = 4). One can give a construction of $\Omega(n^2)$ quadrilaterals without a bad intersection as follows: Suppose we are given n/2 points $P_1, \ldots, P_{n/2}$ in general position (no three points collinear) on a plane π . Fix any vector v not parallel to π . Then the n points $P_1, \ldots, P_{n/2}, P_1 + v, \ldots, P_{n/2} + v$ are incident to $\Theta(n^2)$ desired quadrilaterals with vertices $P_i, P_j, P_j + v, P_i + v$, where $1 \le i < j \le n$.

When k = 6, we can show that the number of hexagons without bad intersections in 3-space is $o(n^2)$, under an extra assumption on the 'fatness' of the hexagons defined below. We conjecture that Theorem 1 holds for any set of hexagons or even for pentagons.

Definition 3 (Fat hexagons). Let $c \ge 1$ and $0 < \alpha < \pi/2$. A hexagon is (c, α) -fat if

- 1. it is convex;
- 2. the ratio of any two sides is bounded between 1/c and c; and
- 3. it has three non-neighbour vertices having interior angles between α and $\pi \alpha$.

Our main tool is the Triangle Removal Lemma of Ruzsa and Szemerédi, which states that for any $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $\delta > 0$ such that any graph on *n* vertices with at least εn^2 pairwise edge-disjoint triangles has at least δn^3 triangles in total. See [4] for the original formulation of this result. The precise statement of our theorem is as follows.

Theorem 1. For any $c \ge 1$ and $0 < \alpha < \pi/2$ numbers there is a function $F_{(c,\alpha)}(n)$,

$$\frac{F_{(c,\alpha)}(n)}{n^2} \to 0 \ as \ n \to \infty,$$

such that any family of (c, α) -fat hexagons in 3-space on n points without bad intersections has size at most $F_{(c,\alpha)}(n)$.

Note that, since almost disjoint hexagons don't intersect badly, the same upper bound, $o(n^2)$, holds for pairwise almost disjoint hexagons.

2. Proof of Theorem 1

Suppose there are εn^2 (c, α)-fat hexagons on n vertices in 3-space. We will show that two of these hexagons intersect badly.

To reduce the dimension of the ambient space, we project these hexagons onto a random plane such that a positive fraction is (c', α') -fat. Indeed, if we project a (c, α) -fat hexagon H to a plane making an angle at most $\theta < \pi/2$ with the plane containing H, some simple calculations show that the projected hexagon is (c', α') fat, where

$$c' = \frac{c}{\cos \theta}$$
 and $\alpha' = \cos^{-1}\left(\frac{\cos \alpha + \sin^2 \theta}{\cos^2 \theta}\right).$

The existence of badly intersecting hexagons relies on a similar-slope property. This can be described quantitatively by the difference of two angles of inclination. To this end, let $\phi > 0$ be the smallness of such difference which is to be determined later.

We choose from the (c', α') -fat projected hexagons the most popular family consisting of $\varepsilon' n^2$ hexagons, which have inscribed triangles of similar shapes and orientations.

More precisely, let us enumerate by any order the projected hexagons as $\{H_i\}$ and label their vertices as $A_i, B_i, C_i, D_i, E_i, F_i$, oriented counter-clockwise, where B_i, D_i, F_i are the three non-neighbour vertices having angles between α' and $\pi - \alpha'$.

There exists a positive fraction of these hexagons so that for any i, j, the inclined angles of the diagonals A_iC_i and A_jC_j differ by at most ϕ . Similarly the same property holds true for the diagonals C_iE_i and E_iA_i in yet a sub-collection of $\varepsilon' n^2$ hexagons.

We define G to be the graph whose vertices are the n projected points and whose edges are from the triangles formed by the vertices A_i, C_i, E_i chosen above. Then, G contains $\varepsilon' n^2$ edge-disjoint triangles. An application of the Triangle Removal Lemma yields a triangle T whose edges come from three different hexagons, say H_1, H_2 and H_3 . For each i = 1, 2, 3, let T_i be the triangle $A_i C_i E_i$.

We are ready to study the intersection properties of these three hexagons in the 3-space. In other words, we now 'unproject' the n points.

Two of the triangles, say T_1 and T_2 , lie on the same side of T and let T_1 be the triangle making a larger angle with T. Then, as shown in Figure 1, the hexagon H_2 intersects badly with the triangle T_1 , and hence with the hexagon H_1 , as long as the three non-neighbour vertices B_1, D_1, F_1 lie outside of the triangle T on the plane of projection, which is guaranteed if we choose

$$\phi < \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{\sin\alpha'}{c' + \cos\alpha'}\right),\,$$

the right hand side being a lower bound of the six angles $B_1A_1C_1$ etc. under the (c', α') -fatness assumption. This completes the proof.



Figure 1: The triangle $T_1 = AC_1E_1$ and the hexagon $H_2 = AB_2C_2D_2E_2F_2$ intersect badly. Here the triangle T is AC_2E_1 .

References

- T. K. Dey and J. Pach, Extremal problems for geometric hypergraphs, Discrete Comput. Geom. 19 (1998), no. 4, 473–484.
- [2] G. Károlyi and J. Solymosi, Almost disjoint triangles in 3-space, Discrete Comput. Geom. 28 (2002), no. 4, 577–583.
- [3] P. McMullen, Ch. Schulz, and J. M. Wills, Polyhedral 2-manifolds in E³ with unusually large genus, Israel J. Math. 46 (1983), 127–144.
- [4] I. Z. Ruzsa and E. Szemerédi, Triple systems with no six points carrying three triangles, in Combinatorics (Keszthely, 1976), Coll. Math. Soc. J. Bolyai 18, Volume II, 939–945.
- [5] G. M. Ziegler, *Polyhedral surfaces of high genus*, Discrete differential geometry, Oberwolfach Semin. 38, Birkhäuser, Basel (2008), 191–213.

A vector-sum theorem and the Fermat–Torricelli problem in normed planes

Konrad J. Swanepoel¹

London School of Economics and Political Sciences

Abstract

We show the following result on vector sums in strictly convex normed planes. Let x_1, \ldots, x_n be $n \ge 3$ vectors in a strictly convex normed plane such that $||x_i|| \ge 1$ and $||\sum_{j \ne i} x_j|| \le 1$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$. Then necessarily $\sum_{i=1}^n x_i = o$. As a consequence, we deduce a result on Fermat–Torricelli points in smooth two-dimensional normed spaces.

Dedicated to Imre Bárány on the occasion of his 70th birthday

1. INTRODUCTION

Imre Bárány has published many interesting and beautiful papers on subset sums, signed sums and rearrangements of vector sequences in normed spaces [1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10]. In this note we prove a simple vector-sum result for strictly convex normed planes (Theorem 2) that has an application to Fermat–Torricelli points in smooth normed planes (Corollary 7). We obtain two further corollaries on the norms of sums of unit vectors in any normed plane (Corollaries 4 and 5).

For another result on two-dimensional vector sums, with a closely related result on Fermat–Torricelli points, see [16].

2. Vector sums

The following observation is a simple exercise in expanding inner products (see [12, Lemma 5] for a generalization).

Proposition 1. If x_1, \ldots, x_n $(n \ge 3)$ are vectors in Euclidean space such that $||x_i||_2 \ge 1$ and $||\sum_{j \ne i} x_j||_2 \le 1$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$, then $\sum_{i=1}^n x_i = o$.

We show that this statement also holds for strictly convex normed planes.

Theorem 2. Let x_1, \ldots, x_n $(n \ge 3)$ be vectors in a strictly convex normed plane such that $||x_i|| \ge 1$ and $||\sum_{j \ne i} x_j|| \le 1$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$. Then $\sum_{i=1}^n x_i = o$.

The proof needs the following technical result.

¹E-mail address: k.swanepoel@lse.ac.uk

Lemma 3. Let x_1 and x_2 be linearly independent vectors in a strictly convex normed plane with $||x_1||, ||x_2|| \ge 1$. Let v be given such that $||x_1 - v||, ||x_2 - v|| \le 1$. Then v is in the closed strip bounded by the line through $2x_1$ and $2x_2$ and its parallel through o.

Proof. Let ℓ_i be a line through the origin parallel to a supporting line of the unit ball B at $\frac{1}{\|x_i\|}x_i$, i = 1, 2. Since x_1 and x_2 are linearly independent and the norm is strictly convex, ℓ_1 and ℓ_2 are not parallel. Then the unit ball $B + x_i$ is contained in the half plane H_i bounded by ℓ_i that contains x_i , i = 1, 2. It follows that v is in the cone $H_1 \cap H_2$, which in turn is contained in the half plane H bounded by the line through o parallel to x_1x_2 and containing x_1 and x_2 .

Since $v' := x_1 + x_2 - v$ also satisfies $||v' - x_i|| \le 1$ (i = 1, 2), by what was proved above, v' also lies in H. It follows that $v \in x_1 + x_2 - H$, which is the half plane bounded by the line through x_1 and x_2 that contains o.

Proof of Theorem 2. Let $v \coloneqq \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i$, and suppose that $v \neq o$. Let ℓ_1 and $-\ell_1$ be the two lines parallel to ov that support the unit ball B. By strict convexity, ℓ_1 touches B in a unique point p. Since $||x_i - v|| \leq 1$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$, the x_i are all in the open half-plane bounded by op containing v. It follows that $o \notin \text{conv} \{x_i\}$. Thus, without loss of generality, x_1, \ldots, x_n are in the cone generated by x_1 and x_2 and by Lemma 3, v is in the closed strip bounded by the line ℓ_2 through $2x_1$ and $2x_2$ and its parallel ℓ_3 through o. However, since x_3, \ldots, x_n all lie on the same side of ℓ_3 as x_1 and x_2 , $\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i = v$ is in the open half-plane bounded by ℓ_2 opposite o. This is a contradiction, and we conclude that v = o.

We obtain the following corollaries that are valid for all normed planes.

Corollary 4. Let x_1, \ldots, x_n $(n \ge 3)$ be vectors in a normed plane such that $||x_i|| \ge 1$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$. Then there exists an i such that $||\sum_{j \ne i} x_j|| \ge 1$.

Proof. Suppose that $\|\sum_{j\neq i} x_j\| < 1$ for all *i*. We may perturb the x_i 's and the norm so that it becomes strictly convex, $\|x_i\|$ remains ≥ 1 and $\|\sum_{j\neq i} x_j\|$ remains < 1 for all *i*, and $\sum_i x_i \neq o$. This contradicts Theorem 2.

The case n = 3 of Corollary 4 was shown by Katona, Mayer and Woyczynski [13].

Corollary 5. Let x_1, \ldots, x_n $(n \ge 3)$ be vectors in a normed plane such that $||x_i|| \ge 1$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$. Then there exists a permutation π of $\{1, \ldots, n\}$ such that $||\sum_{i=1}^k x_{\pi(i)}|| \ge 1$ for all $k = 2, \ldots, n-1$.

3. Fermat–Torricelli points

Let points p_1, \ldots, p_n be given in a normed space X. A point $p \in X$ is called a *Fermat-Torricelli point* of $\{p_i\}$ if p minimizes the function $x \mapsto \sum_{i=1}^n ||x - p_i||$ on X. Answering a question of Fermat, Torricelli showed that if p minimizes the sum of

the distances to the vertices of a triangle $\Delta p_1 p_2 p_3$ in the Euclidean plane, then the rays pp_i form three 120° angles if all angles of the triangle are < 120°. On the other hand, if $\Delta p_1 p_2 p_3$ has an angle that is at least 120°, say at p_1 , then p_1 minimizes the sum of the distances to p_1 , p_2 and p_3 . See [14] for a discussion of the history of this problem.

The following characterization of Fermat–Torricelli points in finite-dimensional normed spaces is well known [14, 11, 15]. We denote the dual of a normed space X by X^* . A norming functional of $x \in X$, $x \neq o$, is an element $\varphi \in X^*$ such that $\|\varphi\|^* = 1$ and $\varphi(x) = \|x\|$. By the separation theorem, any non-zero x has a norming functional, which is unique if X is smooth. Note that a finite-dimensional X is smooth iff its dual X^* is strictly convex.

Lemma 6. Let p, p_1, \ldots, p_n be distinct points in a finite-dimensional normed space X.

- 1. The point p is a Fermat–Torricelli point of p_1, \ldots, p_n iff $p_i p$ has a norming functional $\varphi_i \in X^*$ $(1 \le i \le n)$ such that $\sum_{i=1}^n \varphi_i = o$.
- 2. The point p is a Fermat–Torricelli point of p, p_1, \ldots, p_n iff $p_i p$ has a norming functional $\varphi_i \in X^*$ $(1 \le i \le n)$ such that $\|\sum_{i=1}^n \varphi_i\| \le 1$.

Note the trivial fact that if p is a Fermat–Torricelli point of $\{p_1, \ldots, p_n\}$, then p is also a Fermat–Torricelli point of $\{p, p_1, \ldots, p_n\}$ (and is unique). It follows from Lemma 6 that if p is a Fermat–Torricelli point of $\{p_1, \ldots, p_n\}$ with $p \neq p_i$ for all i, then p is a Fermat–Torricelli point of $\{p, p_1, \ldots, p_n\} \setminus \{p_i\}$ for any i. The following corollary of Theorem 2 gives a converse, but only for smooth normed planes.

Corollary 7. Let p, p_1, \ldots, p_n $(n \ge 3)$ be distinct points in a smooth normed plane. If p is a Fermat–Torricelli point of $\{p\} \cup \{p_j: j \ne i\}$ for each $i = 1, \ldots, n$, then p is a Fermat–Torricelli point of $\{p_1, \ldots, p_n\}$.

Proof. This follows from Theorem 2 and Lemma 6.

We end this section by observing that the above corollary holds in Euclidean space of any dimension. This is a consequence of Proposition 1 and Lemma 6.

Corollary 8. Let p, p_1, \ldots, p_n $(n \ge 3)$ be distinct points in a finite-dimensional Euclidean space. If p is a Fermat–Torricelli point of $\{p\} \cup \{p_j: j \ne i\}$ for each $i = 1, \ldots, n$, then p is a Fermat–Torricelli point of $\{p_1, \ldots, p_n\}$.

4. The hypotheses of two-dimensionality, strict convexity AND SMOOTHNESS

Theorem 2 becomes false for any norm that is not strictly convex and any even $n \ge 4$, and also for any odd $n \ge 3$ if there is a segment on the unit circle of length > 2/(n-1).
Indeed, let conv $\{a, b\}$ be a segment on the unit circle of length $||a - b|| =: \lambda$. Let $e = \lambda^{-1}(b-a)$ and $m = \frac{1}{2}(a+b)$.

If $n \ge 4$ is even, let k = n/2 and $\varepsilon = \frac{\lambda}{2(n-1)}$. For the n = 2k vectors, take $x_1 = \cdots = x_k = m + \varepsilon e$ and $x_{k+1} = \cdots = x_n = -m + \varepsilon e$. Then $\sum_{i=1}^n = n\varepsilon e \neq o$. For each $i = 1, \ldots, k, \sum_{j \neq i} x_j = -m + (n-1)\varepsilon e$, which is on the segment conv $\{-a, -b\}$, since $(n-1)\varepsilon = \lambda/2$. Similarly, for each $i = k+1, \ldots, 2k, \sum_{j \neq i} x_j = m + (n-1)\varepsilon e \in \operatorname{conv} \{a, b\}$, and therefore, $\|\sum_{j \neq i} x_j\| = 1$.

If $n \ge 3$ is odd and $\lambda > \frac{2}{n-1}$, let k = (n-1)/2 and $\varepsilon \in (\frac{1-\lambda/2}{2k-1}, \frac{1}{2k})$, and let the n = 2k+1 vectors be $x_1 = \cdots = x_k = m + \varepsilon e$, $x_{k+1} = \cdots = x_{2k} = -m + \varepsilon e$, $x_n = -e$. It can again be checked that for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$, $\|\sum_{j \ne i} x_j\| = 1$, but $\sum_{i=1}^n x_i = (2k\varepsilon - 1)e \ne o$.

For each dimension $d \ge 3$, there exists a strictly convex norm for which Theorem 2 and Corollary 4 become false. In fact, it is easy to construct $m \ge 5$ unit vectors x_1, \ldots, x_m in ℓ_{∞}^d where $d \ge 3$, such that $\|\sum_{j \ne i} x_i\|_{\infty} < 1$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, m$. (This was shown by Katona, Mayer and Woyczynski [13] for the case m = d + 1.) We indicate the construction in dimension 3. Consider a $3 \times m$ matrix. In each row we set $k := \lfloor (m-1)/2 \rfloor$ entries equal to 1 and m - k entries equal to $-1 + \varepsilon$, where $\varepsilon := 4/(m+1)$ if m is even, and $\varepsilon := 2/m$ if m is odd. We place these entries in an arbitrary order in each of the 3 rows, with the only requirement that there is at least one 1 in each column (which is satisfiable since $m \ge 5$). Then the m columns are unit vectors $x_1, \ldots, x_m \in \ell_{\infty}^3$ such that $\|\sum_{j \ne i} x_i\|_{\infty} < 1$ for each $i = 1, \ldots, m$. By perturbing ℓ_{∞}^3 , we obtain a strictly convex norm with the same property.

The smoothness assumption cannot be dropped in Corollary 7. For instance, consider the normed plane with a regular hexagon as unit ball. Let p be the origin o, and let p_1 , p_2 , p_3 be three consecutive vertices of the unit ball. Then it follows easily from Lemma 6 that p is a Fermat–Torricelli point of $\{p, p_i, p_j\}$ for all distinct i, j. Nevertheless, p is clearly not a Fermat–Torricelli point of $\{p_1, p_2, p_3\}$.

- G. Ambrus, I. Bárány, and V. Grinberg, Small subset sums, Linear Algebra Appl. 499 (2016), 66–78.
- [2] I. Bárány, On a class of balancing games, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 26 (1979), 115–126.
- [3] I. Bárány, A vector-sum theorem and its application to improving flow shop guarantees, Math. Oper. Res. 6 (1981), 445–452.
- [4] I. Bárány, Rearrangements of series in infinite-dimensional spaces, (Russian), Mat. Zametki 46 (1989), 10–17, 126. Translation in Math. Notes 46 (1989), 895–900.
- [5] I. Bárány, On the power of linear dependencies, in: Building Bridges, Bolyai Soc. Math. Stud. 19, Springer, 2008. pp. 31–45.
- [6] I. Bárány and B. Doerr, Balanced partitions of vector sequences, Linear Algebra Appl. 414 (2006), 464–469.
- [7] I. Bárány, B. D. Ginzburg, and V. S. Grinberg, 2013 unit vectors in the plane, Discrete Math. 313 (2013), 1600–1601.

- [8] I. Bárány and V. S. Grinberg, On some combinatorial questions in finite dimensional spaces, Linear Algebra Appl. 41 (1981), 1–9.
- [9] I. Bárány and V. S. Grinberg, A vector-sum theorem in two-dimensional space, Period. Math. Hungar. 16 (1985), 135–138.
- [10] I. Bárány and J. Jerónimo-Castro, Helly type theorems for the sum of vectors in a normed plane, Linear Algebra Appl. 469 (2015), 39–50.
- [11] R. Durier and C. Michelot, Geometrical Properties of the Fermat-Weber Problem, European J. Oper. Res. 20 (1985), 332–343.
- [12] G. O. H. Katona, Inequalities for the distribution of the length of random vector sums, (in Russian), Teor. Verojatnost. i Primenen. 22 (1977), 466–481, translation: Theory Probability Appl. 22 (1977), 450–464.
- [13] G. O. H. Katona, R. Mayer, and W. A. Woyczynski, Length of sums in a Minkowski space, in: Towards a theory of geometric graphs, Contemp. Math. 342, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2004. pp. 113–118
- [14] Y. S. Kupitz and H. Martini, Geometric aspects of the generalized Fermat-Toricelli problem, in: Intuitive Geometry, Bolyai Soc. Math. Stud. 6, János Bolyai Math. Soc., Budapest, 1997. pp. 55–127.
- [15] H. Martini, K. J. Swanepoel, and G. Weiss, The Fermat-Torricelli problem in normed planes and spaces, J. Optim. Theory Appl. 115 (2002), 283–314.
- [16] K. J. Swanepoel, Balancing unit vectors, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 89 (2000), 105–112.

Holes in planar point sets

PAVEL VALTR¹

Charles University, Prague

Let X be a finite set of points in the plane. We say that X is in general position if no three points of X lie on a line. We say that X is in convex position, if each point of X is a vertex of the convex hull of X.

A classical result both in discrete geometry and in Ramsey theory is the Erdős– Szekeres (Happy Ending) theorem.

Theorem 1 (Erdős–Szekeres Theorem [4]). For every $k \ge 3$ there is a (smallest) integer ES(k) such that any set of at least ES(k) points in general position in the plane contains k points in convex position.

Let P be a finite set of points in general position in the plane. A convex k-gon G is called a k-hole (or empty convex k-gon) of P, if all vertices of G lie in P and no point of P lies inside G.

Erdős [3] asked if, for a fixed k, any sufficiently large point set in general position contains a k-hole. Harborth [6] proved that any set of 10 points in general position in the plane contains a 5-hole and gave a construction of 9 points with no 5-hole.

Horton constructed, for any n, a set of n points in general position in the plane with no 7-hole. The remaining case k = 6 became a well-known open problem. Gerken [5] and Nicolás[8] independently solved this problem by showing that any sufficiently large planar point set in general position in the plane contains a 6-hole.

Theorem 2 (The Empty Hexagon Theorem [5, 8]). There is an integer n such that any set of at least n points in general position in the plane has a 6-hole.

Here we give a sample of open problems on holes in planar point sets. Throughout this extended abstract, all point sets are assumed to be finite and in general position.

EMPTY PENTAGONS

Although Harborth's paper has only three pages, the proof that any set of 10 points in general position in the plane contains a 5-hole is based on a relatively complicated case analysis. It would be very interesting to find a simple proof of this fact. We remark that it is very easy to prove that a sufficiently large point set contains a 5-hole. Here is a hint. The Erdős–Szekeres Theorem says that a sufficiently large point set P contains 6 points in general position. Let X be a set of 6 points of P in

¹Research supported by the project CE-ITI no. P202/12/G061 of the Czech Science Foundation (GAČR). E-mail address: valtr@kam.mff.cuni.cz

convex position such that the convex hull of X has minimal area, say. Then it is a little exercise to show that for some $l \in \{3, 4, 5\}$, there are l points of X consecutive in the clockwise order of X which forms a 5-hole together with some 5 - l points of P inside the convex hull of X.

Problem 1. Give a simple proof that any set of 10 points in general position in the plane contains a 5-hole.

MINIMUM NUMBER OF EMPTY POLYGONS

Let $h_k(n)$ be the minimum number k-holes in a set of n points in general position in the plane. Horton [7] proved that $h_k(n) = 0$ for any $k \ge 7$ and any positive integer n.

It is known that $h_3(n)$ and $h_4(n)$ are of order $\Theta(n^2)$. For $h_5(n)$, a first superlinear lower bound was proved very recently in a paper of Aichholzer et al. [1] by a complicated proof which relies on several lemmas with computer assisted proofs. The obtained bound is $h_5(n) = \Omega(n \log^{4/5}(n))$ but it seems very likely that $h_5(n)$ grows much faster. The best known upper bound on $h_5(n)$ is quadratic in n.

Problem 2. Show that $h_5(n) = \Omega(n^{1+\varepsilon})$, for some constant $\varepsilon > 0$.

For the minimum number of empty hexagons, no superlinear lower bound is known.

Problem 3. Show that $\liminf_{n\to\infty} h_6(n)/n = \infty$.

For the minimum number of empty triangles, $\liminf_{n\to\infty} h_3(n)/n \ge 1$ is known. It is a challenging open problem to show a strict inequality.

Problem 4. Show that $\liminf_{n\to\infty} h_3(n)/n > 1$.

A closely related open problem of Imre Bárány asks to prove the existence of a pair of points appearing at the same time in many empty triangles.

Problem 5 (Imre Bárány). Show that for every k there is an n such that any set P of n points in general position in the plane contains a pair of points a, b such that there are (at least) k distinct 3-holes abx with $x \in P \setminus \{a, b\}$.

MINIMUM NUMBER OF EMPTY POLYGONS: UPPER BOUNDS

The following upper bounds on $h_k(n), k = 3, 4, 5, 6$, are proved in a paper of Imre Bárány and myself [2].

$$\begin{split} h_3(n) &\leq 1.6195...n^2 + o(n^2), \\ h_4(n) &\leq 1.9396...n^2 + o(n^2), \\ h_5(n) &\leq 1.0206...n^2 + o(n^2), \\ h_6(n) &\leq 0.2005...n^2 + o(n^2), \end{split}$$

All the four upper bounds are obtained using the so-called squared Horton set. Although these bounds are far from the best-known lower bounds (especially for k = 5, 6), I conjecture that they are very close to the actual values of $h_k(n), k = 3, 4, 5, 6$, as their structure seems to be suitable for the purpose of minimizing the number of holes.

THREE DIMENSIONS

Holes can be defined also for point sets in higher dimensions. In \mathbb{R}^3 , a set is in general position if it contains no three collinear points and no four coplanar points. A subset H of a finite point set P in general position is a *hole*, if it is a subset in convex position such that the interior of its convex hull contains no point of P. It is not very difficult to show that a sufficiently large point set contains a hole of size 7; see the paper [9]. I strongly believe that 7 can be significantly improved but even the possibility to improve it to 8 is an open problem.

Problem 6. Show that there is an integer n such that every set of at least n points in general position in \mathbb{R}^3 contains an 8-hole.

An upper bound of 22 was given in the paper [9]. It is obtained by a 3dimensional analogue of the so-called Horton sets in the plane.

- O. Aichholzer, M. Balko T. Hackl, J. Kynčl, I. Parada, M. Scheucher, P. Valtr, and B. Vogtenhuber, A superlinear lower bound on the number of 5-holes, to appear in Proceedings of SoCG, 2017.
- [2] I. Bárány and P. Valtr, Planar point sets with a small number of empty convex polygons, Studia Math Hung. 41 (2004), 243–266.
- [3] P. Erdős, On some problems of elementary and combinatorial geometry, Ann. Mat. Pura. Appl. 103 (1975), 99–108.
- [4] P. Erdős and G. Szekeres, A combinatorial problem in geometry, Compositio Mathematica 2 (1935), 463–470.
- [5] T. Gerken, *empty convex hexagons in planar point sets*, Discrete and Computational Geometry 39 (2008), 239–272.
- [6] H. Harborth, Konvexe Fünfecke in ebenen Punktmengen, Elem. Math. 33 (1978), 116–118.
- [7] J. D. Horton, Sets with no empty convex 7-gons, Canadian Math. Bull. 26 (1983), 482-484.
- [8] C. M. Nicolás, *The empty hexagon theorem*, Discrete and Computational Geometry 38 (2008), 389–397.
- [9] P. Valtr, Sets in R^d with no large empty convex subsets, Discrete Mathematics 108 (1992), 115–124.

On a Helly-type question for central symmetry

Liping Yuan¹

Hebei Normal University, and Hebei Key Laboratory of Computational Mathematics and Applications

Tudor Zamfirescu²

Universität Dortmund, and Institute of Mathematics "Simion Stoilow", Roumanian Academy

1. INTRODUCTION

Let \mathcal{F} be a family of sets in \mathbb{R}^d . A set $M \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ is called \mathcal{F} -convex if for any pair of distinct points $x, y \in M$ there is a set $F \in \mathcal{F}$ such that $x, y \in F$ and $F \subset M$.

The second author proposed at the 1974 meeting on Convexity in Oberwolfach the investigation of this very general kind of convexity. Usual convexity, affine linearity, arc-wise connectedness, polygonal connectedness, are just some examples of \mathcal{F} -convexity (for suitably chosen families \mathcal{F}).

If \mathcal{F} contains the family of all line-segments, then the respective \mathcal{F} -convexity is a generalization of the usual convexity. This is so for the mentioned arc-wise or polygonal connectedness.

If every member of \mathcal{F} is convex, then the respective \mathcal{F} -convexity is a particularization of the usual convexity. As examples, we mention the rectangular convexity studied by Blind, Valette and the second author [1], and by Böröczky Jr [2], and also the right convexity investigated by the second author [8].

For other families \mathcal{F} , the \mathcal{F} -convexity is neither implied, nor implies the usual convexity. This is the case, for example, if \mathcal{F} consists of special types of finite sets. We survey here some recent results obtained in this direction.

As usual, for $M \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, $\mathrm{bd}M$ denotes its boundary, $\mathrm{int}M$ its interior, $\mathrm{diam}M = \sup_{x,y \in M} ||x - y||$ its diameter, and $\mathrm{conv} M$ its convex hull.

For distinct $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, let \overline{xy} be the line through x and y, xy the line-segment from x to y, H_{xy} the hyperplane through x orthogonal to \overline{xy} , and C_{xy} the hypersphere of diameter xy.

For S_1 , $S_2 \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, let $d(S_1, S_2) = \inf\{d(x, y) \mid x \in S_1, y \in S_2\}$ denote the distance between S_1 and S_2 .

The *d*-dimensional unit ball (centred at **0**) is denoted by B_d ($d \ge 2$).

¹The first author gratefully acknowledges financial support by NNSF of China (11471095); NSF of Hebei Province (A2013205189); Program for Excellent Talents in University, Hebei Province (GCC2014043). E-mail address: lpyuan@hebtu.edu.cn

²E-mail address: tudor.zamfirescu@mathematik.uni-dortmund.de

2. Isosceles Triple Convexity

Three points $x, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$ (always $d \ge 2$) form an *isosceles triple* $\{x, y, z\}$ if one of them is equidistant from the others.

Let $S \subset \mathbb{R}^d$. A pair of points $x, y \in S$ is said to enjoy the *it-property in* S if there exists a third point $z \in S$, such that $\{x, y, z\}$ is an isosceles triple. The set S is called *isosceles triple convex*, for short *it-convex*, if every pair of its points enjoys the *it*-property in S.

We repost in this section results from [7].

2.1. Nondiscrete *it*-convexity

Theorem 1. All sets in \mathbb{R}^d which cannot be strictly separated by any hyperplane are *it-convex*.

Corollary 2. All connected sets in \mathbb{R}^d are it-convex.

Theorem 3. Let S be a set with at least 2 components. If the union of any two components is it-convex, then S is it-convex.

Let h denote the Pompeiu-Hausdorff distance.

Theorem 4. If the compact set K has two connected components A, B, and h(A,B) < r(A)/2, then K is it-convex.

The continua A, B are called *unseparable* if, for any hyperplane H disjoint from $A \cup B$, one of the two open half-spaces determined by H includes $A \cup B$.

Theorem 5. Let $A_1, A_2, ..., A_n$ be continua, and G be a tree with vertex set $V(G) = \{v_1, ..., v_n\}$. Suppose for every edge $(v_i, v_j) \in E(G)$, the sets A_i, A_j are unseparable. Then $\bigcup_{i=1}^n A_i$ is rq-convex.

2.2. *it*-convexity of Archimedean tilings

A plane tiling \mathcal{T} is a countable family of closed sets $\mathcal{T} = \{T_1, T_2, \cdots\}$ which cover the plane without gaps or overlaps. And every closed set $T_i \in \mathcal{T}$ is called a *tile* of \mathcal{T} . We consider a special case of tilings in which each tile is a polygon. If the corners and sides of a polygon coincide with the vertices and edges of the tiling, we call the tiling *edge-to-edge*. A so-called *type of vertex* describes its neighbourhood. If, for example, in some cyclic order around a vertex there are a triangle, then another triangle, then a square, next a third triangle, and last another square, then its type is $(3^2.4.3.4)$. We consider plane edge-to-edge tilings in which all tiles are regular polygons, and all vertices are of the same type. Thus, the vertex type will be defining our tiling. There exist precisely eleven such tilings [3]. These are (3^6) , $(3^4.6)$, $(3^3.4^2)$, $(3^2.4.3.4)$, (3.4.6.4), (3.6.3.6), (3.12^2) , (4^4) , (4.6.12), (4.8^2) , and (6^3) . They are called *Archimedean tilings*.

We shall say that a tiling is *rq-convex* if its vertex set is *rq*-convex.

Theorem 6. The Archimedean tilings (3^6) , (4^4) , (6^3) , (3.6.3.6) $(3^2.4.3.4)$ and $(3^4.6)$ are *it-convex*.

Despite the encouraging Theorem 6, not all Archimedian tilings are rq-convex.

Theorem 7. The Archimedian tilings (4.8^2) , (3.4.6.4), $(3^3.4^2)$, (4.6.12), (3.12^2) are not it-convex.

2.3. *it*-convexity of finite subsets of the square lattice

Let x, y be points of the square lattice, and P, Q be shortest paths from x to y in the graph defined by the lattice. These paths, considered as arcs in \mathbb{R}^2 , form the boundary of an open set U, the unique unbounded component of $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus (P \cup Q)$.

All lattice points in $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus U$ form a set that we call *monotone*. It is clear from the definition that both P, Q and the whole monotone set determined by them lie in the rectangle (with horizontal and vertical sides) with diagonal xy, and contain x, y, which are called *endpoints* of the set.

Let $\mathcal{T}(m,n)$ be the family of all monotone sets with endpoints (0,0) and (m,n).

Theorem 8. There are precisely 8 pairwise non-congruent it-convex monotone sets in $\bigcup_{m,n=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{T}(m,n)$, namely one in $\mathcal{T}(2,0)$, two in $\mathcal{T}(1,1)$, three in $\mathcal{T}(2,2)$, one in $\mathcal{T}(4,4)$, and one in $\mathcal{T}(5,5)$ (see Figure 1).

2.4. *it*-convexity of other finite sets

Are the vertex sets of all regular polygons rq-convex?

Theorem 9. The vertex set of a regular n-polygon is it-convex if and only if $n \not\equiv 2 \pmod{4}$.

Also the vertex sets of the five Platonic polyhedra behave differently. While the vertex sets of the regular tetrahedron and regular octahedron are *rq*-convex, those of the cube, regular dodecahedron and regular icosahedron are not.

Let $S = \{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n\} \subset \mathbb{R}^d$. A matrix $A(S) = [a_{ijk}]_{n \times n \times n}$ is called the *it-trimatrix of S* in case $a_{ijk} = 1$ if and only if $\{x_i, x_j, x_k\}$ form an isosceles triple, otherwise $a_{ijk} = 0$. Particularly, $a_{ijk} = 0$, when at least two of i, j, k are equal.

Thus, $S = \{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n\}$ is *it*-convex if and only if for any distinct $i, j \in \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$, there is a k such that, in A(S), $a_{ijk} \neq 0$.



Figure 1: All the non-congruent *it*-convex monotone sets.

Let $A(S) = [a_{ijk}]_{n \times n \times n}$ be the *it*-trimatrix of $S = \{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n\}$. The matrix $B(S) = [b_{ij}]_{n \times n}$ is called the *it-matrix of* S, if $b_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} a_{ijk}$.

Obviously, $S = \{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n\}$ is *it*-convex if and only if its *it*-matrix is non-zero outside the main diagonal.

An *n*-point *it*-convex set is called *poor* if the number of isosceles triples in it is minimal among all *n*-point *it*-convex sets. The number of isosceles triples in a poor *n*-point *it*-convex set is denoted by N(n).

Theorem 10. $N(n) \ge \left\lceil \frac{n(n-1)}{6} \right\rceil$, when n is odd; $N(n) \ge \left\lceil \frac{n(n-1)}{6} \right\rceil + 1$, when n is even.

Theorem 11. N(3) = 1, N(4) = 3, N(5) = 4, N(6) = 6.

3. RIGHT QUADRUPLE CONVEXITY

In this section we present a discretization of rectangular convexity, the right quadruple convexity, which constitutes a generalization of rectangular convexity, see [4].

A set of four points $w, x, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$ forms a *rectangular quadruple* if conv $\{w, x, y, z\}$ is a non-degenerate rectangle. Let \mathcal{R} be the family of all rectangular quadruples. Here, we shall choose \mathcal{F} to be this family \mathcal{R} .

Let $M \subset \mathbb{R}^d$. A pair of points $x, y \in M$ is said to enjoy the *rq-property in* M if there exists another pair of points $z, w \in M$, such that $\{w, x, y, z\}$ is a rectangular quadruple. The set M is called *rq-convex*, if every pair of its points enjoys the *rq*-property in M. This property is the *right quadruple convexity*. Let $A \subset \mathbb{R}^d$. We call A^* an *rq-convex completion* of A, if A^* is *rq*-convex, $A^* \supset A$ and card $(A^* \setminus A)$ is minimal (but possibly infinite). Let $\gamma(A) = \operatorname{card}(A^* \setminus A)$, which is called the *rq-convex completion number* of A, in case A is finite. For finite n, let $\gamma(n) = \sup\{\gamma(A) : \operatorname{card} A = n\}.$

3.1. Not simply connected rq-convex sets

Theorem 12. If conv M is a disc and $(conv M) \setminus M$ lies in a circular disc of radius r at distance at least $(\sqrt{3} - 1)r$ from bd conv M, then M is rq-convex.

This theorem gives a useful sufficient condition for the rq-convexity of a set M which is not simply connected, regardless the shape of $(\operatorname{conv} M) \setminus M$. Notice that it allows both M and its complement to have arbitrarily many components.

3.2. UNBOUNDED rq-CONVEX SETS

An infinite family \mathcal{K} of closed convex sets is said to be *uniformly bounded below* if, for some $\lambda > 0$, each of the sets contains a translate of the disc λB_2 .

Theorem 13. Let \mathcal{K} be a family of pairwise disjoint closed convex sets in \mathbb{R}^d . If \mathcal{K} is finite or uniformly bounded below, then the closure of the complement of $\bigcup \mathcal{K}$ is rq-convex.

We can drop the convexity condition if the considered sets are bounded.

Theorem 14. The complement of any bounded set in \mathbb{R}^d is rq-convex.

Theorem 15. The Archimedean tilings (4^4) , (3^6) , (6^3) , (3.6.3.6), $(3^4.6)$, (3.3.4.3.4), (4.8.8) have rq-convex vertex sets.

Theorem 16. The vertex sets of the Archimedean tilings (3.3.3.4.4), (3.4.6.4), (4.6.12), (3.12.12) are not rq-convex.

3.3. rq-convex skeleta of parallelotopes

As already remarked in [1], for $d \ge 3$, there is not even any conjectured characterization of rectangularly convex sets in \mathbb{R}^d . Among the sets mentioned in [1] as rectangularly convex we find the cylinder $K \times [0,1]$ with a (d-1)-dimensional compact convex set K as basis. In particular, any *right parallelotope*, i.e. the cartesian product of d pairwise orthogonal line-segments, is rectangularly convex and, a fortiori, rq-convex.

Theorem 17. The 1-skeleton of any right parallelotope is rq-convex.

Contrary to the case of an arbitrary cylinder, the following is true.

Theorem 18. The boundary of any right parallelotope is rq-convex.

Theorem 19. Not every convex cylinder has an rq-convex boundary.

3.4. rq-convexity of finite sets

Let \mathcal{A} be the family of all finite point sets in \mathbb{R}^2 .

Theorem 20. For any set $A \in \mathcal{A}$ with card $A = n \ge 3$, we have $\gamma(A) \le n^2 - 2n$.

Theorem 21. There are precisely two kinds of 6-point rq-convex sets in A, shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2: 6-point rq-convex sets.

Theorem 22. There are precisely three kinds of 8-point rq-convex sets, shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3: 8-point rq-convex sets.

Theorem 23. The smallest odd cardinality of an rq-convex set in \mathbb{R}^2 is 9.

3.5. rq-convexity of the vertex sets of Platonic solids

Due to their symmetry, the vertex sets of the cube, regular octahedron, regular dodecahedron, and regular icosahedron are all rq-convex. Among the Platonic solids, only the regular tetrahedron lacks this property. But what is the rq-convex completion number of the vertex set of the regular tetrahedron?

Theorem 24. The rq-convex completion number of the vertex set of the regular tetrahedron is 3.

Theorem 24 reveals the existence of 7-point rq-convex sets in \mathbb{R}^3 , in contrast with the inexistence of such sets in \mathbb{R}^2 . What happens in higher dimensions?

For space restrictions, we have to abandon an initially planned fourth section about right triple convexity, introduced and studied in [5], [6].

- R. Blind, G. Valette, and T. Zamfirescu, *Rectangular convexity*, Geom. Dedicata 9 (1980), 317-327.
- [2] K. Böröczky, Jr., Rectangular convexity of convex domains of constant width, Geom. Dedicata 34 (1990), 13-18.
- [3] B. Grünbaum and G. C. Shephard, *Tilings and Patterns*. New York: W. H. Freeman and Company, 1987.
- [4] D. Li, L. Yuan, and T. Zamfirescu, Right quadruple convexity, Ars Math. Contemp. 14 (2018), 25-38.
- [5] L. Yuan and T. Zamfirescu, *Right triple convex completion*, J. Convex Analysis 22 (2015), 291-301.
- [6] L. Yuan and T. Zamfirescu, Right triple convexity, J. Convex Analysis 23 (2016), 1219-1246.
- [7] L. Yuan, T. Zamfirescu, Y. Zhang, Isosceles triple convexity, Carpathian J. Math. 33 (2017), 127-139.
- [8] T. Zamfirescu, Right convexity, J. Convex Analysis 21 (2014), 253-260.

CONTRIBUTED ARTICLES

Algebraic vertices of non-convex polyhedra

Arseniy Akopyan¹

Institute of Science and Technology Austria

Based on joint work with Imre Bárány and Sinai Robins.

We study the vertices of **non-convex polyhedra**, which we also call **generalized polyhedra**, and which we define as the finite union of convex polyhedra in \mathbb{R}^d . There are many different ways to define a vertex of a generalized polyhedron P, most of them based on properties of the tangent cone to P at a point $\mathbf{v} \in P$. The tangent cone at \mathbf{v} , which we write as $\text{tcone}(P, \mathbf{v})$, is intuitively the collection of all directions that we can 'see' if we stand at \mathbf{v} and look into P. We furthermore define a **line-cone** to be a cone that is the union of parallel lines. Throughout, we denote the **indicator function** of any set $S \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ by [S]. In other words [S](x) = 1 if $x \in S$, and [S](x) = 0 if $x \notin S$.

Definition. For a generalized polyhedron P, a point $\mathbf{v} \in P$ is called an **algebraic vertex** of P if the indicator function of its tangent cone tcone (P, \mathbf{v}) cannot be represented (up to a set of measure zero) as a linear combination of indicator functions of line-cones.

The theorem of D. Frettlöh and A. Glazyrin [3] states that the indicator function of a convex cone which is not a line-cone cannot be represented as a sum of indicator functions of line-cones, implying that the vertices of an ordinary convex polytope are indeed algebraic vertices.

Our main result is the following description of algebraic vertices, showing that in some sense these generalized vertices form a minimal set of points needed to describe a **generalized polytope**, which is by definition a bounded generalized polyhedron.

Theorem 1. Let \mathcal{V}_P be the set of algebraic vertices of a generalized polytope $P \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, and let \mathcal{T}_P be the set of simplices whose vertices lie in \mathcal{V}_P . Then

$$[P] = \sum_{T_i \in \mathcal{T}_P} \alpha_i[T_i], \tag{1}$$

where the α_i are integers and the equality holds throughout \mathbb{R}^d , except perhaps for a set of measure zero.

Moreover, if [P] is represented (up to measure zero) as a linear combination of indicator functions of some finite number of simplices, then the set of vertices of these simplices must contain \mathcal{V}_P .

¹E-mail address: akopjan@gmail.com

Generalized (non-bounded) polyhedra also can be described through their algebraic vertices with the following theorem.

Theorem 2. Let \mathcal{V}_P be the set of algebraic vertices of a generalized polyhedron $P \subset \mathbb{R}^d$. Then

$$[P] = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \alpha_i [D_i] + \sum_{\mathbf{v} \in \mathcal{V}_P} [\operatorname{tcone}(P, \mathbf{v})],$$

for some integers α_i and line-cones D_i , i = 1, ..., k. The equality holds almost everywhere, except perhaps on a set of measure zero.

Moreover, if [P] is represented (up to a set of measure zero) as a linear combination of indicator functions of line-cones and simplicial cones, then the set of apices of these simplicial cones should contain \mathcal{V}_{P} .

It is well known that the indicator function of a line-cone has vanishing Fourier– Laplace transform (see [1] or [2]). Therefore if \mathbf{v} is not an algebraic vertex, then the Fourier–Laplace transform of the indicator function of its tangent cone also vanishes, because it is a finite linear combination of indicator functions of linecones. We show that the opposite also holds. We formulate this fact in a more general form.

Theorem 3. If P is a generalized polyhedron with zero Fourier–Laplace transform, then it does not have algebraic vertices.

- A. Barvinok. Integer Points in Polyhedra, European Mathematical Society publications, vol. 452, 2008.
- [2] M. Beck and S. Robins. Computing the continuous discretely: Integer-point enumeration in polyhedra, Springer, 2007.
- [3] D. Frettlöh and A. Glazyrin. The Lonely Vertex Problem. Contributions to Algebra and Geometry 50 (2009), no. 1., 71–79.

Longest convex chains and subadditive ergodicity

Gergely Ambrus¹

Alfréd Rényi Institute of Mathematics, Hungarian Academy of Sciences

Let $T \in \mathbb{R}^2$ be a triangle with vertices p_0, p_1, p_2 and let $X \in T$ be a finite point set. A subset $Y \in X$ is a convex chain in T (from p_0 to p_2) if the convex hull of $Y \cup \{p_0, p_2\}$ is a convex polygon with exactly |Y| + 2 vertices. The length of the convex chain Y is just |Y|. We are interested in the situation when $X = X_n$ is a random sample of n random, uniform, independent points from T. Let L_n be the length of a longest convex chain in X_n . The random variable L_n is a distant relative of the "longest increasing subsequence" problem, cf. [3].

In our paper with I. Bárány [1] we showed that the order of magnitude of L_n is $n^{1/3}$, moreover, its expectation does not fluctuate too much:

Theorem 1. There exists a positive constant α for which

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\mathbb{E}L_n}{\sqrt[3]{n}} = \alpha \,.$$

We also proved the estimates $1.57 < \alpha < 3.43$, and (based on strong experimental evidence) we conjectured that $\alpha = 3$. This would match nicely the result concerning longest increasing chains [3], where the expectation converges to $2\sqrt{n}$.

We show that Theorem 1 may be proved effortlessly using subadditive ergodic theory. We will apply the celebrated result of Kingman [2]:

Theorem 2 (Subadditive ergodic theorem, Kingman). Assume $X_{n,m}$, $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$, is a family of random variables satisfying the following conditions:

- S1) $X_{l,n} \leq X_{l,m} + X_{m,n}$ whenever $0 \leq l < m < n$;
- S2) The joint distributions of the process $\{X_{m+1,n+1}\}$ are the same as those of $\{X_{m,n}\}$;
- S3) For each n, $\mathbb{E}|X_{0,n}| < \infty$ and $\mathbb{E}X_{0,n} > -cn$ for some constant c.

Then

$$\gamma = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\mathbb{E} X_{0,n}}{n}$$

exists,

$$X = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{X_{0,n}}{n}$$

exists almost surely, and $\mathbb{E}X = \gamma$.

¹The author acknowledges the support of the National Research, Development, and Innovation Office grant K119670. E-mail address: ambrus@renyi.hu

In order to make use of this result, first we change our probabilistic model. Let \mathcal{P} be a Poisson process on \mathbb{R}^2 of intensity 4. Denote by Γ the parabola arc $\{y = x^2, x \ge 0\}$ in \mathbb{R}^2 . For $a \ge 0$, let $p_a = (a, a^2)$, and let ℓ_a be the tangent line to Γ at p_a , i. e., the equation of ℓ_a is $y = 2ax - a^2$. Furthermore, let $T_{a,b}$ denote the triangle determined by the lines ℓ_a , ℓ_b and $p_a p_b$, see Figure 1. The third vertex of $T_{a,b}$ is ((a+b/2), ab), and the area of $T_{a,b}$ is $(a-b)^3/4$. Hence, the expected number of points of \mathcal{P} falling in $T_{a,b}$ is $(a-b)^3$. Let now denote by $X_{m,n}$ the longest convex chain from p_m to p_n in $T_{m,n}$ containing points of \mathcal{P} . Since a concatenation of two convex chains in $T_{l,m}$ and $T_{m,n}$ is a convex chain in $T_{l,n}$, condition S1) is satisfied. Translation invariance of \mathcal{P} shows the validity of S2), and S3) holds trivially. Thus, we obtain that $\lim EX_{0,n}/n$ exists. An easy argument shows that $\mathbb{E}X_{0,n} = \mathbb{E}L_{n^3}$, thus Theorem 1 follows with $\alpha = \gamma$.



Figure 1: Supporting triangle of the parabola.

Note that Theorem 2 implies a stronger result than that of Theorem 1. However, it does not provide an estimate on α .

Standard concentration inequalities of Talagrand[4] show that the random variable $X_{0,n}$ is exponentially concentrated about its expectation. This probabilistic statement further implies a geometric concentration: the longest convex chains from p_0 to p_n are very close to Γ . Quantitative estimates are to be found in [1].

Instead of convex chains, one may consider higher order convexity, e.g. kmonotone interpolability. The same technique can be applied to determine the order of magnitude of the expectation of longest k-monotone chains within a triangle, which proves to be $n^{1/(k+1)}$. The determination of the exact constants in the asymptotics remain an open question.

- G. Ambrus and I. Bárány, Longest convex chains, Random Structures Algorithms 35 (2009), no. 2., 137–162.
- [2] J. F. C. Kingman, Subadditive ergodic theory, Ann. Prob. 1 (1973), no. 6., 883–909.
- [3] D. Romik, The surprising mathematics of longest increasing subsequences. Cambridge University Press, 2014.
- [4] M. Talagrand, A new look at independence, Ann. Probab. 24 (1996), 1–34.

Random polytopes and the affine surface area

Károly J. Böröczky¹

Alfréd Rényi Institute of Mathematics, Hungarian Academy of Sciences, Central European University, and Loránd Eötvös University, Budapest

1. Affine surface area

By a convex body K in \mathbb{R}^d , we mean a compact convex set with non-empty interior. The affine surface area of K has various definitions. One is based on the classical theorem of Aleksandrov stating that for almost every point $x \in \partial K$ with respect to the (d-1)-dimensional Hausdorff measure \mathcal{H}^{d-1} , there exists a paraboloid osculating ∂K . Then the (generalized) Gaussian curvature $\kappa(x)$ of ∂K at such an x is the Gaussian curvature of this paraboloid at x, and the function $\kappa(x)$ is known to be integrable with respect to \mathcal{H}^{d-1} . Hence going back to Blaschke [10] and [11], affine surface area can be defined as (see Schütt, Werner [23])

$$\Omega(K) = \int_{\partial K} \kappa(x)^{\frac{1}{d+1}} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(x).$$
(1)

Another approach considers the floating body K_t assigned to K for t > 0. More precisely, K_t is the intersection of all half-spaces whose complements intersect K in a set of volume at most t, which is non-empty for $t \leq \frac{1}{e}V(K)$. According to Schütt, Werner [23], we have

$$\Omega(K) = c_d \lim_{t \to 0^+} \frac{V(K) - V(K_t)}{t^{\frac{2}{d+1}}}$$
(2)

where $c_d = 2(\frac{\omega_{d-1}}{d+1})^{\frac{2}{d+1}}$ and ω_m is the *m*-volume of the *m*-dimensional unit ball. The affine surface area satisfies the following properties where the first property (i) explains the name.

- (i) $\Omega(K)$ is invariant under volume preserving affine transformations (see (2)); namely, $\Omega(\Phi(K)) = \Omega(K)$ if $\Phi x = Ax + b$ where $A \in GL(n, \mathbb{R})$ with det $A = \pm 1$, and $b \in \mathbb{R}^d$.
- (ii) $\Omega(K)$ is a valuation; namely,

$$\Omega(K) + \Omega(C) = \Omega(K \cup C) + \Omega(K \cap C)$$

if $K \cup C$ is convex for convex bodies K, C (see (1)),

¹The author acknowledges the support of the National Research, Development, and Innovation Office grant K119670. E-mail address: boroczky.karoly.j@renyi.mta.hu

(iii) $\Omega(K)$ is upper semicontinuous; namely, if the convex bodies K_n tend to K, then

$$\Omega(K) \ge \limsup_{n \to \infty} \Omega(K_n)$$

according to Dolzmann, Hug [12], Leichtweiß [15] and Lutwak [17],

(iv) $\Omega(K)$ is positive for convex bodies with C^2 boundary, and zero for polytopes (see (1)),

(v)
$$\Omega(\lambda K) = \lambda^{\frac{d(d-1)}{d+1}} \Omega(K)$$
 for $\lambda > 0$ (see (1)).

For lower dimensional compact convex sets, the affine surface area is defined to be zero. Ludwig, Reitzner [16] proved that the properties (i)-(iv) characterize affine surface area.

Theorem 1 (Ludwig, Reitzner). If Z is an upper semicontinuous $SL(n, \mathbb{R})$ and translation invariant real valued valuation on convex compact sets in \mathbb{R}^d , then there exist $c_1, c_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $c_0 \ge 0$ such that

$$Z(K) = c_1 + c_2 V(K) + c_0 \Omega(K)$$

for any convex body K where V(K) is the volume.

According to the Affine Isoperimetric Inequality due to Blaschke [10, 11], whose proof for three dimensional convex bodies with C^2 boundaries readily extends to general dimension and to general convex bodies, we have

Theorem 2 (Affine Isoperimetric Inequality (Blaschke)). If K is a convex body in \mathbb{R}^d , then

$$\Omega(K)^{d+1} \le d^{d+1}\omega_d^2 V(K)^{d-1}$$

with equality if and only if K is an ellipsoid.

Here the equality case among general convex bodies was actually characterized by Petty [18].

2. RANDOM POLYTOPES IN A CONVEX BODY

Let K be a convex body in \mathbb{R}^d with V(K) = 1. First, we consider the convex hull $P_n = P_{n,K}$ of n points chosen randomly from K according to the uniform distribution, and we are interested in the expected volume of $K \setminus P_n$ and the expectation of the number $f_i(P_n)$ of *i*-faces of P_n for large n (see Bárány [5] for an extensive survey). The problem was initiated by Rényi and Sulanke [19, ?], who described the asymptotics of $V(K \setminus P_n)$ and $f_0(P_n)$ as n tends to infinity if d = 2 and ∂K is C_+^3 . For higher dimensions, the breakthrough came by Bárány [1] for convex bodies with C_+^3 boundary, and his result was extended to any convex body by C. Schütt [22].

Theorem 3 (Bárány, Schütt). If K is a convex body in \mathbb{R}^d with V(K) = 1, then

(i) $\lim_{n\to\infty} n^{\frac{2}{d+1}} \mathbb{E} V(K \setminus P_n) = c(d) \Omega(K)$

(*ii*)
$$\lim_{n\to\infty} n^{\frac{-(d-1)}{d+1}} \mathbb{E}f_0(P_n) = c(d)\Omega(K)$$

where c(d) depends only on d.

Let us fix a ball B of volume one, and a simplex T of volume one in \mathbb{R}^d . As the Affine Isoperimetric Inequality suggest, ellipsoids are worst approximable in the sense of volume; namely, for any n, $V(K \setminus P_{n,K})$ is maximized by ellipsoids according to Groemer [13]. On the other hand, Bárány, Buchta [6] proved that asymptotically, simplices are best approximable in a very strong sense.

Theorem 4 (Bárány, Buchta). If K is a convex body and not a simplex in \mathbb{R}^d with V(K) = 1, then

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \frac{\mathbb{E} V(K \setminus P_{n,K})}{\mathbb{E} V(T \setminus P_{n,T})} \ge 1 + \frac{1}{d+1}$$

Concerning *i*-faces for $i \ge 1$, Bárány [2] determined the order of approximation.

Theorem 5 (Bárány). There exist constants $c_1, c_2 > 0$ depending on d such that if K is a convex body in \mathbb{R}^d with V(K) = 1 and $n \ge n_K$, then

$$c_1V(K\backslash K_{1/n}) \leq \mathbb{E}f_i(P_n) \leq c_2V(K\backslash K_{1/n})$$
 for $i = 0, \dots, d-1$.

In other words, $\mathbb{E}f_i(P_n)$ is approximately $\Omega(K)n^{\frac{(d-1)}{d+1}}$ for $i = 0, \ldots, d-1$. The role of the floating body is even more apparent in a result by Bárány and Vitale [9]. For a convex body K in \mathbb{R}^d with V(K) = 1, let $\mathbb{E}P_n$ be the expected random polytope defined in terms of the expectation of the support function.

Theorem 6 (Bárány, Vitale). There exist constants b > a > 0 depending only on d such that if K is convex body in \mathbb{R}^2 with V(K) = 1 and $n > n_K$, then

$$K_{b/n} \subset \mathbb{E}P_n \subset K_{a/n}.$$

In 1864, Sylvester [24] asked for the probability that 4 random points in a planar convex body is in convex position; namely, all the four are vertices of their convex hull. Here the probability measure and K was not specified. The generally accepted meaning of the question is the following. For $n \ge 4$ and a planar convex body Kof area one, we search for the probability p(n, K) that n random points according to the uniform probability measure on K is in convex position. If n = 4, then the extremal values of p(n, K) were determined by Blaschke [11]; namely,

$$p(4,T) \le p(4,K) \le p(4,B).$$

In general, p(n, K) is not known, but Bárány [4] was able to describe the asymptotics of p(n, K). In order to state his result, we note that given a convex body K in any \mathbb{R}^d , the upper semicontinuity of the affine surface area and the Blaschke Selection Theorem yield that the affine surface area of any convex bodies contained in K attains its maximum. In the planar case, Bárány [3] managed to prove that the maximum is attained at a unique convex body contained in K.

Theorem 7 (Bárány). For any convex body K in \mathbb{R}^2 , there exists a unique convex body $K_0 \subset K$ such that

$$\Omega(K_0) = \max\{\Omega(C) : C \subset K \text{ is a convex body}\}.$$

This K_0 comes up in various affine invariant extremal problems, say in Bárány's asymptotic solution of Sylvester's problem in [4].

Theorem 8 (Bárány). For any convex body K in \mathbb{R}^2 , we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n^2 \sqrt[n]{p(n,K)} = \frac{e^2}{4} \Omega(K_0)^3.$$

Unfortunately, the higher dimensional analogue of Theorem 7 is still not known.

Conjecture 9 (Bárány). For any $d \ge 3$ and convex body K in \mathbb{R}^d , there exists a unique convex body $K_0 \subset K$ such that

$$\Omega(K_0) = \max\{\Omega(C) : C \subset K \text{ is a convex body}\}.$$

This conjecture was verified by Schneider [21] for convex bodies with elliptic type, in which case $K_0 = K$.

3. Lattice polytopes in a convex body with respect to $\varepsilon \mathbb{Z}^d$

Random polytopes in a convex body with K in \mathbb{R}^d can be modelled by polytopes whose vertices are chosen from $\varepsilon \mathbb{Z}^d$ as ε tends to zero. We write $Q_{\varepsilon} = Q_{\varepsilon,K}$ to denote the convex hull of $K \cap \varepsilon \mathbb{Z}^d$.

In the case of the unit ball B^d , Bárány, Larman [7] proved that the convex hull Q_{ε} behaves as P_n for $n = |B^d \cap \varepsilon \mathbb{Z}^d|$ where $|\cdot|$ stands for cardinality.

Theorem 10 (Bárány, Larman). There exist $c_1, c_2 > 0$ depending on d such that $Q_{\varepsilon} = Q_{\varepsilon,B^d}$ satisfies

(i)
$$c_1 \varepsilon^{\frac{2d}{d+1}} \leq V(B^d \setminus Q_{\varepsilon}) \leq c_2 \varepsilon^{\frac{2d}{d+1}}$$

(ii) $c_1 \varepsilon^{\frac{-d(d-1)}{d+1}} \leq f_i(Q_{\varepsilon}) \leq c_2 \varepsilon^{\frac{-d(d-1)}{d+1}}$ for $i = 0, \dots, d-1$

For any convex body K with C^2_+ boundary, an unpublished result by Bárány, Böröczky says that $f_i(Q_{\varepsilon})$ is approximately $\Omega(\frac{1}{\varepsilon}K)$ for small $\varepsilon > 0$.

Theorem 11 (Bárány, B). There exist $c_1, c_2 > 0$ depending on d such that if K is a convex body in \mathbb{R}^d with C^2_+ boundary and $i = 0, \ldots, d-1$, then

$$c_1 \Omega\left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon}K\right) \le f_i(Q_{\varepsilon}) \le c_2 \Omega\left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon}K\right)$$

In Theorem 11, one does not need the condition V(K) = 1, however, some condition on ∂K is needed.

A spectacular development about lattice polytopes is the understanding the typical lattice polygon in a planar convex body. For a convex body K with V(K) = 1 in \mathbb{R}^2 and for small $\varepsilon > 0$, let $\mathcal{P}(K, \varepsilon)$ be the family of all lattice polygons in K. Bárány [3] determined the asymptotics of at least log $|\mathcal{P}(K, \varepsilon)|$ where ζ stands for Riemann's zeta function.

Theorem 12 (Bárány). For a convex body K with V(K) = 1 in \mathbb{R}^2 , and the K_0 in Theorem 7, we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \varepsilon^{-2/3} \log |\mathcal{P}(K,\varepsilon)| = 3\sqrt[3]{\frac{\zeta(3)}{4\zeta(2)}} \Omega(K_0).$$

Bárány [3] determined the limit shape of lattice polygons in a planar convex body. We write $\delta_H(C,Q)$ to denote the Hausdorff distance of convex compact sets C and Q.

Theorem 13 (Bárány). For a convex body K with V(K) = 1 in \mathbb{R}^2 , and the K_0 in Theorem 7, and for any small $\eta > 0$, we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \frac{\{P \in \mathcal{P}(K, \varepsilon) : \delta_H(P, K_0) < \eta\}}{|\mathcal{P}(K, \varepsilon)|} = 1.$$

Finally, Bárány, Prodromou [8] considered the the maximal possible number $M(K,\varepsilon)$ of vertices of a lattice polygon in $\mathcal{P}(K,\varepsilon)$.

Theorem 14 (Bárány, Prodromou). For a convex body K with V(K) = 1 in \mathbb{R}^2 , and the K_0 in Theorem 7, we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \varepsilon^{-2/3} M(K, \varepsilon) = \frac{3}{(2\pi)^{2/3}} \Omega(K_0).$$

- [1] I. Bárány, Random polytopes in smooth convex bodies, Mathematika, **39** (1982), 81–92.
- [2] I. Bárány, Intrinsic volumes and f-vectors of random polytopes, Math. Annalen, 285 (1989), 671–699.
- [3] I. Bárány, Affine perimeter and limit shape, J. reine und ang. Mathematik, 484 (1997), 71-84.

- [4] I. Bárány, Sylvester's Question: The Probability that n Points are in Convex Position, Ann. Probab., 27 (1999), 2020–2034.
- [5] I. Bárány, Random polytopes, convex bodies, and approximation, Stochastic geometry, Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1892, Springer, Berlin, 2007, pp. 77–118.
- [6] I. Bárány, C. Buchta, Random polytopes in a convex polytope, independence of shape, and concentration of vertices, Math. Annalen, 297 (1993), 467–497.
- [7] I. Bárány, D. Larman, The convex hull of the integer points in a large ball, Math. Annalen, 312 (1998), 167–181.
- [8] I. Bárány, M. Prodromou, On maximal convex lattice polygons inscribed in a plane convex set, Israel J. Math., 154 (2006), 337–360.
- [9] I. Bárány, R. Vitale, Random convex hulls: floating bodies and expectations, Approximation Theory, 75 (1993), 130–135.
- [10] W. Blaschke, Über affine Geometrie I. Isoperimetrische Eigenschaften von Ellipse und Ellipsoid, Leipz. Ber., 68 (1916), 217–239.
- [11] W. Blaschke, Differentialgeometrie II: Affine Differentialgeometrie, Springer, Berlin, 1923.
- [12] G. Dolzmann, D. Hug, Equality of two representations of extended affine surface area, Arch. Math., 65 (1995), 352–356.
- [13] H. Groemer, On the mean value of the volume of a random polytope in a convex set, Arch. Math., 25 (1974), 86–90
- P.M. Gruber, Aspects of approximation of convex bodies, Handbook of convex geometry, Vol. A, B, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1993, pp. 319–345.
- [15] K. Leichtweiß, Bemerkungen zur Definition einer erweiterten Affinoberfläche von E. Lutwak, Manuscripta Math. 65 (1989), 181–197.
- [16] M. Ludwig, M. Reitzner, A characterization of affine surface area, Adv. in Math., 147 (1999), 138–172.
- [17] E. Lutwak, Extended affine surface area, Adv. Math., 85 (1991), 39–68.
- [18] C.M. Petty, Affine isoperimetric problems, In: Discrete geometry and convexity, Ann. New York Acad. Sci., 440, New York Acad. Sci., 1985, 113–127.
- [19] A. Rényi, R. Sulanke, "Uber die konvexe Hülle von n zufällig gewählten Punkten, Z. Wahrscheinlichkeitsth. verw. Geb., 2 (1963), 75–84.
- [20] A. Rényi, R. Sulanke, "Uber die konvexe Hülle von n zufällig gewählten Punkten, II, Z. Wahrscheinlichkeitsth. verw. Geb., 3 (1964), 138–147.
- [21] R. Schneider, Affine surface area and convex bodies of elliptic type, Periodica Math. Hungar.
 69 (2014), 120–125.
- [22] C. Schütt, Random polytopes and affine surface area, Math. Nachr., **170** (1994), 227–249.
- [23] C. Schütt, E. Werner, The convex floating body, Math. Scand. 66 (1990), 275–290.
- [24] J.J. Sylvester, *Question 1491*, Educational Times, London, April (1864).

Random approximations of convex bodies by ball-polytopes

FERENC FODOR¹

Bolyai Institute, University of Szeged

Approximation of convex bodies by random polytopes is a classical topic in stochastic geometry. One of the most frequently investigated models is when one selects n independent, identically distributed (i.i.d.) random points from a convex body K according to some prescribed probability distribution and then takes the convex hull of these random points, thus obtaining a random polytope in K. Many of the results about random polytopes are asymptotic in nature, that is, it is assumed that n tends to infinity. Such asymptotic results include estimates and also exact formulas on the expectation and variance of basic geometric quantities (such as the number of k-faces, intrinsic volumes, etc.) associated with the random polytopes, and also laws of large numbers and central limit theorems. For more information on this extensive subject we refer to the surveys that can be found in, for example, Bárány [1], Hug [5], Reitzner [6], Schneider [7, 8, 9], Schneider and Weil [10], Weil and Wieacker [11].

In this talk we intend to prove analogues of some of the classical results about random polytopes for random sets produced by intersections of congruent closed balls. We will consider the following probability model. Let $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be a convex body with the property that its boundary is C^3 smooth and that K slides freely in a ball B of radius r > 0, meaning that for each $x \in \partial B$, there exists $v \in \mathbb{R}^d$ such that both $x \in K + v$ and $K + v \subset B$. Let x_1, \ldots, x_n be i.i.d. uniform random points in K and let $K_{(n)}$ denote the intersection of all radius r closed balls which contain x_1, \ldots, x_n . Then $K_{(n)}$ is a (uniform) random ball-polytope (of radius r) and it is known to be contained in K, cf. Bezdek, Lángi, Naszódi and Papez [3]. We are mainly interested in the expectation of the number of facets of $K_{(n)}$, especially in the case when K is a ball and r is equal to its radius. In this case we prove that the expected number of facets of $K_{(n)}$ tends to a constant (as $n \to \infty$) which depends only on the dimension. This phenomenon was observed earlier in the planar case (d = 2) by Fodor, Kevei and Vígh [4], who also established various asymptotic formulas about the expected number of sides, missed area and the perimeter of $K_{(n)}$.

One of the important tools in the proof is a recent result of Bárány, Hug, Reitzner and Schneider [2] about parallelotopes spanned by random vectors chosen from a half-sphere. Beside many other interesting results, the authors prove in [2] that if one considers a spherical random polytope generated by n i.i.d. uniform random points chosen from a half-sphere, then the expectation of the number of its

¹The author was partially supported by Hungarian National Research, Development and Innovation Office – NKFIH grant 116451. E-mail address: fodorf@math.u-szeged.hu

facets tends to a constant as n goes to infinity. This phenomenon is similar to what happens in the case of random ball-polytopes in a ball.

- I. Bárány, Random points and lattice points in convex bodies, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 45 (2008), no. 3, 339–365.
- [2] I. Bárány, D. Hug, M. Reitzner, and R. Schneider, *Random points in halfspheres*, Random Structures Algorithms 50 (2017), no. 1., 3–22.
- [3] K. Bezdek, Zs. Lángi, M. Naszódi, and P. Papez, Ball-polyhedra, Discrete Comput. Geom. 38 (2007), no. 2., 201–230.
- [4] F. Fodor, P. Kevei, and V. Vígh, On random disc polygons in smooth convex discs, Adv. in Appl. Probab. 46 (2014), no. 4., 899–918.
- [5] D. Hug, Random polytopes, Stochastic geometry, spatial statistics and random fields, Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 2068, Springer, Heidelberg, 2013, 205–238.
- [6] M. Reitzner, Random polytopes, New perspectives in stochastic geometry, Oxford Univ. Press, Oxford, 2010, 45–76.
- [7] R. Schneider, Discrete aspects of stochastic geometry, Handbook of discrete and computational geometry, CRC, Boca Raton, FL, 1997, 167–184.
- [8] R. Schneider, Recent results on random polytopes, Boll. Unione Mat. Ital. (9), 1 (2008), no. 1. 17–39.
- R. Schneider, Convex bodies: the Brunn-Minkowski theory, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, vol. 151, Second expanded edition, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2014.
- [10] R. Schneider and W. Weil, Stochastic and integral geometry, Probability and its Applications, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2008.
- [11] W. Weil and J. A. Wieacker, Stochastic geometry, Handbook of convex geometry, Vol. A, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1993.

Globalizing groups

AUGUSTIN FRUCHARD¹ LMIA, Mulhouse, France

Joint work with Guido Ahumada, Bernard Brighi, and Nicolas Chevallier (LMIA).

A group of bijections G acting on a set X is called a GAF if each element of G has at least one fixed point. The group G is called a GAG if there exists $x \in X$ which is fixed by all elements of G. The acronyms GAF and GAG come from the french language. Our main purpose is to explore to which extent a "gaffe" (a blunder) is a "gag" (a joke) or not. The group of all bijections of X will be denoted by BijX.

Exercise 1. An abelian group such that one of its elements has a unique fixed point is a GAG.

The group G is called excentric if it is a GAF but not a GAG. The group of rotations acting on the 2-dimensional sphere \mathbb{S}_2 is an example of excentric group. An example of excentric abelian group is the following: Let a be an irrational number and consider the transections $f:(x, y) \mapsto (x + y + 1, y)$ and $g:(x, y) \mapsto (x + ay, y)$. Then the group generated by f and g is abelian and excentric. One can also build a group of affine bijections on \mathbb{R}^2 which is not a GAG, although each of the bijections has a unique fixed point. These examples show that both words "abelian" and "unique" are necessary in Exercise 1.

A group G is called *globalizing* if it contains no excentric subgroup.

Exercise 2. The symmetric group $S_n = \text{Bij}\{1, \ldots, n\}$ is globalizing if only if $n \leq 4$.

If X is a metric space, then $\operatorname{Isom} X$ denotes the subgroup of $\operatorname{Bij} X$ whose elements are isometries on X. If X is orientable, then the group of orientation preserving isometries on X is denoted by $\operatorname{Isom}^+ X$.

We have almost exhaustively treated the case of isometries on the Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^n , the hyperbolic space \mathbb{H}_n , and the elliptic spaces \mathbb{S}_n and $\mathbb{R}\mathbf{P}_n$ (the space of straight lines of \mathbb{R}^{n+1}) for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

In the Euclidean case, we find that the group $\text{Isom}^+ \mathbb{R}^n$ is globalizing if and only if $n \leq 3$.

In the hyperbolic case, we find that $\operatorname{Isom}^+ \mathbb{H}_n$ is globalizing if $n \leq 3$ and not globalizing if $n \geq 5$. We do not know whether $\operatorname{Isom}^+ \mathbb{H}_4$ is globalizing or not.

One might be led to believe that, for each family of groups Isom X_n or Isom⁺ X_n , with $X = \mathbb{R}, \mathbb{H}, S$, or $\mathbb{R}\mathbf{P}$, there is a critical value n_0 such that the group is globalizing if only if $n \leq n_0$. This is true for the Euclidean and the hyperbolic spaces, but not

¹E-mail address: augustin.fruchard@uha.fr

for the elliptic ones! We find that $\text{Isom}^+ S_3$ is globalizing, whereas $\text{Isom}^+ S_2$ is not since it is already excentric itself.

Let \mathbb{F}_n denote either \mathbb{R}^n or \mathbb{H}_n . One main difference between \mathbb{F}_n and the elliptic spaces \mathbb{S}_n or $\mathbb{R}\mathbf{P}_n$ is that, if F is an affine, resp. hyperbolic, subspace of \mathbb{F}_n , then every point $x \in \mathbb{F}_n$ has a unique orthogonal projection on F.

Two general results concerning isometries on the Euclidean and the hyperbolic spaces are the following.

Theorem 1. Let G be a solvable group of isometries of \mathbb{F}_n . If G is a GAF, then G is a GAG.

The assumption of finite dimension is necessary:

Exercise 3. In the Hilbert space $E = \ell^2(\mathbb{N}, \mathbb{R})$ of square summable sequences of real numbers, let h_k be the symmetry of center 1 on the k-th coordinate, i.e.

 $h_k(x_0, x_1, \dots) = (x_0, \dots, x_{k-1}, 2 - x_k, x_{k+1}, \dots).$

Let G_n be the group of isometries generated by $\{h_0, \ldots, h_n\}$ and let $G = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} G_n$. Show that G is abelian and excentric.

Theorem 2. Let G be a group of isometries of \mathbb{F}_n and let H be a subgroup of G such that G/H is cyclic. If H is globalizing, then G is globalizing.

In particular a group of isometries of \mathbb{F}_n is globalizing as soon as it contains a globalizing subgroup of index 2. Since a subgroup of a globalizing group is obviously globalizing, we then deduce that $\operatorname{Isom} \mathbb{R}^n$ is globalizing if only if $n \leq 3$, and that $\operatorname{Isom} \mathbb{H}_n$ is globalizing if $n \leq 3$ and not globalizing if $n \geq 5$.

Caution! Theorem 2 is false in the elliptic case: We find that $Isom S_n$ is globalizing if and only if n = 1. Therefore $Isom^+S_3$ is globalizing whereas $Isom S_3$ is not!

The projective case sums up as follows:

– It is easy to prove that $\operatorname{Isom} \mathbb{R}\mathbf{P}_{2k}$ is excentric for all $k \geq 1$. Since $\mathbb{R}\mathbf{P}_{2k}$ is nonorientable, $\operatorname{Isom}^+ \mathbb{R}\mathbf{P}_{2k}$ does not make sense.

– For $k \ge 2$, we can construct an excentric subgroup of Isom⁺ $\mathbb{R}\mathbf{P}_{2k+1}$, showing that Isom⁺ $\mathbb{R}\mathbf{P}_{2k+1}$, hence also Isom $\mathbb{R}\mathbf{P}_{2k+1}$, are not globalizing.

– The case n = 3 is more tricky: We found an excentric subgroup of Isom \mathbb{RP}_3 , showing that Isom \mathbb{RP}_3 is not globalizing, but we do not know whether Isom⁺ \mathbb{RP}_3 is globalizing or not.

Exercise 4. Let us call super-globalizing a group G such that, for every set X and every morphism $\rho: G \to \text{Bij} X$, the pair $(X, \rho(G))$ is globalizing. Prove that a group is super-globalizing if and only if it is cyclic (finite or infinite).

Exercise 5. Prove that the set of rational numbers \mathbb{Q} is finitely super-globalizing in the following sense: If X is a finite set and $\rho : \mathbb{Q} \to \text{Bij} X$ a morphism, then $(X, \rho(\mathbb{Q}))$ is globalizing.

A note on a picture-hanging puzzle

Radoslav Fulek 1

Institute of Science and Technology Austria

Joint work with Sergey Avvakumov.

In the picture-hanging puzzle we are to hang a picture so that the string loops around n nails and the removal of any nail results in a fall of the picture. We show that the length of a sequence representing an element in the free group with n generators that corresponds to a solution of the picture-hanging puzzle must be at least $n2^{\sqrt{\log_2 n}}$. In other words, this is a lower bound on the length of a sequence representing a non-trivial element in the free group with n generators such that if we replace any of the generators by the identity the sequence becomes trivial.

For n = 2, the shortest solution has length four and the corresponding sequence is $s_2 = a_1 a_2 a_1^{-1} a_2^{-1}$. Already this case, suggests how to construct a sequence s_n of a solution for an arbitrary n. Namely, given s_{n_1} and s_{n_2} with disjoint symbol sets we put $s = s_{n_1} s_{n_2} s_{n_1}^{-1} s_{n_2}^{-1}$, where $s^{-1} = x_m^{-1} \dots x_1^{-1}$ for $s = x_1 \dots x_m$. The shortest sequence s_n obtained by this method is the one constructed recursively by taking $n_1 = \lfloor n/2 \rfloor$ and $n_2 = \lfloor n/2 \rfloor$. This idea leads to a solution of the picture-hanging puzzle, whose corresponding sequence s has length roughly quadratic in n, and which was discovered by Chris Lusby Taylor, see [1, Section 3].

A question posed therein asks if this is the family of shortest possible solutions, possibly up to the order of magnitude. By a computer assisted proof [2], the construction is optimal up to n = 5. Our result can be seen as a first step towards answering this question. We establish a slightly more general result implying the claimed lower bound by elementary means. We are not aware of any better previously established lower bound than 2n, for $n \ge 2$, which holds because every symbol must appear an even number of times in the sequence.

- E. D. Demaine, M. L. Demaine, Y. N. Minsky, J. S. B. Mitchell, R. L. Rivest, and M. Pătrascu, *Picture-hanging puzzles.* Theory of Computing Systems 54 (2014), no. 4, 531–550.
- [2] A. Dumistrescu and A. Ghosh. 2016. Personal communication.

¹E-mail address: radoslav.fulek@gmail.com

Coin-weighting and different directions of lines

Zoltán Füredi¹

Alfréd Rényi Institute of Mathematics, Hungarian Academy of Sciences

Abstract

Starting with a version of coin-weighting problems by ApSimon (1984) we discuss directions of lines among lattice points. Consider a set V of k vectors on the plane with non-negative integer coordinates. Let S(V) be the set of the $2^k - 1$ non-empty subset sums. We are looking for the smallest n = n(k) such that V is a subset of $[0, n]^2 := \{0, 1, 2, 3, ..., n\} \times \{0, 1, 2, 3, ..., n\}$ and the slopes of the members of S(V) are all distinct.

Dedicated to Imre Bárány

1. ApSimon's Mints problem

A coin weighting problem proposed by ApSimon [4] can be reformulated as follows (see Guy and Nowakowski [9]). Given k, choose non-negative integers a_1, \ldots, a_k and b_1, \ldots, b_k such a way that the fraction

$$\frac{\sum_{i \in I} a_i}{\sum_{i \in I} b_i} \tag{1}$$

takes $2^k - 1$ different values for the $2^k - 1$ possible choices of $I \subset \{1, 2, 3, \dots, k\}$. ApSimon showed that this is always possible, he gave the example $b_1 = \dots = b_k = 1$ and $a_i = i!$ for $i = 1, 2, \dots, k$. He asked what is the minimum of $A(k) \coloneqq \sum_i \max\{a_i, b_i\}$.

He showed A(1) = 1, A(2) = 2, A(3) = 4, A(4) = 8, and A(5) = 15. Guy and Nowakowski showed (with a computer search) that $A(6) \leq 38$, $A(7) \leq 74$, and also $A(k) \leq (4^{k+1} - 1)/3$ for $9 \leq k \leq 12$ by taking $a_i = i - 1$ and $b_i = 4^i$ (i = 1, 2, ..., k). This example does not work for k = 13.

2. Vectors of distinct directions

In this note we determine the order of magnitude of ApSimon's function, we show that there are constants $1 < c_1 < c_2$ such that

$$c_1^k \le A(k) \le c_2^k \tag{2}$$

holds for all sufficiently large k.

We call a set of vectors V multidirectional if it satisfies (1). Let n(k) be the minimum n such that one can select k multidirectional vectors from $\{0, 1, \ldots, n\}^2$.

¹Research partially supported by grant (no. K116769) from the National Research, Development and Innovation Office NKFIH, and by the Simons Foundation Collaboration Grant #317487. E-mail address: z-furedi@illinois.edu

Theorem 1. There are positive constants c_3, \ldots, c_6 such that

$$c_3 2^{k/2} n^{c_4} < n(k) < c_5 2^k n^{c_6}$$

holds for every $k \ge 1$.

Note that this trivially implies the bounds on the order of magnitude of A(k) in (2). The lower bound is trivial, the $2^k - 1$ sums in S(V) can not fit into a square of size less than $2^{k/2}$. The upper bound can be obtained by simple random method, using the lemma below.

3. An Algorithmic construction

It is an interesting question to find (small) explicit multidirectional sets. With the help of the lemma below we can show that the greedy algorithm provide a k set V with $\max\{||v||: v \in V\} = O((\sqrt{8})^k n^{c_7})$.

If one tries, e.g., the family $v_i := (1, 2^i)$ then very soon can be observed that it is not multidirectional,

$$\frac{1}{3}(v_0 + v_4 + v_6) = \frac{1}{4}(v_2 + v_3 + v_5 + v_6).$$

4. The main Lemma on Lattice lines

Any line L contains at most n points from the lattice $[n] \times [n]$, so an upper bound kn is obvious in the following Lemma.

Lemma 2. Suppose that L_1, L_2, \ldots, L_k are lines on the plane, no two of them are parallel. Then they meet the $[n] \times [n]$ lattice in at most $(2 + 2\sqrt{k})n$ points,

$$|(\cup_{1 \le i \le k} L_i) \cap [n] \times [n]| \le (2 + 2\sqrt{k})n.$$
(3)

Let C_k be the best coefficient which can be written in the right hand side of (3) instead of $2+2\sqrt{k}$. The order of magnitude of C_k (i.e., $O(\sqrt{k})$) is the best possible. Actually, it is not difficult to determine C_k exactly. For $k \leq 4$ we have $C_k = k$. For k > 4 suppose that t > 1 is the smallest integer such that

$$4 < k \le 4 + 4(\varphi(2) + \varphi(3) + \dots + \varphi(t+1)).$$

Here φ is Euler's totient function. Let $\alpha(k,t) \coloneqq k - 4 - 4(\varphi(2) + \varphi(3) + \dots + \varphi(t))$, (i.e., we have $\alpha \leq 4\varphi(t+1)$). Then

$$C_k = 4 + 4\left(\frac{\varphi(2)}{2} + \frac{\varphi(3)}{3} + \dots + \frac{\varphi(t)}{t}\right) + \frac{\alpha(k,t)}{t+1}.$$

The proof of the Lemma follows from well-known elementary properties of the totient function. Also, a direct proof can be given to show that if $k \leq 4t^2$ then $C_k \leq 2 + 4t$.

If, instead of $[n] \times [n]$, one considers a general grid $A \times B$ where |A| = |B| = nthen Lemma 2 no longer holds. For example, one can take $A = B := \{q, q^2, \ldots, q^n\}$ then the lines $y = q^i x$ for $i = 1, 2, \ldots, k$ cover $kn - O(k^2)$ grid points of $A \times B$ (k is fixed, $n \to \infty$).

This Lemma 2, at least implicitly, has been used many other occasions by different authors. For example, Erdős and Purdy asked the following question. What is t(n,2) the minimum number t of the $[n] \times [n]$ lattice points such that the $\binom{t}{2}$ lines determined by t appropriately chosen lattice points cover all of them. Alon [2] showed that there are positive constants c and C such that

$$cn^{2/3} \le t(n,2) \le Cn^{2/3}\log n.$$

The upper bound follows from a random choice, and the lower bound can be obtained from Lemma 2 because given any chosen point the t-1 lines through on it can cover at most $4\sqrt{tn}$ lattice points, so one needs $4t^{3/2}n \ge n^2$.

5. Averaging sets and other subset sum problems

Here we mention some related questions.

Straus [13] proposed the following problem. Call a set V non-averaging if no member is the arithmetic mean of some others (such a set does not contain an AP_3 , arithmetic progression of length 3). Let f(x) denote the size of the largest nonaveraging set chosen from the first x integers. There are remarkable constructions by Abbott [1] and later by Bosznay [5] $(f(x) \ge \Omega(x^{1/4}))$ and upper bounds for f(x)by Erdős and Straus [8]. Generalizations by Alon and Ruzsa [3] and Konyagin, Ruzsa, and Schlag [10]. Applications in coding theory by Milenkovic, Kashyap, and Leyba [11] and in extremal graph theory by Conlon, Fox, and Sudakov [6].

Straus [13] also defined h(x), the largest integer such that one can select h(x) numbers from $\{1, 2, ..., x\}$ such that no two distinct subsets have the same arithmetic mean. In fact, this is the same (or almost the same) as ApSimon's question, with the additional condition that $b_1 = \cdots = b_k = 1$. Straus [13] showed that

$$c_8 \frac{\log x}{\log \log x} < h(x) < \frac{\log x}{\log 2} + O(\log \log x).$$

6. Higher dimensions and other open problems

There are interesting open questions if we are looking for dense multidirectional sets in dimension d.

It is rather natural to use combinatorial geometry, incidency structures to solve problems in number theory, see, e.g., the works of Solymosi [12]. Erdős and Moser (see in [7]) showed that

$$\log_2 x \le s(x) < \log_2 x + \frac{1}{2} \log \log x + c_9,$$

where s(x) is the size of the largest set $V \subset \{1, 2, ..., x\}$ such that all the 2^s subset sums are distinct. Erdős offered \$300 to prove or disprove that $s(x) < \log_2 x + C$ for some absolute constant C.

It would be really interesting to extend the Erdős-Moser problem to higher dimensional sums.

- H. L. Abbott, On non-averaging sets of integers, Acta Math. Acad. Sci. Hungar. 40 (1982), 197–200.
- [2] N. Alon, Economical coverings of sets of lattice points, Geom. Funct. Anal. 1 (1991), 224–230.
- [3] N. Alon and I. Z. Ruzsa, Non-averaging subsets and non-vanishing transversals, J. Combin. Theory, Ser. A 86 (1999), 1–13.
- [4] H. ApSimon, Mathematical Byways in Ayling, Beeling and Ceiling, Oxford University Press, 1984. pp. 65–76.
- [5] A. P. Bosznay, On the lower estimation of non-averaging sets, Acta Math. Hungar. 53 (1989), 155–157.
- [6] D. Conlon, J. Fox, and B. Sudakov, An approximate version of Sidorenko's conjecture, Geom. Funct. Anal. 20 (2010), 1354–1366.
- [7] P. Erdős and J. Spencer, Probabilistic methods in combinatorics, Probability and Mathematical Statistics, Vol. 17. Academic Press, New York-London, 1974. 106 pp., (esp., pp. 99-100).
- [8] P. Erdős and E. G. Straus, Non-averaging sets II, in: Combinatorial Theory and its Applications, vol. II, Colloquia Mathematica Societatis János Bolyai 4 (1970) 405–411.
- [9] R. Guy and R. Nowakowski, Unsolved Problems: ApSimon's Mint Problem, Amer. Math. Monthly 101 (1994), 358–359.
- [10] S. V. Konyagin, I. Z. Ruzsa, and W. Schlag, On uniformly distributed dilates of finite integer sequences, J. Number Theory 82 (2000), 165–187.
- [11] O. Milenkovic, N. Kashyap, and D. Leyba, Shortened array codes of large girth, IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory 52 (2006), 3707–3722.
- [12] J. Solymosi, On the number of sums and products, Bull. London Math. Soc. 37 (2005), 491–494.
- [13] E. G. Straus, Nonaveraging sets, Combinatorics (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Vol. XIX, Univ. California, Los Angeles, Calif., 1968), pp. 215–222. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1971.

Proof of László Fejes Tóth's zone conjecture

ZILIN JIANG 1

Department of Mathematics, Technion

ALEXANDR POLYANSKII²

Moscow Institute of Physics and Technology and Institute for Information Transmission Problems RAS

A *plank* of width w is a part of the *d*-dimensional Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^d that lies between two parallel hyperplanes at distance w. Given a convex body C, its *width* is the smallest w such that a plank of width w covers C. The following question solved by Bang [1] is usually attributed to Tarski.

Tarski's plank problem. If a convex body of width w is covered by a collection of planks in \mathbb{R}^d , then the total width of the planks is at least w.

The spherical analog of a plank is a *zone*. A *zone* of width ω on the 2-dimensional unit sphere is defined as the set of points within spherical distance $\omega/2$ of a given great circle. In 1973, Fejes Tóth [2] conjectured

Fejes Tóth's zone conjecture. The total width of any set of zones covering the sphere is at least π .

We completely resolve this conjecture and generalize it for the *d*-dimensional unit sphere S^d . We believe the following strengthening of our result holds.

Open problem. A spherical segment is the solid defined by cutting a sphere with a pair of parallel planes. Its width is the length of the shortest arc on the sphere whose endpoints touch both parallel planes. If the unit ball is covered with a collection of spherical segments, then the total width of the spherical segments is at least π .

References

- [1] T. Bang, A solution of the "plank problem", Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 2 (1951), 990–993.
- [2] L. Fejes Tóth, Research Problems: Exploring a Planet, Amer. Math. Monthly 80 (1973), no. 9., 1043–1044.

E-mail address: alexander.polyanskii@yandex.ru

¹Supported in part by ISF grant nos 1162/15, 936/16. E-mail address: jiangzilin@technion.ac.il

 $^{^2}$ Supported in part by ISF grant no. 409/16, and by the Russian Foundation for Basic Research through grant nos 15-01-99563 A, 15-01-03530 A.

Dense regular horoball packings in higher dimensional hyperbolic spaces

Robert Thijs Kozma¹

University of Illinois at Chicago and Budapest University of Technology and Economics

Joint work with J. Szirmai.

In this talk we consider regular ball packings of hyperbolic space for dimensions n = 3, 4, and 5. Classical results in this topic stem from the work of László Fejes Tóth and Károly Böröczky [1, 3]. Böröczky showed that the notion of packing density is critical in hyperbolic space, as the computed density depends on the cellular decomposition of the space, see [2] for an overview. To resolve this issue, we consider cellular decompositions of hyperbolic space into Dirichlet-Voronoi cells. In *n*-dimensional spaces of constant curvature, one has Böröczky-type simplicial packing density upper bounds, which state that locally the densest packing configuration by balls of a fixed radius r is attained by centering n + 1 balls at the vertices of a regular simplex of edge length 2r. Fortunately in 3-dimensional hyperbolic space the regular fully asymptotic simplex gives a Coxeter tiling, and the monotonicity of the simplicial density function as $r \to \infty$ is known [4], hence this upper bound is attained. In this case the balls have ideal centers, so the packing consists of limiting objects called horoballs, instead of regular balls.

Based on this result of Böröczky, we investigate horoball packings related to the paracompact (Koszul) Coxeter simplex tilings. Such tilings have regular and ideal vertices, and exist for hyperbolic dimensions n = 2...9; their number is finite for $n \ge 3$. In these cases the fundamental domain of the tiling, the Coxeter simplex, is also the Dirichlet-Voronoi cell for the packing with horoballs centered at the ideal vertices of the tiling, hence density is well defined. In papers [7], [8] the notion of the horoballs of different types is introduced, and it is proved that the Böröczky type density upper bound is locally no longer valid for cases where we consider horoballs in fully asymptotic simplices for dimensions $n \ge 3$. However these ball packing configurations are only locally optimal and cannot be extended to the entirety of hyperbolic spaces \mathbb{H}^n .

We consider packings with symmetries given by Coxeter simplex groups, and fundamental domains by Coxeter simplices. Using the commensurability classes of the paracompact (Koszul) simplex reflection groups, studying both the arithmetic and non arithmetic cases, we classify the horoball packings and produce some of the best known packing densities in dimensions three and higher. One example of particular interest includes a class of packings where we showed that it is possible

¹E-mail address: rkozma2@uic.edu

to exceed the conjectured 4-dimensional packing density upper bound due to L. Fejes Tóth [3] with densities of ≈ 0.71644896 [6]. This density is also realized as a horoball packing with horoballs of different types in the 4-dimensional hyperbolic 24 cell honeycomb $\{3, 4, 3, 4\}$, see [9]. Another set of interesting examples in 3-dimensions is a class of packings that attain simplicial packing density the upper bound due to K. Böröczky, but have a distinct group of symmetries as the classical example [5]. We will also discuss new results in higher dimensions.

- K. Böröczky, and A. Florian, Über die dichteste Kugelpackung im hyperbolischen Raum, Acta Math. Acad. Sci. Hungar. 15 (1964), 237–245.
- [2] G. Fejes Tóth and W. Kuperberg, *Packing and Convering with Convex Sets*, Handbook of convex geometry. Vol. 2. Gruber, P.M., and J/"org M.W., eds. North Holland, 1993, pp. 799–860.
- [3] L. Fejes Tóth, Regular Figures, Macmillian (New York), 1964.
- [4] R. Kellerhals, Ball packings in spaces of constant curvature and the simplicial density function, Journal f
 ür reine und angewandte Mathematik 494 (1998), 189–203.
- [5] R. T. Kozma and J. Szirmai, Optimally dense packings for fully asymptotic Coxeter tilings by horoballs of different types, Monatshefte für Mathematik 168 (2012), 27–47.
- [6] R. T. Kozma and J. Szirmai, New Lower Bound for the Optimal Ball Packing Density of Hyperbolic 4-space, Discrete Comput. Geom. 53 (2015), 182–198.
- J. Szirmai, Horoball packings and their densities by generalized simplicial density function in the hyperbolic space, Acta Math. Hungar. 136/1-2 (2012), 39–55.
- [8] J. Szirmai, Horoball packings to the totally asymptotic regular simplex in the hyperbolic nspace, Aequat. Math. 85 (2013), 471-482.
- [9] J. Szirmai, Horoball packings related to the 4-dimensional hyperbolic 24 cell honeycomb {3,4,3,4}, Filomat, (to appear), arXiv:1502.02107.
Approximation of convex bodies by polytopes in the geometric distance

Márton Naszódi¹

Loránd Eötvös University, Budapest

Given a convex body K in \mathbb{R}^d with the center of mass at the origin, a positive integer $t \ge d+1$, and $\delta, \vartheta \in (0,1)$. We discuss conditions on the parameters d, t, δ, ϑ that imply that the convex hull of some t points of K contains ϑK . One may call it approximation in the "geometric distance".

First we consider the case when the points are chosen uniformly from K [10].

Second, we turn to the case when we are free to choose a probability distribution to obtain our approximating polytope. This part is joint work with Fedor Nazarov and Dmitry Ryabogin [11].

1. RANDOM POLYTOPES – UNIFORMLY

One approach is to pick the t points uniformly and independently in K.

The main result of [3] concerns the case of very rough approximation, that is, where the number t of chosen points is linear in the dimension d. It states that the convex hull of $t = \alpha d$ random points chosen uniformly in a centered convex body K is a polytope P which satisfies $\frac{c_1}{d}K \subseteq P$, with probability $1 - \delta = 1 - e^{-c_2d}$, where $c_1, c_2 > 0$ and $\alpha > 1$ are absolute constants.

We prove a slightly stronger version of this statements, where the three constants are made explicit.

Theorem 1. Let K be a centered convex body in \mathbb{R}^d . Choose t = 500d points X_1, \ldots, X_t of K randomly, independently and uniformly. Then

$$\frac{1}{d}K \subseteq conv\{X_1, \dots, X_t\} \subseteq K.$$

with probability at least $1 - 1/e^d$.

Another instance of our general problem is Theorem 5.2 of [5], which concerns fine approximation, that is, where the number t of chosen points is exponential in the dimension d. It states that for any $\delta, \gamma \in (0,1)$, if we choose $t = e^{\gamma d}$ random points uniformly in any centered convex body K in \mathbb{R}^d , then the polytope P thus obtained satisfies $c(\delta)\gamma K \subseteq P$, with probability $1 - \delta$.

¹The author acknowledges the support of the János Bolyai Research Scholarship of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences, and and the National Research, Development, and Innovation Office grant K119670. E-mail address: marton.naszodi@math.elte.hu

The same argument yields Proposition 5.3 of [5], according to which for any $\delta, \vartheta \in (0, 1)$, if we choose $t = c(\delta) \left(\frac{c}{1-\vartheta}\right)^d$ random points uniformly in any centered convex body K in \mathbb{R}^d , then the polytope P thus obtained satisfies $\vartheta K \subseteq P$, with probability $1 - \delta$.

Our first main result is the following [10].

Theorem 2. Let $\delta, \vartheta \in (0,1)$, and let K be a centered convex body in \mathbb{R}^d . Let

$$t \coloneqq \left[C \frac{(d+1)e}{(1-\vartheta)^d} \ln \frac{e}{(1-\vartheta)^d} \right],$$

where $C \ge 2$ is such that

$$C^2 \left(\frac{(1-\vartheta)^d}{e}\right)^{C-2} \le \frac{(\delta/4)^{1/(d+1)}}{e^3}.$$

Choose t points X_1, \ldots, X_t of K randomly, independently and uniformly. Then

$$\vartheta K \subseteq conv\{X_1, \dots, X_t\} \subseteq K$$

with probability at least $1 - \delta$.

By substituting $\vartheta = \frac{1}{d}, \delta = e^{-d-1}, C = 7$, we obtain Theorem 1.

By substituting C = 3, we obtain the two results of [5] mentioned above.

The proof is very simple: it is a combination of two results. One is a stability version of a theorem of Grünbaum [6] which is a classical fact in convexity, and which states that any hyperplane through the centroid of a convex body splits its volume into two parts none of which is less than 1/e times the volume of the body. Our second tool is the ε -net theorem, a result from combinatorics obtained by Haussler and Welzl [8] building on works of Vapnik and Chervonenkis [12], and then refined by Komlós, Pach and Woeginger [9].

2. Random polytopes – using a smarter measure

Next, we consider the question of existence of a polytope that approximates a given convex body K well. This time, we are free to choose a method of constructing our polytope, we do not need to select the vertices according to the uniform distribution on K. Our second main result, a joint work with Fedor Nazarov and Dmitry Ryabogin [11], reads

Theorem 3. Let K be a convex body in \mathbb{R}^d with the center of mass at the origin, and let $\vartheta \in (\frac{1}{2}, 1)$. Then there exists a convex polytope P with at most $e^{O(d)}(1 - \vartheta)^{-\frac{d-1}{2}}$ vertices such that $\vartheta K \subset P \subset K$.

Our approach uses a mixture of geometric and probabilistic tools. The main part of the proof is the construction of a probability distribution on the boundary of K, according to which caps are of large measure.

This result improves the 2012 theorem of Barvinok [2] by removing the symmetry assumption and the extraneous $(\log \frac{1}{1-\vartheta})^d$ factor.

We refer the reader to the surveys of Bárány [1], Bronshtein [4] and Gruber [7] for a detailed discussion of approximation of a convex body by polytopes.

- I. Bárány, Random polytopes, convex bodies, and approximation, Stochastic geometry, Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1892, Springer, Berlin, 2007, pp. 77–118.
- [2] A. Barvinok, Thrifty approximations of convex bodies by polytopes, Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN (2014), no. 16, 4341–4356.
- [3] S. Brazitikos, G. Chasapis, and L. Hioni, Random approximation and the vertex index of convex bodies, Archiv der Mathematik (2016), 1-13, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ s00013-016-0975-2.
- [4] E. M. Bronshtein, Approximation of convex sets by polyhedra, Sovrem. Mat. Fundam. Napravl. 22 (2007), 5–37.
- [5] A. A. Giannopoulos and V. D. Milman, Concentration property on probability spaces, Adv. Math. 156 (2000), no. 1, 77–106.
- [6] B. Grünbaum, Partitions of mass-distributions and of convex bodies by hyperplanes, Pacific J. Math. 10 (1960), 1257–1261.
- [7] P. M. Gruber, Aspects of approximation of convex bodies, Handbook of convex geometry, Vol. A, B, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1993, pp. 319–345.
- [8] D. Haussler and E. Welzl, ε-nets and simplex range queries, Discrete Comput. Geom. 2 (1987), no. 2, 127–151.
- [9] J. Komlós, J. Pach, and G. Woeginger, Almost tight bounds for ε-nets, Discrete Comput. Geom. 7 (1992), no. 2, 163–173.
- [10] M. Naszódi, Approximating a convex body by a polytope using the epsilon-net theorem, arXiv: 1705.07754 [math.MG] (2017).
- M.n Naszódi, F. Nazarov, and D. Ryabogin, *Fine approximation of convex bodies by poly*topes, arXiv:1705.01867 [math.CA] (2017).
- [12] V. N. Vapnik and A. Ja. Cervonenkis, On the uniform convergence of relative frequencies of events to their probabilities, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 181 4 (1968), 781ff., in Russian; English translation in Theor. Probab. Appl., 16 (1971), 264–280.

On the gap between translative and lattice kissing numbers of a convex body

István Talata 1

Ybl Faculty of Architecture and Civil Engineering, Szent István University

In a packing with convex bodies, two convex bodies are called neighbours if they touch each other (that is, if their intersection is not empty). The translative kissing number H(K) of a *d*-dimensional convex body K is the maximum number of neighbours of a member in a packing of the *d*-dimensional Euclidean space with translates of K. H(K) is also called the Hadwiger number of K. The lattice kissing number $H_L(K)$ of K is the similar quantity with the further restriction to lattice packings of K.

The inequality $H_L(K) \leq H(K)$ holds trivially. It is known that $H(K) \leq 3^d - 1$ (Hadwiger [2]). For strictly convex bodies we have $H_L(K) \leq 2^{d+1}-2$ (Minkowski [3]). The following general lower bounds are known: $H(K) \geq 2^{cd}$ (Talata [5], where c is an absolute constant, c > 0), and $H_L(K) \geq d^2 + d$ (Swinnerton-Dyer [4]).

It is known that $H(K) = H_L(K)$ holds in two dimensions (Grünbaum [1]). We investigate how large the gap can be between H(K) and $H_L(K)$ in higher dimensions. It is known that for every $d \ge 3$, there exists a d-dimensional strictly convex body C for which $H(C) - H_L(C) \ge m(\sqrt{7})^d$ holds, for some absolute constant m > 0 (Talata [6]). Now, we improve on this bound to show that for every $d \ge 3$, there exists a d-dimensional convex body D for which $H(D) - H_L(D) \ge k \cdot 3^d$ holds, for some absolute constant k > 0.

- [1] B. Grünbaum, On a conjecture of H. Hadwiger, Pacific J. Math. 11 (1961), 215–219.
- [2] H. Hadwiger, Über Treffenzahlen bei translationsgleichen Eikörpern, Arch. Math., 8 (1957), 212–213.
- [3] H. Minkowski, Geometrie der Zahlen, Leipzig, Berlin, 1896.
- [4] H. P. F. Swinnerton-Dyer, Extremal lattices of convex bodies, Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 49 (1953), 161–162.
- [5] I. Talata, Exponential lower bound for the translative kissing numbers of d-dimensional convex bodies, Discrete Comput. Geom. 19 (1998), 447–455.
- [6] I. Talata, On Hadwiger numbers of direct products of convex bodies, Combinatorial and computational geometry, Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ., vol. 52, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2005, pp. 517–528.

¹E-mail address: Talata.Istvan@ybl.szie.hu

A result in asymmetric Euclidean Ramsey theory

Sergei Tsaturian¹

University of Manitoba

A typical question in Euclidean Ramsey theory has the following form: is it true that for any colouring of Euclidean space E^n in two (or more) colours there exists a monochromatic copy of some fixed geometric configuration F? Research in Euclidean Ramsey theory was surveyed in [1, 2, 3] by Erdős, Graham, Montgomery, Rothschild, Spencer, and Straus; for a more recent survey, see Graham [4].

I will focus on the asymmetric version of this question - is it true that for any colouring of E^n in red and blue, there exists either a red copy of F_1 or a blue copy of F_2 ? For $d \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, and geometric configurations F_1 , F_2 , let the notation $\mathbb{E}^d \to (F_1, F_2)$ mean that for any red-blue coloring of \mathbb{E}^d , either the red points contain a congruent copy of F_1 , or the blue points contain a congruent copy of F_2 . Most of the questions in this field are very easy to state, but even some simplest cases are still open. For instance, Juhász [5] proved that if ℓ_2 is a configuration of two points at unit distance, T_k is any configuration of k points, then $\mathbb{E}^2 \to (\ell_2, T_4)$. It is not known if $\mathbb{E}^2 \to (\ell_2, T_5)$.

I will give a brief overview of known results. I will also present my recent result [6], that states that $\mathbb{E}^2 \to (\ell_2, \ell_5)$, where ℓ_5 denotes 5 points on a line with distance 1 between consecutive points.

- P. Erdős, R. L. Graham, P. Montgomery, B. L. Rothschild, J. Spencer, and E. G. Straus, Euclidean Ramsey theorems. I, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 14 (1973), 341–363.
- [2] P. Erdős, R. L. Graham, P. Montgomery, B. L. Rothschild, J. Spencer, and E. G. Straus, *Euclidean Ramsey theorems. II*, Infinite and finite sets (Colloq., Keszthely, 1973; dedicated to P. Erdős on his 60th birthday), Vol. I, 1975, pp. 529–557. Colloq. Math. Soc. János Bolyai, Vol. 10.
- [3] P. Erdős, R. L. Graham, P. Montgomery, B. L. Rothschild, J. Spencer, and E. G. Straus, *Euclidean Ramsey theorems. III*, Infinite and finite sets (Colloq., Keszthely, 1973; dedicated to P. Erdős on his 60th birthday), Vol. I, 1975, pp. 559-583. Colloq. Math. Soc. János Bolyai, Vol. 10.
- [4] R. L. Graham, Euclidean Ramsey theory, in: Handbook of discrete and computational geometry, J. E. Goodman and J. O'Rourke, Eds., 2nd ed., Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, FL, 2004.
- [5] R. Juhász, Ramsey type theorems in the plane, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 27 (1979), 152–160.
- [6] S. Tsaturian, A Euclidean Ramsey result in the plane, preprint available at https://arxiv. org/abs/1703.10723 (2017).

¹E-mail address: s.tsaturian@gmail.com

On the Geometry of Alexandrov Surfaces

Costin Vîlcu¹

Simion Stoilow Institute of Mathematics of the Romanian Academy

In the following, by *surface* we always mean a compact Alexandrov surface (with curvature bounded below by κ and without boundary), as defined for example in [3]. Roughly speaking, these surfaces are 2-dimensional topological manifolds endowed with an intrinsic metric which verifies Toponogov's comparison property. Let $\mathscr{A}(\kappa)$ denote the set of all such surfaces.

For any surface A, denote by ρ its metric, and by ρ_x the distance function from $x \in A$, given by $\rho_x(y) = \rho(x, y)$. A segment between x and y in A is a path from x to y of length $\rho(x, y)$. A point $y \in A$ is called *critical* with respect to ρ_x (or to x), if for any tangent direction τ of S at y there exists a segment from y to x whose tangent direction at y makes a non-obtuse angle with τ . For any point x in A, denote by Q_x the set of all critical points with respect to x, and by Q the *critical point mapping* associating to any point x in S the set Q_x . Similarly, M_x is the set of all relative maxima of ρ_x , F_x the set of all farthest points from x (i.e., absolute maxima of ρ_x) and M, respectively F, are the corresponding set-valued mappings.

The cut locus C(x) of a point $x \in A$ is the set of all extremities, different from x, of maximal (with respect to inclusion) segments starting at x. It is known that C(x) is locally a tree and with at most countably many ramifications points.

Theorem 4. [4] Every graph can be realized as a cut locus on a surface.

Theorem 5. [2] Any point on any surface is critical with respect to some point of the surface.

Theorem 6. [2] A smooth orientable surface A is homeomorphic to the sphere S^2 if and only if each point in A is critical with respect to precisely one other point of S.

Theorem 7. [6] For every orientable surface A and every point y in A, there exists an open and dense set \mathscr{Q}^y of Riemannian metrics on A such that y is critical with respect to an odd number of points in A for every $g \in \mathscr{Q}^y$.

Theorem 8. [6] Let A be a smooth orientable surface of genus g > 0 and y a point in A. If g = 1 then $\operatorname{card} Q_y^{-1} \leq 5$, and if $g \geq 2$ then $\operatorname{card} Q_y^{-1} \leq 8g - 5$.

Endowed with the Hausdorff-Gromov metric, $\mathscr{A}(\kappa)$ is a Baire space. Denote by $\mathscr{A}(\kappa, \chi, \omega)$ the set of all surfaces in $\mathscr{A}(\kappa)$ of Euler-Poincaré characteristic χ and orientability ω , where $\omega = 1$ if the surface is orientable and $\omega = -1$ otherwise. If non-empty, $\mathscr{A}(\kappa, \chi, \omega)$ is a connected component of $\mathscr{A}(\kappa)$, for $\kappa \in \mathbb{R}, \chi \leq 2$ and $\omega = \pm 1$ [8]. In particular, $\mathscr{A}(0)$ has two flat components (consisting of flat surfaces).

¹E-mail address: Costin.Vilcu@imar.ro

Theorem 9. [1] On most Alexandrov surfaces outside flat components, most points are not interior to any segment.

Theorem 10. [5] Most surfaces $A \in \mathscr{A}(\kappa)$ have not conical points.

Let $\underline{G}(x)$ and G(x) denote the lower and the upper curvature of the surface A at $x \in A$, as defined in [7].

Theorem 11. [5] For most surfaces $A \in \mathscr{A}(\kappa)$, at most points $x \in A$, $\underline{G}(x) = \kappa$. For most surfaces $A \in \mathscr{A}(\kappa)$ outside flat components (if any), at most points $x \in A$, $\overline{G}(x) = \infty$.

Theorem 12. [9] *i*) We have $\mathscr{A}(1) = \mathscr{A}(1,2,1) \cup \mathscr{A}(1,1,-1)$.

Most surfaces in $\mathscr{A}(1,2,1)$ have no simple closed geodesic.

Most surfaces in $\mathscr{A}(1,1,-1)$ have infinitely many simple closed geodesics.

ii) We have $\mathscr{A}(0) = \mathscr{A}(0,2,1) \cup \mathscr{A}(0,0,1) \cup \mathscr{A}(0,1,-1) \cup \mathscr{A}(0,0,-1).$

All surfaces in $\mathscr{A}(0,0,1) \cup \mathscr{A}(0,1,-1)$ are unions of pairwise disjoint simple closed geodesics.

Most surfaces in $\mathscr{A}(0,2,1)$ have no closed geodesics.

Most surfaces in $\mathscr{A}(0,1,-1)$ have infinitely many simple closed geodesics.

iii) Most surfaces in $\mathscr{A}(-1)$ admit infinitely many, pairwise disjoint, simple closed geodesics.

- K. Adiprasito and T. Zamfirescu, Few Alexandrov surfaces are Riemann, J. Nonlinar Convex Anal. 16 (2015), 1147–1153.
- [2] I. Bárány, J. Itoh, C. Vîlcu and T. Zamfirescu, Every point is critical, Adv. Math. 235 (2013), 390–397.
- [3] Y. Burago, M. Gromov and G. Perelman, A. D. Alexandrov spaces with curvature bounded below, Russian Math. Surveys 47 (1992), 1–58.
- [4] J. Itoh and C. Vîlcu, Every graph is a cut locus, J. Math. Soc. Japan 67 (2015), 1227–1238.
- [5] J. Itoh, J. Rouyer, and C. Vîlcu, Moderate smoothness of most Alexandrov surfaces, Int. J. Math. 26 (2015), 1540004 [14 pages]
- [6] J. Itoh, C. Vîlcu, and T. Zamfirescu, With respect to whom are you critical, manuscript
- [7] Y. Machigashira, The Gaussian curvature of Alexandrov surfaces. J. Math. Soc. Japan 50 (1998), 859–878.
- [8] J. Rouyer and C. Vîlcu, The connected components of the space of Alexandrov surfaces, in D. Ibadula and W. Veys (eds.), Springer Proc. in Mathematics and Statistics 96 (2014), 249–254.
- [9] J. Rouyer and C. Vîlcu, Simple closed geodesics on most Alexandrov surfaces, Adv. Math. 278 (2015), 103–120.